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In Touch

With Growing Markets

PI’Ofi I e {As of December 31. 2007)

Established in 1995, Jupiter Telecommunications Co., Ltd. is Japan’s largest
multiple system operator (MSO or J:COM Company) and multiple channel
operator (MCO or Jupiter TV Company). Under the J:COM brand, J:COM
Company provides cable television, high-speed Internet access, telephony and
mobile services to customers through 20 managed franchises operating at the
local level serving approximately 2.66 million subscribing households in the
Sapporo, Kanto, Kansai, and Kyushu regions. lupiter TV Company, formerly
Jupiter TV Co., Ltd., invests in and operates 17 premium channels which are

provided to CATV, satellite and telecommuntcation operators.

In accordance with our corporate philosophy of adding rich entertainment
and information experiences to our customers’ lives, we have worked since
our establishment to meet customer needs by being the first to market with
advanced services, centered on cable TV. In the future, as an industry leader,

and as a community-based media enterprise, J:COM will continue to provide

services that offer high levels of customer satisfaction. We will target sustained

growth for the J:COM Group as we strive to make an ongeing contribution to

the development of the domestic pay multi-channel market.
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Forward-Looking Statements

This report contains forward-locking siatements regarding the intent, belief or current expectations of our management with respect 16 future events or our future financial
performance. These statements invoive known and unknawn risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause our or our industry's actual results, levels of activity, performance
or achievements to be materially different from any future results, levels of activity, performance or achievements expressed or implied by such {orward-looking statements,
Although we believe that the expectations reflected in the forward-looking statements are reasonable, we can give ne assurance that these expectations will prove to be correct,
and cannot guarantee our future results, levels of activity, performance or achieverments. We disclaim any obligation to update, or to announce publicly any revision to, any of
the forward-tooking statements contained in this report, wtether as a result of new information, future events or othenwise.
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Financial Highlights
Jupiter Telecommunicatiens Co., Ltd. and Subsidiaries
Years ended December 31

Yenin Millions
2005 2006 2007
Operating Results:
Total revenue ¥183,144 ¥221,915 ¥264,508
Subscription fees 163,378 196,515 230,061
Cable television 85,254 102,803 123,011
High-speed Internet access 47,425 58.121 66,558
Telephony 30,699 35,591 40,432
Other 19,766 25,400 34,447
Total operating costs and expenses 158,669 190,333 221,692
Operating income 24,475 31,582 42,816
Income before income taxes 16,748 27,503 37,506
Net income 19,333 24,481 23,992
OCF (EBITDA} UV 70,023 85,957 107,178
Capital expenditures 54,277 65,903 65,281
Financial Position:
Total assets ¥516,457 ¥625,948 ¥680,416
Total shareholders’ equity 251,445 277,296 330,009
Interest-hearing debt (Gross) 185,127 242,075 223,016
Interest-bearing debt (Net) 149,844 221,588 200,126
Cash Flows:
Cash flows from operating activities ¥ 60,763 ¥ 80,003 ¥95.226
Cash flows from investing activities {(57,230) (121,601) (52,728)
Cash flows from financing activities 21,330 26,801 (40,094)
Free cash flows U2 6,486 14,101 29,944
Per Share Data (Yen):
Net income—basic ¥ ¥ 3,178.95 ¥ 3,844.83 ¥ 3,650.27
Shareholders' equity 39,511.48 43,445.59 48,195.11
Ratios:
OCF margin (%) % 38.2 38.7 40.5
Return on equity {%) U 9.9 93 7.9
Debt to OCF (times) " 2.6 28 21
Debt to equity (times) 0.7 0.9 0.7

*1. OCF = (Total revenue) - (Operating and programming costs) — {5elling, general and administrative expenses) + (Stock compensation expense)
*2. Free cash flows = (Cash flows from operating activities) — (Capital expenditures) — (Capital investments via capital leases)
*3. Net income per share is based on the weighted average number of issued shares during the tarm. {excluding treasury stock)

*4, Based on the number of ordinary shares outstanding at the end of each fiscal year
*5. OCF margin = {OCF / total revenue) x 100(%)

*6. ROE = net income / {{shareholders’ equity at the end of 2007 + shareholders’ equity at the end of previous year} f 2} x 100{%)

*7. Debt is gross interest-bearing debt.
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Major Financial Graphs

lupiter Telecommunications Co., Ltd. and Subsidiaries
Years ended December 31
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Operational Highlights

Cable Television

Share of Total Subscription Fees
Share of Total RGUs

Number of Subscribing Households: 2,188 thousand (+3.7% YOY)
Subscription Fees: ¥123.1 billion {(+19.7% YOY)
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IR EEL RS G ety Number of Subscribing Households: 1,212 thousand (+9.3% YOY)
Subscription Fees: ¥66.6 billion (+14.5% YOY)

Share of Totat Subscription Fees
Share of Total RGUs

Telephony-

Share of Total Subscription Fees
Share of Total RGUs

& ~nnual Report 2007

Number of Subscribing Households
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Number of Subscribing Households: 1,313 thousand (+17.2% YOY)
Subscription Fees: ¥40.4 billion (+13.6% YOY)
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Total RGUs"™'
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*4, Number of services provided per subscribing household

Annual Report 2007




In Touch

With a Wide Range of Cable TV Content

(___,_ A

J:COMTV

):COM TV Digital provides a total of
more than 100 attractive channels,
including channels available over digital
cable, digital terrestrial, and digital
sateilite broadcasts. We also offer an
array of leading-edge services that

| leverage the capabilities of digital tech-
| nologies, including interactive services,

| such as the J:COM on Demand (VOD

j Service) service and InteracTV; HDR
set-top boxes equipped with hard disk
drives,; and high-definition content. With
2.19 million households subscribing to
J:.COM cable TV as of December 31, )

2007, we have a market share of about -1 T orc 12 2002 SHOWTINE NETWORKS C A1 Roghts Resered
34% as of September 30, 2007, the num- : 5

ber one market share for pay cable TV

in Japan. (For further information, see

pages 24 and 25.)
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Content
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“The ymple ite Goes 10 camp™ & 2607 Twenteth Century Fox Film Corparation

I
E
“Inside. Sume's Ulumate Clash™ €2 National Geographic Television f§
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In Touch

With Secure, High-Speed Internet Access Services
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In addition to 100 Mbps service for
MDUs, we offer 30 Mbps and 8 Mbps
high-speed Internet access services, and
in April 2007 we introduced the J:COM
NET Ultra 160 Mbps Internet access ser-
vice. As we strive to achieve increasingly
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higher speeds, we are also working to | When sans: of course,
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In Touch

With High-Quality and Economical Fixed-Line Services

[HEOM PHONE

1 W efler & primany 1P Elepheny ssrvies
thafeatlinesiqlal tyleqlivalen gteolcong
ventionallstandaiditelephicoylisenvices
callsfastwelfasYiowedmon thylbas s
dhargrss ane el dharges. (Fer urihee |
. infemietien, aae pagr 27.) ‘

J;:COM MOBILE

In addition to fixed-line telephony
services, we are also providing mobile
telephony services that offer superior
convenience and cost performance.
{For further information, see page 27.)
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To Our Shareholders and investors

Our most important cbjective is to reestablish a
trend of growth in our cable TV operations. To
that end, we are working to expand the pay multi-

channel market and to record sustained growth.

In the year ended Decemnber 2007, J:COM's aperating envi-
ronment was marked by intensified competition with major
telecommunications carriers. Nonetheless, J:COM recorded
another year of double-digit growth in revenue and profits,
with total revenue increasing to ¥264.5 billion, operating
income to ¥42 .8 billion, and OCF to ¥107.2 billion. We also
made steady progress with the Volume plus Value growth
strategy, which we have been implementing since the listing
of our stock. As a result, we registered solid gains in the num-
ber of subscribers and the bundle ratio in 2007.

Under the volume strategy, which targets expansion in the
number of subscribing households, J:COM worked to comple-
ment sales activities in which representatives visit customers at
their homes by increasing its emphasis on strategic sales

D) Annual Report 2067

routes. In particular, we focused on promoting bulk contracts,
which generate stable revenues from multiple dwelling units
(MDUs}, and agency sales. As a result, we recorded steady
growth in the number of homes passed, which reached about
9.44 million, and in the number of subscribing households,
which increased to 2.66 million.

Under the value strategy, which is aimed at achieving gains
in ARPU, we worked ta increase the bundle ratio and to en-
hance the added value of our existing services. In cable TV,
the J:COM Group enhanced its lineup of digital channels and
moved forward with the shift to high-definition broadcasting.
We also continued to make progress in HDRs, a set-top box
equipped with a hard disk drive, and the J;COM on Demand
VOD service, and the percentage of cable TV subscribers who
have digital cable TV service—the digital migration rate—
increased to 67% as of the end of the fiscal year. As a result,
the bundle ratio reached 1.77 and ARPU was ¥7,687.

Mareover, in high-speed Internet access services, we
launched J:COM NET Ultra 160 Mbps, a super high-speed
Internet access service in most of the Kansai region and a part
of the Kanto region. This highly competitive service, which is
on a par with FTTH, got off to a solid start in the acquisition
of subscribers.

The pay multi-channel market continues to expand, but
the rate of market growth has tapered off, due in part to a
shortage of content that customers want to watch. To record
sustained growth in the future, we must enhance content
quality. Accordingly, in September 2007 we merged with
Jupiter TV Co., Ltd., the largest multiple channel operator
(MCO) in Japan.

In fiscal 2008, our most important strategic theme will be
to reestablish a trend of growth in our cable TV operations.
Accordingly, we will strive to return to our starting point as a
TV company, make full-fledged improvements in content
quality, and produce programs that are more appealing to
customers. In these ways, we will work to expand the pay
multi-channel market and achieve sustained growth.

In closing, | would like to ask for the continued support and
understanding of our shareholders and investors as we tackle
the challenges that lie ahead.

May 2008
Tomoyuki Moriizumi
President & Chief Executive Officer

T



An Interview with CEO

Market Environment

) Would you describe the trends in the pay multi-
channel market in the past year?

) With market growth tapering off, the operating
environment became more challenging.

The number of subscribers in the domestic pay multi-channel
market reached 10.3 million at the end of September 2007,
but the rate of growth continues to decline.

In this market environment, companies throughout the
industry—including cable TV companies, broadcast satellite
operators, and telecommunications carriers—faced challenges
in attracting subscribers throughout 2007,

Operating Results
& How would you evaluate J:COM's performance cver
the past year?

- B3 Despite an intensely competitive environment, we

achieved double-digit growth in revenue and profits.
Total revenue increased 19%, to ¥264.5 billion, operating
income was up 36%, to ¥42.8 billion, and OCF increased
25%, to ¥107.2 billion. OCF surpassed ¥100.0 billion and
OCF margin exceeded 40% for the first time, respectively.

With all companies experiencing difficulties in attracting
subscribers, | am pleased with our success in achieving dou-
ble-digit increases in revenue and profits. However, these
results reflect the substantial contribution of the former Cable
West group, which we acquired in September 2006; | am not
satisfied with the performances of our existing cable systems.
We will take steps to enhance our growth in existing areas on
a priority basis.

Total Revenue and Operating Income

(Yen in Billions) {Yen un Billions)
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Initiatives in 2007

2} How has the merger with Jupiter TV Co., Ltd.

the largest multiple channel operator in Japan,

affected J:.COM?

3 We are now able to utilize J:COM’s management
resources to make a direct contribution to the creation
and provision of appealing content.

In September 2007, we merged with Jupiter TV Co., Ltd.
Now, we are able to make full use of J:COM’'s management
resources—such as our financial resources and customer base
as well as our sales systerm—which enables us to directly track
customer programming preferences. We will distribute higher-
quality, more-appealing content by making these resources
available to the TV channels in which we have invested. We
are also seeing benefits from rationalization measures, such as
cost reductions resulting from the consolidation of certain
back-office departments.

Pay Multi-Channel TV Market

{Millions of households) (%)
12 12
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“Total of cable TV subscnbers and SXY PerfecTV! indnadual subsenbers
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3 Would you tell us more about how J:COM has
strengthened its cable TV channel lineup?

A We introduced seven new channels, including two
high-definition channels.

In basic channels, we started the broadcasting of Lala HD, a
high-definition entertainment channel for women, in April
2007, and Fishing Vision, a fishing channel, in August. In
premium channels, we started the broadcasting of CLASSICA
JAPAN, a classical music channel, in April; TAKARAZUKA SKY
STAGE, a themnatic channel that shows productions from the
Takarazuka Revue, in May; Mnet, a comprehensive Korean
entertainment channel, in lune; the high-definition on

J sports Plus, a sports channel, in July; and Act On TV in Septem-
ber. In addition, we decided to suspend or discontinue the
broadcasting of certain channels that remained stagnant in
viewership. In these ways, we enhanced our channel lineup.

Seven New Channels Introduced during 2007

Awd Q@pner (B

o] 70wy CLASSICA
JAPAN

tebee

TAKARAZUKA
o4 'l:F'Ius AAct OnTV
+ SKYSTAGE ,GRort.
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B Please explain the specific initiatives undertaken as
part of ;:COM’s area strategy.

3 We introduced a regional headquarters system in the
Kanto and Kansai regions and consolidated subsidiaries.
The area strategy has two objectives: operational and financial.

In operations, we consolidated the management of neigh-
boring cable TV companies and shared effective marketing
and sales technigues in crder to implement flexible marketing
and expand our business.

Financially, we bolstered our financial base, leveraging the
economies of scale resulting from the merger, We are also
taking steps to achieve cost reductions, such as consolidating
back-office departments.

In the past year, we introduced the regional headquarters
system in the Kanto and Kansai regions, and we aggressively
implemented measures to increase operational efficiency, such
as merging subsidiaries.

In the Kansai region, we introduced the J:COM brand to
acquired systerns, such as the former Cable West group, and
we launched services aligned with regional characteristics.
Furthermore, following the establishment of the Kansai head-
quarters in July 2007, we established J:COM West Co., Ltd.
in January 2008 through the merger of three companies—
J.COM Kansai Co., Ltd., Cable West Inc., and Hokuseisu
Cable Net Co., Ltd. J:COM West Co., Ltd. is the largest service
provider in Japan. (For further infarmation, see page 16.)

We also established a regional headguarters in Kanto, and
we merged J:COM Kanto Co., Ltd., Chofu Cable Inc., and
J.COM Setamachi Co., Ltd., positioning ourselves to benefit
from the advantages of regional management,

Moving forward, our plan is to expand this area strategy to
other regions in the years ahead.

Penetration Rate of Pay Multi-Channel TV

(%)
100
80 88%
&0
40 46%
20
0 .
lapan* Ursted Kingdom United States
Sources:

lapan: Hasa Journal, SKY Perfect 1SAT Corp., and Jupiter Telecommunications Co.. Ltd.
{at the end of September 2007}

United Kingdom: Office of Communications (3t the end of June 2007}

United States: National Cable & Telecommunications Association

{at the end of June 2007}

® The number of pay multi-channel TV subsenbing households in Japan is defined as
the number of hauseholds contracted to cable multi-channel TV services phus the
number of indriduals contracted to SKY Perfect seraces.




£} What is the trend in subscriptions for the J:COM NET
Ultra 160 Mbps Internet access service, which was
launched in 20072

I3 Because it offers high speeds on a par with FTTH
and robust security, the number of subscribers is
increasing steadily.

With download speeds of up to 160 Mbyps, J:COM NET Ultra
160 Mbps is comparable to FTTH in terms of speed and is
competitive with the services offered by telecommunications

carriers in such areas as security and reasonable basic charges.

J:COM NET Ultra 160 Mbps was offered at nearly all systems
in the Kansai region from September 2007 and at J:COM
Setamachi in the Kanto region from October. The service
got off to a strong start; at the end of 2007, the number

of subscribers had reached 17,500. We plan to launch the
service nationwide by the end of July 2008, and we expect
90,000 to 100,000 subscribers by the end of the year.

€3 Would you tell us about the earthquake alert service
launched by J:COM in January 2008?
0 This advanced service provides notification of
earthquake intensity and arrival time with a high
degree of precision.
The earthquake alert service for households utilizes our cable
network to issue the earthquake early warnings announced
by the Japan Meteorological Agency. This service uses a
terminal-based method that takes into account not only the
latitude and longitude of the specialized customer terminals
but also information about ground conditions in the region
where the terminal is located. As a result, this advanced
service can notify customers about earthquake iniensity
and arrival time for each househald with a high degree of
accuracy that is not available from terrestrial broadcasts.
Morecver, we have dacided to make this system available
outside the Group. We have already received many inguiries
from other cabte TV companies and lacal governments. We
have concluded agreements with several cable TV companies
for the introduction of this system.

As the Group provides an integrated range of services
for this service, from the installation of specialized terminals
to the distribution of earthquake information, we have been
able to increase the system's overall reliability and security.

In the future, we will continue to position this service as
a regional safety and security platform and take steps to
enhance it further.

Future Initiatives .

21 The rate of growth in the pay multi-channel market is
slowing. Would you discuss the causes of this situation
and the challenges J:COM faces in this environment?

I} The major factor affecting market growth is a short-
age of appealing content. Accordingly, the J:.COM Group
will implement a range of initiatives to enable it to
provide higher quality. .

The househald penetration rate is 20% in the domestic pay
multi-channel broadcasting services market, which is low in
comparison with the United States, which is approximately
90%, and the United Kingdom, at about 50%. Nonetheless,
growth is slowing, due in large part to a shortage of appeal-
ing content. In Japan, large numbers of content providers
were founded, and continued excessive competition led to a
situation where many companies did not have sufficient funds
to invest in the production of high-guality content.

The J.COM Group is targeting an improvement in content
quality, which will be indispensable in the vitalization of the pay
multi-channel market. In that endeavor, we will work to take
a principal role as an industry leader. To that end, in addition to
contributing directly to content production, we must promate
alliances among channels in the same genre and establish a
sound competitive environment for content providers.

Furthermore, it is also important to develop promising new
genres. Channel Ginga is an example of a channel in a new
genre based on a new concept. It is a channel for seniors,
principally baby boomers, that commenced broadcasting in
April 2008, J;:COM teok the initiative in encouraging major
content providers and MSOs to invest in this venture. Moving
forward, 1 believe that this type of industrywide initiative will
become more importanf.
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New Growth Strategy
Maximizing Corporate Value

Activating the Pay Multi-Channel Market

it

JUPIV

Japan's Largest MCC

» Production of Attractive Contents
» Alliances with Other Companies

+
J:=COM

Japan’s Largest M5O

Expanding
Scale +

Improving
Content Quality

Increasing
Quality =mjm  New

Businesses
(Volume) {Value)
Expanding Area Increase in
Bundle Ratio

Bolstering Sales
Capabilities Increasing Added

Value of Services
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) How will J:COM differentiate its operations from
those of major telecommunications carriers?
B we will introduce high-value-added services and
provide community-based, carefully tailored services
that offer strong customer satisfaction.
In pay multi-channel services, competition with major tele-
communications carriers is expected to intensify in the future,
The J:COM Group led the industry with the introduction of
high-value-added services, such as the J:COM on Demand
service, high-definition programs, and HDRs, a set-top box
equipped with a hard disk drive. In the future, we will con-
tinue to lead the way in the introduction of high-value-added
services that satisfy our customers.

However, more advanced services and digital services can
sometimes be too complicated and difficult for customers
to use. Throughout Japan, we have about 2,200 sales repre-
sentatives who meet directly with customers to provide easy-
to-understand explanations of digital services and how to use
equipment. These representatives are working to “sell digital
service witn an analog mindset.” Also, if customers have a
problem after subscribing, we visit their homes and resolve
the issue. In these ways, our suppart emphasizes direct con-
tact with customers. This is a J:COM strength that is not
readily matched by the major telecommunications carriers,
and we have earned the trust of customers as a company that
meets with them face to face.

To differentiate itsetf from major telecommunications carri-
ers, the Group will continue to offer community-based, care-
fully tailored services.

€} Please explain J:COM's approach to mergers
and acquisitions. '
3 Centered on neighboring areas, we are moving
ahead aggressively with friendly M&A activities.
As one facet of our volume strategy, we are actively pursuing
mergers and acquisitions with cable TV operators in areas
adjacent to our service areas.

In the future, there will be no change in this policy of
friendly M&A transactions, principally in regions bordering on
our service areas mainly in Kanto and Kansai.



M&A Strategy |

End of January 2008

Kyoto Cable Communications
{Miyavision) Becomes a
Consolidated Subsidiary
Service Area

Kyoto, Muko, Nagaokakyo,
Oyamazaki, part of Yawata
Homes Passed

Approximately 303,000 homes

End of February 2008
Foundation's Cable TV Operations

Service Area

Part of Kobe's Suma, Tarumi and
Nishi {excluding Port Island)
Homes Passed

Approximately 60,300 homes

Shareholder Returns

B} Would you give us an overview of J:COM’s approach
to returning profits to shareholders?

3 With the objective of providing stable, continued divi-
dends, we will implement dividend payments from the
interim period of the fiscal year ending December 2008.
We have always considered the return of profits to be an
important management issue, but in the past we have elected
not to pay dividends in order to prepare for future growth
and reinforce management bases.

Now, with the abjective of providing a stable, continued
return of profits while maintaining sound internal reserves, we
have decided to pay dividends from the interim period of
fiscal 2008.*

* The amount of per-share dividends and the date of dividend payment will be
decided at a later date.

Kobe City Development & Management

{Kobe Cabtevision} Transferred to J;COM

[

Miyavision
@ Kobe Cablevision
B J:COM Area

Message

€I Finally, do you have a message for the Company’s
shareholders and investors?

B3 To meet the expectations of our shareholders and
investors, we will reinforce our community-based operations,
J:COM’s greatest strength, and steadily implement our Volume
plus Value growth strategy, as well as content strategy. In this
way, we will increase customer satisfaction, differentiate our
services, and further strengthen our competitiveness in the
industry, We will work to raise the Group's enterprise value
and make a sustained return of profits to shareholders.

As a pioneer in the pay multi-channel market, the J:COM
Group will strive to maintain a position of leadership in the
industry and overcome the challenges it faces in achieving
sustained growth.

Annual Report 2007 §B)




A New Stage of Growth as One of Kansai’s Leading Media Companies

Masayuki Matsumoto

To further enhance its competitiveness, the J;:COM Group has imple-
mented an area strategy based on such initiatives as introducing the
regional headquarters system and consolidating subsidiaries. This
system has enabled the Group's cable TV companies to handle their
operations flexibly and efficiently.

A key issue for J:COM in the years ahead will be the expansion of
the pay multi-channel market. In the following interview, Masayuki
Matsumoto discusses the initiatives that are being implemented on

Director
GM, Kansai Business Strategy Division
Jupiter Telecommunications Co. Ltd.
. Pregident, J.COM West Co., Ltd. ,

) Would you explain the reasons behind the establish-
ment of the Kansai Business Strategy Division and the
initiatives implemented in 20077
B3 Our primary objective was to reinforce cur manage-
ment bases in the Kansai region.
In September 2006, Cable West Inc. joined the J:COM
Group, and the J:COM Group became 10 companies with
17 systems in the Kansai region, To leverage the Group's
comprehensive strengths and pursue efficient management
in the Kansai region, the regional headquarters was estab-
lished and the merger of J;COM and Cable West Inc. was
made a special priority.

Initially, we laid the groundwork for the consolidation of
IT and sales systems and the reinforcement of cur operational
foundation. In IT, for example, we consolidated customer
management systems. These systems, which manage large
volumes of customer data, are critical to our operations. As a
result of the consolidation, expenses increased in the first half
of 2007, but in the second half we started to see the benefits.

In addition, because Cable West began to offer fixed-line
telephony services shortly before the merger, it had offered
two principal services—cable TV and high-speed internet
access—its ARPU and bundle ratio were low in comparison
with other J:COM Group companies. As a result, we worked
to expand subscriptions to tetephony services. At the same
time, we launched various digital cable TV services and transi-
tioned Cable West to J.COM?’s sales methods. In these ways,
we took steps 1o increase ARPU and the bundle ratio. By
combining the respective strengths of :COM and Cable West,
we are creating powerful synergies.

) Please give us an overview of J:COM West Co., Ltd.
which was established in January 2008.

€3 ):COM West Co., Ltd. is the largest cable TV service
provider in Japan.

J:COM West Co., Ltd. was established in January 2008
through the merger of J:COM Kansai Co., Ltd., Cable West,

@@ ~nnuat Report 2007

the front lines to tackle that issue. As head of the Kansai Business
Strategy Division, Mr. Matsumoto has overall responsibility for the
Kansai region, which is a highly competitive market.

Inc., and Hokusetsu Cable Net Co., Ltd. This merger formed
the largest cable TV service provider in Japan, with about
840,000 subscribing households. As the newly established
J:COM West Co., Ltd. we expect to realize further benefits
from the merger in fiscal 2008.

{2 Would you describe the company’s future marketing
strategies in the Kansai region?

3 While {everaging economies of scale—more than one
million subscribing households—we will aggressively
provide community-based services.

With the inclusion of Kyoto Cable Communications Co., Ltd.
as a consolidated subsidiary in January 2008, the J:COM
Group expanded its presence in the Kansai region, adding
Kyoto to Osaka, Hyogo, and Wakayama prefectures. As a
result, the nurmber of J:COM Group subscribers in the Kansai
region including Cable Net Kobe Ashiya Co., Ltd. surpassed
one million, and Kansai became a key region for :COM,
accounting for 35% of the Group’s revenue.

Kansai is a region that is exiremely competitive. In this
setiing, our marketing strategy has three elements.

First, to achieve further growth, we will diversify sales chan-
nels and aggressively acquire subscribers via approaches in
line with the distinctive characteristics of the Kansai regicn.
Second, we will bolster cur management bases. As we make
full use of the economies of scale stermming from the merger,
we will reinforce our management bases and reduce costs.
The third element is the provision of community-based,
convanient services. Qur greatest strengths are our selid
ties to local communities. We want to ¢ontinue to provide
value-added services that exceed the expectations of our
customers, as reflected in our motto: “We are your local
digital concierge.”

Through the steady implementation of this strategy, we will
promote the differentiation of our operations from those of
our competitors.
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} Special Feature

1:COM Shop Sanda {Hyogo Prefecture)

Reestablishing the Growth Trend in TV Services

J:COM—Toward a New Stage of Growth
In fiscal 2008, the J:COM Group will focus on improving the growth trend in
the cable TV market. In this special feature, we describe the initiatives that we

are implementing to expand the domestic pay multi-channel market.

EUREKA 9
© 2006 Unwversal Network Television LLC.
All Rights Reserved
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Reestablishing the Growth Trend in TV Services

Current Conditions in the Domestic Pay Multi-Channel Market

In the domestic pay multi-channel market, the number of subscribing households is increasing steadily
each year, reaching 10.3 million subscribers, with a household penetration rate of about 20%, at the
end of September 2007,

Despite this upward trend, in recent years the annual growth rate has fallen, down from 11% in
September 2003 to 4% in September 2007. Although the household penetration rate is enly 20%,
growth in the domestic pay multi-channel market continues to slow. This situation can principally be
attributed to a shortage of appealing content that customers are willing to pay to watch.

To resolve the situation, companies in the pay multi-channel broadcast industry must work together
and implement initiatives targeting higher quality.

Building a New System That Will Drive Market Growth

@ Merger with Jupiter TV

If the J:COM Group is to play a principal role in the expansion of the domestic péy multi-channel
market, it must make a direct contribution to content quality. Accordingly, in September 2007 we
merged with Jupiter TV Co., Lid. the largest multiple channel operator in Japan.

The J:COM Group is now able to target improved guality through the provision of integrated
services, from the production, and supply of appealing content te distribution.

High-quality content is the foundation of our TV services, and the Group's greatest strength in
the media content business is the combination of J:COM's content distribution infrastructure and
Jupiter TV's content, We believe that this combination will further enhance the enterprise value of the
J.COM Group.

Focus Initiatives in Fiscal 2008 i
To record continued growth in the stagnating pay multi-channel market, we must reestablish the
growth trend in the cable TV market and expand the scale of the market itself rather than aim for a
larger share of the existing market.

Accordingly, we will return to our roots as a TV company and make full-fledged improvements in
content quality at Jupiter TV.

1:COM will atso focus its resources on reshuffling and enhancing its channel lineup. At the same
time, we will take steps to further diversify our sales routes in order to increase our contact points
with customers.

Key Objectives in 2008

J:COM JUPIT@TV

B Reshuffling and enhancing W Improving the quality of content
the channel lineup Launch of Channel Ginga

B Diversifying customers' B Take the initiative in production
contact points !
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In Touch with Growing Markets

@ Improving the Quality of Content

Launch of Channel Ginga

As one facet of the Group’s efforts to improve content quality, we commenced
broadcasting of Channel Ginga in April 2008. Channel Ginga's programming lineup
includes a wide variety of genres, such as domestic and overseas documentaries,
travel programs, history and art, TV dramas, period plays, and entertainment pro-
grams. These programs are principally from NHK but also from domestic commercial
broadcasters, the BBC, and the three major U.S. networks. With this lineup, we are
broadcasting 24 hours a day in high definition. Channel Ginga is the first channel
aimed at a specific age group, centered on men and women from the baby boom
generation, especially senior citizens, wha are not satisfied with terrestrial broadcasts
and want more-satisfying, higher-quality programs.

Through market research, we identified two needs of the baby boom generation,
many of whom feel that “There are no gocd programs that | want to watch,” and
“I want to watch the programs that | used to watch.” We will strive to meet those
needs by broadcasting high-quality programs from Japan and overseas and by creat-
ing and providing content thai baby boomers really want to watch,

Also, many members of the baby boom generation are nearing retirement, and

Channel Ginga
taunched in April 2008

24-Hour High-Definition Broadcasting

» About one-third of programs from
NHK archives

= Broadcasts centered on classic programs,
including those from commercial broad-
casters, the BBC, and the three major
U.S. networks

= Independently created programming

the number of people with significantly more free time is expected to increase. Accordingly, with
Channel Ginga, our scheduling will focus not only on program content but also on senior lifestyles

and viewing habits.

Channel Ginga Scheduling
With five programming zones, the schedule is adjusted to the
lifestyles of viewers.

- Monday to Thursday Fridhy to Sunday

Morning Culture Zone
An invigorating lineup for ezrly risers

Early Morning

Best Selection Zone
Rebroadcasts of specially selected programs, such as
period dramas and documentaries

Morning

Entertainment Zone
Rebroadcasts of classic programs, such as puppet
shows, shows, and dramas

Afterncon

The Prime Zone Weekend
A selection of outstanding  Entertainment Zone
programs from NHK and  £ntertainment programs
other companies for enjoyable weekends

6:00 pm to Jate night

Channel Ginga Shareholder Composition
(As of December 31, 2007)

Ownership

iupit-ér T(-;-Iecommunications Co., Lid H 76.0
JAPAN CABLENET LIMITED 5.0
TOHOKUSHINSHA FILM CORPORATION [ 5.0_
: its communications Inc. 2.0
Kintetsu Cable Network Co_, Ltd. | 20 |
Media International Corporation 2.0
STARCAT CABLE NETWORK Co,, TD. | 20 |
' Tokai Digital Network Inc. 2.0
Japan Digital Serve Corporation —Ji 2.0
L VIC TOKAI CORPORATION 2.0
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Reestablishing the Growth Trend in TV Services

@ Taking the Initiative in Program Production

In addition to customers’ opinions about programs that the Group receives through customer centers
and sales representatives, the Group's management resources include an abundance of valuable infor-
mation that is indispensable in improving content quality, such as original program viewership research.
This information can be used not only in channels that are invested in and operated by Jupiter TV but
also in the creation of all programs distributed by the Group. To take the initiative in raising quality on
an industrywide basis, we will make full use of this information.

@ Reshuffiing and Enhancing the Channel Lineup
We are actively enriching our lineup of channels. We started broadcasting FOX CRIME, a suspense and
mystery channel, in March 2008, and SC! FI Channel in April 2008. SCI Fl, the flagship channel of NBC
Universal Group, specializes in science fiction movies and series. Broadcast in more than 30 countries
around the world, it is ranked fourth* in popularity in the U.S. cable TV market.

We will continue to provide attractive new conteni for our viewers by launching new channels and
reshuffling our channel lineup.
* The Nielsen Company, of the U.5., ages 25 te 54 as of October 2007.

FOXCRIME

FOX CRIME
Launched in March 2008

/ZSCI Fi

SCI F CHANNEL
Launched in April 2008

© 2008 CBS Studios, Inc. CUREKA Somon 1 - .
® Suspense and mystery shows ® Science fiction movies and shows eason

© 2006 Universal Network

= NBC Universal's flagship channel Television LLC.
All Rights Reserved.

Acquire and Analyze Viewership Data

To enhance the appeal of the channels and programs that we provide to viewers, | analyze viewership and
satisfaction data from a variety of perspectives for channels broadcast by the Company. The results are shared
with content providers, which use them to enhance the appeal of their program.

In the future, to make J:COM TV even more enjoyable for customers, we will actively share informa-
tion, inside and outside the Company about the reactions and

o . ) N Hiromi Murase
opinions of viewers and other customers and strive to improve Assistant Manager

Broadcasting Strategy Department

content quality.
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In Touch with Growing Markets

@ Diversifying Our Sales Routes

Until now, the Group has reinforced relationships of trust with cusiomers through direct sales represen-
tatives that visit customers in their homes. In the future too, the Group will maintain the central role of
home visits in its sales activities and will add new sales routes with the objective of diversifying contact
points with customers.

J:COM Shops

J:COM shops are one of the ways that we will diversify our sales routes. By establishing small-scale
stores at busy locations, such as near railway stations or supermarkets, we are working to increase the
name recognition of the Group and its services and acquire new subscribers. These shops also help in
fulfilling our responsibility to respond 1o the inquiries of existing customers.

And by opening stores to which customers can casually drop in, we can provide attentive, face-to-
face responses to customer inquiries, facilitating both the acquisition of new customers and enhanced
satisfaction on the part of existing customers.

The first J:COM shop was launched in April 2007, and we had 16 shops as of the end of December 2007.
We plan to expand the network to 55 shops nationwide by the end of fiscal 2008.

J.COM Shdp Urayasu (Ch|ba Prefecture) 2:COM Shop Sumida (Tokyo Prefecture)

Diversifying Customerls Contact Points

e oo orTTr T '\

Direct Sales <:: :> Area Staff™
Representatlves<: :> )
~

S

Customer <::> <;> Btk Sales™ \

Centers u ales
£ v

s ~ 1. Staff members who speciaiize in taking care of existing
v customers and providing guidance for additional services.
. *2. Local businesses, such as general merchandisers, real
J:COM Shops Website ‘ estate companies, and shops, act as agents for the
Company’s services,

N N A s "3 Multiple Dwelling Unit {MDU) contracts.
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Reestablishing the Growth Trend in TV Services

8 Creating Demand in the Pay Multi-Channel Market

As we diversify our sales routes, we are also taking steps to build
demand for multi-channel broadcasts leveraging the effect of
the Beijing Olympics, which will be held in August 2008.

In Japan, TV viewership rises when major events such as the
Qlympics and the World Cup, are held. The Beijing Olympics
represent an especially good opportunity because there is only
a small time difference between Beijing and Japan, and the
J:COM Group will take full advantage of this opportunity to
acquire digital cable TV subscribers.

Also, in addition to the approximately 2.66 million house-
holds that subscribe to the Group’s pay services, 4.28 million
households in MDUSs or in regions that cannot receive terres-
trial broadcasts are also linked to the Group’s network. We are
aggressively working to convert these retransmission house-
holds into J:COM subscribers.

| Handle Agent Marketing in Tokyo's

Itabashi District

I handle agent marketing for 80 shops of an electric appli-
ance merchant association, as well as mass merchandisers,
in ltabashi, Tokyo. It is my job to persuade stores to be
agents for the j:COM Group. However, many stores are
already agents for our competitors, and it can sometimes
be difficult to convince them to sign contracts with J:COM.
However, we continue to implement the Company's
policy of community-based marketing efforts, and we
have recently seen a steady increase in the understanding
of 1:COM. Therefore, the work is fun and rewarding.

It is also important that we exchange information with
J:COM shops. Because these shops get feedback directly
from customers, they are important points of service.
in the future, through community-

based marketing, | will continue

working to support the partnership
between J:COM and the people
in the community.

Harumi Ishido

Sales Department, Itabashi System
1:COM Kanto Co., Lid.
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success in a competitive environment.

J:COM—Toward a New Stage of Growth

We believe that the vitalization of the domestic pay multi-channel market will
become even more important as the J:COM Group works to maintain sustained
growth. By combining J:COM, which has the country’s largest customer base,
and jupiter TV, which has many of the nation’s number one channels, the J:COM
Group will provide its customers with higher-quality, more-satisfying content.

The new J:COM Group has entered a new stage of growth essential for




JuPI

Jupiter TV Company is a comprehensive content provider, with
content operations centered on the supply of programs for cable
TV, satellite broadcasting, and IP multi-casting. Jupiter TV Com-

V' About Jupiter TV Japan's Largest Multiple Channel Operator

pany invests in and operates 17 thematic channels.

Those channels are either number one or number two in their

and are considered essential parts of any multi-channel lineup.
These channels are categorized into three groups according to
ownership percentage—consolidated, equity methed, or other.

Several other leading companies, including broadcasters and

genres in terms of the number of households with service available

Channel Name

Movia
Pilus

Movie Plus

@la

GOLF
N WoRK

Golf Network

trading companies, have also invested in these channels,

Dsgovey

Programs

Number of
households with
service available

Ownership %

Japan's largest movie
channel by number of
households delivered

7.13 miltion

100% (consolidated)

Discovery
»

lapan's largest entertainment
channel for women

5.18 million

100% (consolidated)

Japan's largest golf channel

6.0 million

89.4% (consolidated}

'/ 4

J BPOATS

Channel Ginga

Entertainment channel for
senior citizens that satisfies
intellectual curiosity

1.97 million

76.0% (consolidated)

Discovery Channel

World's largest documentary
channel

6.23 million

50.0% (equity method)

L0 §

Channel Name

Programs

Number of
households with
service available

Ownership %

Channel Name

Programs

Number of
heuseholds with
service available

Ownership %

Discovery HD

Channel for men who are
young at heart

1.15 million

50.0% {eguity method)

L]
Hoo il
-Fﬁula
Japan Movie Channel
A channel dedicated to
Japanese films

5.01 million

9.99% (other)

Anilma1 Planet

Global entertainment
programming celebrate
animal human bond

4.18 million

33.3% {zquity method}

S

nivnwn
FeuAn

Jidaigeki Channel
Japan's largest period drama
channel

5.77 million

9.99% (other)

J SPORTS

Japan's largest selection of
sports channels, comprising
four channels

7.46 million

33.4% {equity method)

NIIKE]!
CNBC

Nikkei CNBC
24-hour economic news
channel

6.86 million

9.75% {other)

Overseas drama channel
aperated by Sony Pictures

5.28 millien

35.0% (equity method)

Opuenal Channel

4
ATX
Anime Theater X

A premium quality animated
program channel

0.09 million

12.28% {other)

Kids Station

Japan's largest children's and
animated program channel

8.0 million

15.0% {other)

* As of the end of December 2007
{Channel Ginga as of Apeil 1, 2008)
Source: Data from each channel

Negotiate with Overseas Organizations

Jupiter Golf Network Co., Ltd. broadcasts Golf Network, a channel centered on live broadcasts of golf
tour events.

I am principally responsible for negotiations with overseas golf associations. Specifically, 1 conduct
negotiations for broadcast rights contracts for the PGA Tour, Champions Tour, LPGA Tour, and other
major events. We leverage our strengths as Golf Network to acquire valuable information from event
sites and incorporate it into our programming.

As | must always negotiate in English, it is difficult, but the work is very rewarding. In Masayuki Ogawa

the future, we would like to reflect the feedback that we receive in our programming  [ESEEE I MEARER BT R

. f If N k Co., Lid.
to the greatest extent possible and, through our programs, broaden the golf fan base. Jupiter Golf Network Co., Lid
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Review of Operations

In Touch

With a Wide Range of Cable TV Content

J;COMTV

J:COM TV Digital
Number of Cable TV subscribers

and Digital Migration Rate

{Thousands of hauseholds) {%)
2,000 80

60

1,500
1,000 40

500 20

= o]
2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 (FY)
{3 ):COM TV Digital Service subscribers
< Digital Migration Rate (%) {right}

HDR Contracts

(Thousands)
300

240

180 186

120 rrrrrere
17
60

(31)

2006/6 12 20076 12

HDR set top box equipped with a hard disk drive
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M QOverview of Results

In recent years, with the entry of major telecommunications carriers into the broad-
casting business, the competitive framewaork in the pay multi-channel industry has
begun to undergo dramatic changes. In the overseas market, content providers and
telecommunications carriers are entering alliances and customers are being offered
entirely new ways to view programs. In the future, as the barriers between broadcast-
ing and telecommunications are removed in Japan, major telecommunications carriers
are expected to make full-fledged entries into the broadcasting market.

In this environment, the number of subscribers to the Group’s cable TV services rose
3.7%, or 78,700 subscribers, in 2007, reaching 2,188 thousand subscribers at year-
end. This gain was attributable to an increase in the number of subscribers in existing
regions as well as to the inclusion of new regions. The digital migration rate was up
15 percentage points, from 52% a year earlier to 67% at the end of 2007. As a result,
subscription fees were up 19.7%, or ¥20.3 billion, to ¥123.1 billion for the year.

With our J:COM TV Digital service, we strengthened our channel lineup with the
introduction of seven new channels. The number of digita! service subscribers rose
35.0%, or 381,300, to 1,470 thousand households. We also made progress in con-
verting existing channels to the high-definition format. As a result, high definition
now accounts for about 25% of.the channels that we provide,

The aggregate number of contracts for HDR, which uses a set top box equipped
with a hard disk drive, reached 254,000 by the end of December 2007, 2.2 times of
a year earlier.

In J:COM On Demand, a VOD service that enables viewers to watch programs at
the time that is best for them, we expanded our lineup, inctuding our offerings of
high-definition programs. The number of titles available increased from 5,900 at the
end of the previous year to 13,000 at the end of December 2007. In addition, we
further increased usability by updating the control screen. As a result, aggregate
purchases of contents since January 2005, when the VOD service was launched,
reached 5.35 million at the end of December 2007.

* Digital migration rate = Ratic of digital service subscribers to total cable TV subscribers
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@ Future Initiatives

In the future, we will strengthen and enhance our digital services to bolsier their
competitiveness versus the services of telecommunications carriers and other compa-
nies. J:COM is targeting a 100% migration rate by the end of 20089.

VOD Service
Total Purchases of
J:COM On Demand

{Thousands}

Also, while fortifying our digital services, we will take steps to enhance our channel 6,000
lineup. In addition to increasing new channels, we will replace channels with low
viewership and utilize digital viewership data to improve program quality. 4,000
We expect these initiatives to not only raise satisfaction among existing subscribers
but also help J:COM to acquire new groups of subscribers,
In these ways, the }:COM Group will bolster its competitiveness. At the same time, 2,000
we will work to foster expansion of the domestic pay multi-channel market by taking [,_m]
a lead role in market activation, 0

2005 2006

2007

Purchases = Number of purchases of pay content
using Premium On Demand (POD) service.

(FY)

“HDR" Set Top Boxes Equipped with Hard Disk Drives

HDR is a set-top box equipped with a large-capacity, 250-giga-
hyte hard disk. In addition to enabling subscribers to record
high-definition programs to the internal hard disk drive, HDR
also allows viewers to record a program while watching a dif-
ferent one and to record twe programs simultaneously, There
is also an electronic programming guide that simplifies timer

“J):COM On Demand” VOD Service

This service enables customers to select from about 13,000 mov-
ies, dramas, sports shows, and animation programs for viewing
at their convenience. With growing demand for services that
enable viewers to enjoy TV programs at their own pace, this
service, which is available to any digital service subscriber

High-Definition Programming

LCOM TV provides a large number of high-definition programs
that offer high picture and sound quality. Currently, our basic
channels include five high-definition channels—Discovery HD,

recording and a timeshift function that enables viewers to easily
replay programs that are in the midst of being recorded. HDR
offers a high level of convenience at a reasonable price of ¥840
a month including tax, above the digital service monthly usage
charge. The service is quite popular as a result.

(except Digital Compact subscribers), is recording steady growth
in the number of content purchases. Programs cost between
¥105 and ¥525 including tax. Growth in the number of pur-
chases is contributing to higher ARPU.

FOX Life HD, Movie Plus HD, Lala HD, and Channel Ginga. The
optional channels include Star Channel High Definition and
J sports Pius (HV).
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J:COM NET— Number of High-Speed
Internet Access Subscribers

({Thousands of households}
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827
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@ Overview of Results

In Japan’s Internet access services market, the transition to broadband continues to
move forward. By the end of September 2007, for example, the number of broad-
band contracts had reached 27.76 million*, with the number of FTTH contracts sur-
passing 10 million™*.

In this environment, the number of subscribers to the high-speed Internet access
services provided by the Group rose 9.3% year on year, or 102,800 households, to
1,212 thousand households at year-end. This gain was attributable in part to the
smooth start-up of the J:COM NET Ultra 160 Mbps Internet access service.

Subscription fees rose 14.5%, or ¥8.4 billion, to ¥66.6 billion, due to higher sub-
scriber numbers, which offset a rise in discounts on basic monthly charges stemming
from an increase in bundling.

The J:COM NET Ultra 160 Mbps Internet access service that we initially introduced
in April 2007 was available in nearly all systems in the Kansai region and a part of the
Kanto region as of the end of April 2008, In addition to offering speeds comparable
to FTTH, this service is highly competitive with services offered by telecommunications
carriers in such areas as security and usage charges. At the end of 2007, the number
of subscribers to this service had reached 17,500 househaolds.

In June 2007 we further expanded aur service lineup with the launch of a new
home monitoring service, which uses a wireless IP camera.

@ Future Initiatives
By July 2008, J.COM will implement a step-by-step, nationwide rollout of J;COM NET
Ultra 160 Mbps Internet access service.

Moreover, in addition to increasing transmission speeds, we will take steps to
further enhance our safe, secure Internet access services to provide an environment
in which anyone can access the Internet with peace of mind.

We also plan to offer additional services that can be enjoyed by family members
and a variety of convenient utility services, such as tools for creating websites. In this
way, we will reinforce the position of Internet access as an essential service and fa-
cilitate more enjoyable Internet activities, thereby enhancing customer satisfaction.

* The number of breadband contracts is the total number of contracts for FTTH, DSL, CATY, and
FWA access services.
Source: Ministry of Internal Affairs and Communications
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O Overview of Results PHONEENG MO o
In Japan’s fixed-line telephony market, there is an ongoing shift from telephony sub- [ﬁl’ﬁ(ﬂﬂﬂi@]
scriber lines using legacy switching equipment to other options, such as broadband- {Thausands of households)
based 1P service. 1.500

In this environment, market conditions in 2007 remained favorable for 1:COM (.05
PHONE. The number of subscribers to the fixed-line telephony services provided by 1,000 e [1.120 |
the Group rose 17.2% year on year, or 192,700 households, to 1,313 thousand house- L
holds at year-end. Subscription fees rose 13.6%, or ¥4.8 billion, to ¥40.4 billion, due 727
to the gain in subscriber numbers, which offset a rise in discounts on basic monthly 300 o7 B
charges stemming fram an increase in bundling and a decline in call charges.

e o 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 (FY)
) Future Initiatives

Primary IP telephony service makes it possible to reduce capital expenditures compared
with circuit switch-based systems while maintaining a high level of service quality. The
Group plans to steadily increase the ratio of primary IP telephany service.

We are working to enhance our services. For example, in February 2008 we ex-
panded our international telephone service to 250 countries and regions. In the fu-
ture, we will strive to further enhance the reliability of IP telephony and promote the
adoption of these convenient services.

[ J:cOMMOBILE it Conerien epts i

@ Overview of Results

In partnership with WILLCOM, Inc., J:COM offers mobile telephany services. As a
result of enhanced customer convenience and satisfaction, stemming from such fea-
tures as basic charge discounts for bundling with existing services and unified hilling
for multiple services, the number of subscribers reached 16,800 at year-end.

@ Future Initiatives

We have introduced new handsets that are available with monthly installment pay-

ment options. We are also taking other steps to enhance our mobile telephony ser-

vices. In December 2007, for example, we substantially expanded the free of charge
" hours under the Toku-Toku Talk Mobile Pian.

WX33iK WX330K
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New Inftietives

8 J:COM Earthquake Alert Service
The 1:COM Group is facusing resaurces on the provision of services with new added value.
In January 2008, we introduced an earthquake alert service for households. With this service, J:COM uses its
cable network to forward to households the earthquake alerts announced by the Japan Meteorological Agency.
The J:COM Group has positioned this service as a regional safety and security platform and intends to further
enhance the service in the years ahead. Moreover, in the future we will reinforce our ties with regional govern-
ments and local communities and provide other types of regional information, such as information about
disasters other than earthquakes and crime prevention information,

Earthquake Alert Service
. . . In 10 seconds, an earthquake

Under the Japan Meteorological Agency’'s earthquake information service, with a seismic intensity of
immediately afier an earthquake occurs, the data from seismometers near nearly 5 will arrive.
the epicenter is analyzed and the epicenter and intensity (magnitude) are P waves e

! ) 4. On that basis, th incinal . wal ti di {preliminary tremors) S Py h
rapidy estimated. On that basis, the principal moticn arrival time and inten- /,-:\ oun ight
sity for each region are estimated. Earthquake

o Occurs [LLILL]]
Types of earthquake waves include P waves (preliminary tremors) and ml‘ » |
S waves K

S waves (principal motion}, which have different speeds. From the P waves, {principal motion)

which arrive first, the location of the epicenter and the scale of the earth- £ R
. . . Prior notificatio
quake are estimated, and early warning of an earthquake can be made

“ of arrival time o
prior to the arrival of the S waves, which cause strong shaking, thereby . major waves

enabling preparation for major 2arthquakes.

FU.COMPaN

EDELFL) strengths of J:COM's Earthquake Alert Service

B Greater precision of intensity and arrival time estimates
1:COM?’s service uses a terminal-based calculation method. In this methed, latitude, longitude, and
ground condition information are set for each household terminal. In this way, it is possible for

J:COM's service to provide warnings of intensity and arrival time at hrgh levels of precision that

cannot be provided by other cable TV companies or terrasirial broadcasters.

B 24-hour operation

DX Antenna Co., Ltd. Net Mux Corporation

M Transmission of weather warnings and regional information
In cooperation with such organizations as municipalities, fire departments, and palice departments,

the system can receive weather information and various regional information.

*When the epicenter is nearby, the earthquake alert might not arrive in ime.
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@ Advertising Media Business JCOM o T
With the objective of cultivating a new source of revenue and profits, we made a ——— =
, . , _ ) . ) © oMY s
full-fledged advance into the advertising media business in 2007. This business draws - & o
A S e T

on the customer base that the J;:COM Group developed through existing businesses
and on various combinations of the Group’s wide range of its own media, such as
community channels, VOD, InteracTV, the J:COM Magazine monthly program guide,
and J:COM Walker, a free regional information magazine.

As one facet of those activities, in July 2007 we made Recruit Visual Communica-
tions Co., Ltd., which was a wholly owned subsidiary of Recruit Co., Ltd., our con-
solidated subsidiary and renamed it Jupiter Visual Communications Co., Ltd.

Furthermore, in September 2007, Dentsu Inc. acquired an equity stake in Jupiter
Visual Communications Co., Ltd. Utilizing J;COM On Demand, the two companies
have embarked on joint development of new advertising media and advertising meth-
ods that will effectively encourage customers to take action.

In the future, we will undertake joint development of advertising products with
Dentsu Inc., such as cross selling Dentsu’s advertising media and our media. In these
ways, we will work to expand the scale of our advertising media business.

Also, in April 2008, the advertising operations of 1:COM and Jupiter TV were con-
sofidated in Jupiter TV's newly established Ad. Sales Division. By flexibly integrating
the know-how and specialized skills of the two companies in advertising operations,
we will implement more effective advertising sales. In addition, we will develop a new
cross-media advertising model that utilizes video on demand. In this way, we will
strive to expand revenues.
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1:COM Magazine magazine JLCOM Walker

Annual Report 2007




Our Contributions to Local Communities

J:COM’s corporate philosophy and activity guidelines empha-
size building ties of trust with local communities. Accordingly,
we will continue working to be a company that is closely linked
to communities and is considered to be necessary by custom-
ers. We believe that it is important not only to strictly observe
faws and regulations but also to take an active role in the com-

@ Principal Initiatives and Results
Support for Regional Cleanup Activities
The J:COM Group is actively engaged in locat cleanup activities. J:COM Shonan (Fujisawa, Kanagawa
Prefecture), for example, has participated since 2005 in Beach Cleanup Kanagawa, a cleanup drive at the
local Katase Nishihama Beach that is sponsored by the Kanagawa Coastal Environmental Foundation.
J:COM Sumida (Sumida, Tokyo Prefecture) conducts weekly cleanup activities near its offices, and, in
November 2007, a letter of appreciation was received from the city's mayor.
We will implement new initiatives in the future, such as having employees at all J:COM Group com-
panies participate in cleanup activities, and we will continue to actively support ‘ocal cleanup activities.

Iki-lki Project

The J:COM Group is implementing "Iki-Iki Project” which is designed to give those who have retired
and started their post-retirement lives, an opportunity to contribute and pursue their interests in their
local communities.

Currently, using our media and facilities, customers serve as teachers and cperational staff in a
wide range of activities, such as persenal computing and cultural activity classes, walking events, and
golf tournaments.

Customers who willingly contribute to these activities are registered as community representatives
for :COM. As of January 2008, there were about 570 of these representatives throughout Japan.

J:COM NET Heartful Pack Program

The J:COM Group offers the J:COM NET Heartful Pack high-speed Internet access program, which has
the objective of supporting the independence and participation in society of people with disabilities.
Under the program, the J:COM Group offers the J:COM NET Premier service (download speeds of up
to 30 Mbps) to disabled persons at a discounted basic monthly fee and waives installation charges to
make it easy and comfortable for them to use the Internet. In addition, we have set up a special liaison
desk for Heartful Pack subscribers, and provide them with extensive follow-up care, such as software
installation and other services.

Support for Workplace Tours and Trial Experience Activities
With “community based” as its key words, J:COM is committed to implementing activities that contribute
to the lives of people in the communities it serves. As one facet of that commitment, we implement
educational suppert activities for local elementary and junior high school students, such as offering
students from nearby schools the opportunity to tour workplaces and enjoy triat work experiences.
For example, at the J.COM Tokyo system (Koganei, Tokyo Prefecture), we are supporting the social
education of elementary and junior high school students, including tours of J:COM channel production
studios and media centers and opportunities to experience jobs as camera operators and newscasters.

Annual Report 2007

munities we serve in such areas as safety and security, activities
for local residents, and social welfare.

Based on this belief, the Group actively participate in activi-
ties that contribute to Jocal communities as a corporate citizen
that is highly regarded by local residents.

Cleanup activities near :.COM
offices (J:COM Sumida)

Walking tour of scenic
spots and places of historic
interest {J:COM Nishi-Tokyo)

Parents and children enjoy
building models of boats
under the guidance of local
shipbuilders. {J:COM Urayasu)

Tour of a studio where

J:COM channel programs
are procuced (J:COM Tokyo)




Donations On Demand Program
The J:COM Group offers the Donations On Demand program, through which subscribers are able to
forward the proceeds of purchase to a selected charitable organization by purchasing certain contents.

Under this activity, which began when J;COM endorsed the fund-raising activities of the Japan Com-
mittee for UNICEF, donations are solicited through a video letter and a program that introduces UNICEF
activities. We started this activity since December 2006, and we collected a total of ¥1,191,000 at the
end of February 2008.

From December 2007, in cooperation with Media Research Inc., which sponsers the CON-CAN
Movie Festival, an online international short film festival, we began distributing films on the theme
of “children.”

We also collected donations for a disaster relief fund for the Niigata Chuetsu Offshore Earthquake,
and a total of ¥1,361,000 was donated to the Niigata Emergency Task Force Headguarters, along with
a matching contribution from J;COM.

In the future, we will add new content as we work in cooperation with charitable organizations
suitable for the Donations On Demand program.

Implementation of Anticrime Patrols
With the aim of contributing to local safety and security, the J;:COM Group has launched crime preven-
tion patrol squads at all J;COM systems nalionwide. These patrols are working in cooperation with
local police and ¢rime prevention associations to raise the level of awareness about crime prevention
amaong local residents and thereby contribute to community safety. For example, in March 2007, 1:COM
Tokyo (Nerima, Tokyo Prefecture) was recognized by the Chief of the Police Agency’s Suginami Police
Station for contributing to local safety and security.

In‘addition, at J:COM Sumida (Sumida, Tokyo Prefecture), we have received yellow safety and secu-
rity patrol patches and stickers from Sumida, which are worn by all staff members and applied 1o
Company vehicles, such as sales vehicles, thereby helping to prevent crime,

Provision of Crime Prevention Information via InteracTV
In cooperation with local police, 13 systems in Osaka Prefecture utilize J:COM TV Digital's InteracTV
service to distribute information that is useful in preventing crime in the region.

This service enables custormners to easily view information on their TV screens at any time, such as the
“Anmachi Mail” crime report and ¢rime prevention information distributed in real time by the Osaka
Prefectural Police. This service has been well received by users for its contribution to enhancing the
safety and security of local communities.

Pink Ribbon Breast Cancer Education Campaign
The J:COM Group, led by Jupiter TV Company, is participating in the Pink Ribbon campaign, which
supports the early detection and treatment of breast cancer. We are making appeals for understanding
of and cooperation with the Pink Ribbon campaign.

The ):COM Group is actively supporting Pink Ribbon activities through programs and events on Golf
Network, a specialized golf channel, and Lala TV, a women’s entertainment channel. We have also
established a website dedicated to providing basic knowledge and early detection information about
breast cancer.
http:/Avww jupitertv.co.jp/pinkribbon/index.hitml {Japanese Language Only)

AzqIRARAR VAU |
P IRl
WNL1¥ISA - Trayriad/rLOREE
IR -C— - I LAF AR

e
R 110722

@AeD) grsnd) @aini)

T Cararn | g aiF roows cons

"Donations Cn Demand” screen

omE
Ly ae RO

rany
iwt»ﬂl
i

ot
FERETETITI Y 3
e

R e——

oo gl

R
[t 3

Letter of appreciation from
the Chief of the Police
Agency’s Suginami Police
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Corporate Governance / Compliance

@ Corporate Governance

J:COM believes that the fundamentals of corporate governance
are predicated on improving management efficiency and main-
taining sound operations as well as on ensuring the transpar-
ency of management processes in order to achieve these goals.
With the aim of creating the management system that is best
suited to the Company, :COM is bolstering corporate gover-
nance to maximize medium and long term enterprise value for
its shareholders, customers, and employees as well as for the
local communities it serves. Moreover, we will work to enhance
our public relations (PR) and investor relations (IR} activities in
order to improve our management quality through an ongoing
dialogue with our shareholders and investors,

Corporate Governance Structure (as of April 1, 2008)

J:COM carries out management decision making and execu-
tion and oversees and audits its business operations through a
corporate governance system centered on the Board of Direc-
tors and the Board of Statutary Auditars.

The Board of Directors has 13 members, including 2 outside
directors. The board makes decisions regarding important busi-
ness operations and other matters stipulated by law and over-
sees the business execution of J:COM and its subsidiaries. The
term of service for directors is one year, and a management
structure that can respond swiftly to changes in the business
environment has been established.

Further, J:COM has established the Management Steering
Committee, principaily comprising of directors. The committee
deliberates on important management issues including results
at the Company and subsidiaries; offers recommendations to
the president and other directors on how to appropriately
carry out their duties, including advice on convening extraordi-
nary board meetings; and contributes to swift and appropriate
decision making at the Campany.

On April 1, 2008, the Company introduced a corporate officer
systemn. The system, in which people in specific executive posi-
tions as corporate officers, is aimed to further strengthening
corporate governance.

The Board of Statutory Auditors has 4 members, including
2 external auditors, one of which is a full-time auditor. The
statutory auditors review all aspects of business operations, in-
cluding Company policy, planning, procedural validity, business
effectiveness, and compliance with laws and regulations. The
statutory auditors also attend meetings of the Board of Directors
and other important meetings, inspect critical corporate docu-
ments, conduct examination-based audits of subsidiaries, and
make reports to the Board of Statutory Auditors.

Annual Report 2007

Internal Audit System
We established the Internal Auditing Department under the
direct supervision of the president to function as an internal
auditing unit for all Group divisicns and Group companies. The
department has approximately 10 members. In principle, these
members audit every internal division and Group company
once every two years in accordance with auditing plans, The
audit results are submitted to the president in an audit report,
and audited divisions and companies are periodically checked
for their degree of improvement against the corrective action
points in the audit reports.

The Internal Auditing Department and the Board of Statu-
tory Auditors are independent of each other, but to enable

*internal audit results to be used in the course of the Board of

Statutory Auditors' audits, the Internal Auditing Department
reports to the full-time auditor, and the two parties also work
together closely on other matters as well.

Internal Control Committee

As a consolidated subsidiary of Liberty Global, Inc., which is
listed on the U.S. NASDAQ Stock Exchange, J:COM has been
in compliance with the Sarbanes-Oxley (SOX) Act since 2006,
To implement this compliance, we established the Internal
Control Committee, which is led by the Company's CFO and
reports directly to the president, and the Internal Control De-
partment, which works under the Internal Controf Committee
and reports directly to the president while handling detailed
planning and execution. We are working to bolster and en-
hance our internal control system, centered on SOX compli-
ance. For J:COM, fiscal 2007 is the second year of SOX
compliance, and, as in the first year, internal audits were
conducted of the control scheme. The internal audits affirmed
that our internal control structure for financial reporiing did
nat contain any significant defects that could lead to fraudu-
lent financial repaorting. From fiscal 2009, J:COM will be
required to be in compliance with Japan's Financial Instruments
and Exchange Law, which will make the submission of an
“Internal Control Report” compulsory, when it comes into
force in fiscal 2009.



B8 Compliance
Compliance Structure
J:COM has established the Compliance Committee, which is
chaired by the Senior Corporate Officer, General Manager,
Administration Division, with the objectives of strengthening
and promoting the Companywide structure for compliance.
The committee creates and distributes a compliance manual to
all J:COM Group companies and takes steps to increase the
awareness of all employees, such as compliance training.

Furthermore, we have instituted "Speak Up System” at all
Group companies as a safeguard against situations in which,
for whatever reason, it may be difficult for a staff member to
report or deal with compliance problems under the normal
chain of command. These initiatives provide an avenue for
employees to speak out on compliance issues through direct
consultation with the Compliance Commitiee or an outside
lawyer, In May 2006, the full-time statutory auditor was added
{0 the contact points.

We hope the presence of this kind of system within the
Company will act as a further deterrent against illegal and
fraudulent acts.

Information Management Structure

In order to strengthen and promote information security initia-
tives at J;:COM, meetings of the Information Security Committee,
which is chaired by a Senior Corporate Officer, General Manager,
Administration Division, are periodically convened. At these
meetings, the committee reviews and verifies the security and
administrative procedures used in our information asset manage-
ment system. The committee’s findings are then disseminated
throughout the entire Company.

Recognizing the importance of personal information protec-
tion issues, the J:COM Group regularly provides education to
all employees regarding the handling of personal information.
During 2008, it will introduce an e-learning system in order to
further develop and strengthen personal security management
within the Group. Of the 43 Group companies as of the end of
December 2007, 28 companies had been granted the Japan
Information Processing Development Corporation (JIPDEC)
Privacy Mark* as of the end of March 2008.
Going forward, we will keep working to fur-
ther bolster our information security manage-
ment and to achieve our goal of obtaining the
Privacy Mark at all Group companies.
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* The Privacy Mark system certifies a company's procedures for handling
personal information protection asre appropriate.

Diagram of Our Corporate Governance Structure (asof Aprit 1, 2008)
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Directors and Statutory Auditors

Asof April §, 2008

Tomeyuki Moriizumi Yoshio Osawa
Representative Director, President Director
and CEQ Makoto Nakamura
Mineo Fukuda Director
Representative Director, EVP Masatoshi Hayashi
COQ Director
President (J;:COM Company) . ]

] Miranda Curtis
Mark Luiz Director
Managing Director .
Co-President (Jupiter TV Company) Graham Hollis

i Director

Tomoya Aoki i o
Managing Director Ygsushlge Nishimura
CFO and GM, Corporate Planning & Director
Strategy Unit, Corporate Planning Tsuguhito Aoki
& Strategy Division and Finance & Standing Statutory Auditor
Accounting Division John Sandoval
Shunzo Yamaguchi Statutory Auditor
Direcior

Michael Erickson

Vice President and GM, Engineering Statutory Auditor

Division {J:COM Company)
Hitoshi Nagase

Toru Kato Statutory Auditor

Director
GM, Group Strategy Unit and Group
Strategy Department

Masayuki Matsumoto

Director

GM, Kansai Business Strategy Division
(J:CCM Company}

President, J;COM West Co., Ltd.
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3. Mark Luiz

4. Tomoya Aoki

5. Shunzo Yamaguchi

6. Toru Kato

7. Masayuki Matsumote




Organization Chart

As of April 1, 2008
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Mission Sfatement

@ At J:COM, it is our mission to provide video, voice and high-speed
Internet access services through our advanced broadband net-
works, while offering the benefits of digitalization through a
variety of high quality products that meet our customers’ needs
and to add rich entertainment and information experiences to our
customers’ lives.

@ We understand that relationships with our customers and local
communities are core elements of our business foundation, and
we will continue to nurture these precious assets.

@ Recognizing the importance that local communities place on the
credibility of a service provider, we pursue further growth with
sound financial fundamentals, and return the benefits of our
business activities to local communities, shareholders and employ-
ees. Ultimately, we strive to become an excellent company that
actively contributes to society.

History

Activity Guidelines

@ Compliance
All employees of J:CCM are required to comply with customary iaws and
regulations as well as with the company's rules and directions.

@ Local Communities

All employees of :COM should understand the social values of each community,
and should fulfili the obligations and responsibilities reguired to build relation-
ships of mutual trust with communities and coniribute to their development.

W Customer-Centered Approach

As members of a high quality information and entertainment service provider,
all employees of J.COM are responsible for maintaining a customer-centered
approach in order to elevate customer satisfaction.

@ Commitment

All employees of 1:COM are required to commit to achieving J:COM’s mission
and its corporate goals. They understand the J.COM management orientation,
proposing and implementing plans for higher productivity. They continually seek
out new growth opportunities through interdepartmental cooperation and
information sharing, and respond rapidly to challenges with maximum flexibility.

@ Personal Development

All employees of J:COM should be aware of the role they play within 1:COM as
a corporate group that provides advanced broadband services. They strive to
Yearn and comprehend the latest information, marketplace intelligence and
technologies. They realize that as they engage in varicus levels of information
and idea exchanges through their day-to-day work, they are also pursuing
persanal advancement:

1995 Jan.

Jupiter Telecommunications Ce., Ltd. was founded as a joint venture involving Sumitome Corporation and

Tele-Communications International, Inc. {now known as Liberty Global, Inc.}

Mar.  Started launching cable television services,

1997 July Started Jaunching fixed-line telephony services.

1999  Jan. Started launching high-speed Internet access services.

2000  Sept.  Acquired the management rights to TITUS Communications Corporation.

2001 June  Achieved 1 million total subscribing househalds.

2003  Sept.  Started launching high-speed Internet access service with downstream speed up to 30Mbps, J:COM NET Premier.

Dec.  Launched the digital services including terrestrial digital broadcasting in Kanto and Kansai regions.

2004 Apr. Started launching a digital service, :COM TV Digital.

May  Established Jupiter VOD Co., Ltd.

2005 Jan, Started launching a VOD service, J;:COM Gn Demand

Mar. _ Went public on the iasdag Securities Exchange.

Apr.  Started launching primary IP telephony services.

Sept.  Acquired the management rights to Odakyu Telecommunication Services Co.,Ltd. (Qdakyu Cable Vision)

Oct.  Achieved 2 million total subscribing households.

Dec.  Achieved 1 million subscribing househglds for fixed-line telephony service, J;:COM PHONE,

2006  Mar.  Started launching a mobile service, J:COM MOBILE powered by WILLCOM.

Apr. Started launching a new service of HDR, a STB equipped with hard disk, and InteracTV.

Sept.  Acquired the management rights to Cable West inc,

Dec.  Launched :COM TV Digital Compact.

2007 Apr. Started offering J:COM NET Ultra 160Mbps Internet access service.

June  Launched J:COM NET Home Monitoring Service

July Made Jupiter Visual Communications Co., Lid. (formerly Recruit Visual Communications Co., Ltd.) a subsidiary.

Sept.  Merged with Jupiter TV Co., Ltd.

Nowv. Established Channel Ginga Co., Ltd.

2008  Jan. Established J.COM West Co., Ltd.

Launched ):COM Earthquake Warning service.

Made Kyoto Cable Communications Co., Lid., a subsidiary.

Feb. Acquired cable TV Operations of Kobe City Development & Management Foundation
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Five-Year Summary (U.S. GAAP)

Jupiter Telecommunications Co., Ltd. and Subsidiaries
Years ended December 31

Yen in Millions
2003 2004 2005 2006 2007
Operating Results:
Revenue
Subscription fees
Cable television ¥ 70,165 ¥ 75,866 ¥ 85,254 ¥102,803 ¥123,0M1
High-speed Internet 34,820 40,123 47,425 58,121 66,558
Telephony 18,230 24,837 30,699 35,591 40,432
Total subscription fees 123,215 140,826 163,378 196,515 230,061
Other 19,944 20,520 19,766 25,400 34,447
Total revenue 143,159 161,346 183,144 221,915 264,508
Operating costs and expenses :
Operating and programming costs 62,962 66,594 76,767 92,297 104,748
Selling, general and administrative 30,464 31,587 38,564 43,992 52,722
Stock compensation expense ™ 120 — — - —
Depreciation and amortization 3641 40,573 43,338 54,044 64,222
Total operating costs and expenses 129,957 138,754 158,669 190,333 221,692
Operating income 13,202 22,592 24,475 31,582 42,816
Net income 5,351 10,81 19,333 24,431 23,992
OCF {EBITDA) t'2 49,733 63,249 70,023 85,957 107,178
Capital expenditures 38,535 44,354 54,277 65,903 65,281
Purchased capital expenditures 32,478 31,793 38,405 48,460 46,348
Capital leases 6,057 12,561 15,872 17,442 18,933
Financial Position;
Total assets ¥421,877 ¥439,291 ¥516,457 ¥625,948 ¥680,416
Total shareholders’ equity 96,769 138,370 251,445 277,296 330,009
Interest-bearing debt (Gross) 255,401 231,529 185,127 242,075 223,016
Capital lease ohligations 31,131 31,805 38,523 50,462 55,864
Interest-bearing debt (Net) 245,842 221,109 149,844 221,588 200,126
Cash Flows:
Cash flows from operating activities ¥ 46,965 ¥ 52,512 ¥ 60,763 ¥ 80,003 ¥ 95,226
Cash flows from investing activities (34,526) {39,882) {57,230} (121,601) {52,728)
Cash flows from financing activities {12,199) (9,996) 21,330 26,801 (40,094)
Free cash flows ¥ 8,430 8,158 6,486 14,101 29,944
Per Share Data:
Net income—basic (yen) ¥ 1,214.25 ¥ 2,221.47 ¥ 3,178.95 ¥ 3,844.83 ¥ 3,650.27
Shareholders’ equity {yen) ©* 20,657.04 26,888.43 39,511.48 43,445.59 48,195.11
Ratios:
OCF margin (%) 34.7 39.2 38.2 38.7 40.5
Return on equity (%) 68 9.2 9.9 9.3 7.9
Debt to OCF {times) U9 5.1 3.7 2.6 2.8 2.1
Debt to equity (times) U0 2.6 1.7 0.7 0.9 0.7

*1. Stack based compensation expense was presented separately thrcugh December 31, 2005. Due to the adoption of SFAS No. 123 {R), from the fiscal year ended December 31, 2006, the monetary

amounts are ng konger significant, and accordingly stock based compensation expense has been included in “programming and other operating costs” (¥95 million in the fiscal year ended December
31, 20086, and ¥35 million in the fiscal year ended December 31, 2007} and in "selling, general and administrative expenses” (¥237 million in the fiscal year ended December 31, 2006, and ¥105
million in the fisca! year ended December 31, 2007). In accordance with this presentation, stock based compensation expense of ¥84 million in the fiscal year ended December 31, 2004, and ¥2,210
million in the fiscal year ended December 31, 2005, is shown in programming and other expenses (V24 millign in the fiscal year ended December 31, 2004, and ¥634 million in the fiscal year ended

December 31, 2005) and SG&A expenses (Y60 million in the fiscal year ended December 31, 2004, and ¥1,576 million in the fiscal year ended December 31, 2005).

2w

*5. Retwrn on equity (ROE)
*6. Debt is gross interest - bearing debt.

OCF = (Total revenug) — {Operating and programming costs) — {Sel'ing, general and administrative) -+ {Stock compensation expense)
Free cash flows = {Cash flows from operating activities} - (Purchased capital expenditures) - (Capital invesiments via capital leases)
Based on the number of ordinary shares outstanding at the end of each fiscal year
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis
of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and associated notes.

Overview

We are currently the largest centrally managed multiple system
operator ("MSO") of cable television, high-speed Internet and
telephony services in Japan as measured by total customers,
with approximately 2.7 million customers as of December 31,
2007. We offer our services through 20 consclidated systemn
operators and 2 managed system operators, collectively our
22 managed franchises. In addition to our managed franchis-
es, we also have controlling interests in two Internet service
providers, @NetHome and Kansai Multimedia Service (KMS);
J:COM Technology (TEC:J), a provider of installation,
construction and maintenance services for cable television
franchises; and J:COM Finance, which is responsible for man-
aging the financing of the J:COM group. Through a merger
with JTV Thematics on September 1, 2007, we also invest in
and operate 17 premium ¢hannels that provide channel ser-
vices 10 CATY, satellite and broadband operators. We also held
non-cenirolling equity investments between 20% to 50% in
nine other broadband-related entities, and we refer to these
as our non-managed investments.

The fotlowing table summarizes our total group and total
managed franchises,

" procurement assistance and other management services. Qur }

As of December 31, 2006 2007

Consolidated Subsidiaries:
System operators 23 20
Channel operators —_ 5
Others 4 7
Total 27 32

Equity Method-Affiliates:

Managed system operators 1 pi
Channel operators —

Others 4 5

Total 5 1

Total Group .32 43

Total Managed Franchises 24 22

Twenty-one of our managed franchises are clustered around
three metropolitan areas of Japan, consisting of the Kanto
region (which includes Tokyo), the Kansai region {which
includes Qsaka, Kobe and Kyoto) and the Kyushu region
(which includes Fukuoka and Kita-Kyushu). In addition, we
own and manage a local franchise in the Sapporo area of
Japan that is not part of a cluster.

Each managed franchise consists of headend facilities receiv-
ing television programming from satellites, traditional terres-
trial television broadcasters and other sources as well as a
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distribution network composed of a combination of optical
fiber and coaxial cable, which transmits signals between the
headend facility and the customer locations. Almost all of our
cable networks are upgraded to two-way capability, with all of
our cable homes passed served by a system with a bandwidth
of at least 750 MHz. We provide our managed franchises with
experienced personnel, operating and administrative services,
sales and marketing, training, programming and equipment

managed franchises use our centralized customer manage-
ment system to support sales, customer and technical services,
customer call centers and billing and collection services.

The cable television industry in Japan historically has been
characterized by a large number of small operators, many of
which began as joint ventures between multiple parties, such
as local companies, local governments and major trading and
media companies. A major part of our business strategy has
heen to acquire interests in complementary franchises so that
we can enjoy the economies of scale of a large MSO. In many
cases, we have increased our ownership over time, initially
acquiring onty a non-controlling interest and later increasing
our investment to create a consolidated subsidiary. Where
possible, we have merged subsidiaries to achieve further
economies of scale.

@ Profit Structure—Revenue

Subscription Fees

Our subscription fees consist of subscription fees from our
cable television, high-speed Internet and telephony services.
Subscription fees for our analog and digital cable television
services include basic monthly subscription fees and additional
fees for premium channels, other premium services and trans-
action-type services, such as pay-per-view and video-on-
demand. Subscription fees related to our high-speed Internet
service consist of monthly subscription fees and additional fees
for available Internet options. Subscription fees also include
revenue of our subsidiaries @ NetHome and KMS for high-
speed Internet services provided to our unconsolidated man-
aged franchises and to third-party cable operators. Qur
telephony subscription fees consist of monthly line rental fees
and additional per minute charges based on subscriber call
volume, premium services, such as call waiting and caller 1D,
and call access charge revenue that we receive from other
carriers for interconnecting their calls to our customers. For
customers who subscribe to more than one of our network
services, we charge a bundled service rate that is less than the
aggregate price for individual network services.



We have continued to focus on increasing the number of
our total customers and the number of service offerings to
which each of our customers subscribes. We refer to each
product unit that a customer subscribes as a revenue generat-
ing unit ("RGU"}. Cur subscription fees are influenced princi-
pally by the pace of our customer growth, which reflects the
addition of new customers cifset by the number of customers
that disconnect one or more of our services. We refer to the
pace of customer disconnects as “churn.”

Our strategy is based on a Volume plus Value concept, as
we intend to offer more features and benefits in each service
standard package, which we believe differentiates us from
our competitors as a true bundled service provider.

Cable Television. We believe that our basic service offering
provides the most attractive programming within each genre
at a price that is competitive with other providers of video
content. The pace of cable television subscriber acquisition
and churn rates are influenced by the value that prospective
and current subscribers attribute to our services compared

to services offered by our competitars. We offer analog and
digital cable television services in all of our managed franchis-
es, Qur analog television service consists of approximately 45
channels of cable programming and analog terrestrial broad-
casting and broadcast satellite channels, not including pre-
mium services. A typical channel fineup includes such popular
channels in the Japanese market as Movie Pius, a top foreign
movie channel, Lala TV, a women's entertainment channel, J
SPORTS 1, J SPORTS 2 and / Sports ESPN, three popular sports
channels, Discovery Channel, Golf Network, Disney Channel
and Animal Planet, in addition to retransmission of analog
terrestrial and satellite television broadcasts. At December 31,
2007, our digital television service includes approximately 66
channels of cable programming, digital terrestrial broadcasting
and broadcast satellite channels, not including audio and data
channels and premium services. The channel lineup for the
digital service includes 21 HD channels. We provide our digital
cable television subscribers video-on-demand and pay-per-view
functionality, allowing those subscribers, generally for an
additional fee, to receive programming that is not available

to our analog cable television subscribers. In April 2006, we
introduced io our digital cable television customers a digital
video recording service that utilizes digital set-top boxes
equipped with an internal hard disk drive capable of recording
up to 20 hours of digital HD programming and the ability to
record two programs in competing time slots. We also offer
both analog and digital cable television subscribers opticnal
subscriptions for an additional fee to premium channels,
including movies, sports, horseracing and other special enter-
tainment programming, either individually or in packages. We
offer package discounts to customers who subscribe to bun-
dles of our services. Qur customers’ ability to receive all video
platforms—terrestrial digital, BS digital, CS channels, video-
on-demand and pay-per-view—through one set-top box

offers a value propaosition not offered by our competitors, In
addition to the services offered to our cable television sub-
scribers, we also provide terrestrial broadcast retransmission
services to more than 4.2 million additional households in our
consclidated franchise areas as of December 31, 2007, includ-
ing “compensation” households for which we receive upfront
fees pursuant to long-term contracts to provide such retrans-
mission services,

High-Speed Internet. The market for high-speed internet
services remains highly competitive and more price-sensitive
than for video services. Consequently, our subscriber acquisi-
tion and churn rates for high-speed Internet services are
influenced significantly by the price point for our service as
compared to competing service offerings. We offer broadband
Internet services in all of our managed franchises through
@NetHome and KMS. These broadband Internet services offer
downstream speeds of mainly either 30 Mbps or 8 Mbps. We
offer the J:COM NET Hikari service for multiple dwelling units
(MDUs} connected to our network by optical fiber cables.
J:COM NET Hikari offers downstream speeds of up to 100
Mbps. in April 2007, we launched a very high-speed broad-
band Internet service for single-dwelling units, individual
homes and smaller apartment buildings in the Kansai region
that delivers downstream speeds of up to 160 Mbps.
Telephony. Similar to the market for high-speed Internet
services, the market for telephony services is highly competi-
tive and price-sensitive, for both basic monthly line rental fees
and per-minute call volume charges. Consequently, our sub-
scriber acquisition and service disconnect rates for telephany
services are influenced significantly by the price point for our
service as compared to competing service offerings. We offer
telephony services over our own network in all of our consoli-
dated franchise areas. Qur headend facilities contain equip-
meni that routes calls from the local network to telephony

~switches (a majority of which we own), which in turn transmit

voice signals and other information over the network. We also
utilize VolP technology in certain franchise areas. We provide a
single line to the majority of our telephony customers, most of
whom are residential customers. We charge our telephony .
subscribers a fee for basic telephony service (together with
charges for calls made) and offer additional premium services,
including call-waiting, call-forwarding, caller identification and
three-way calling, for a {ee. In partnership with WILLCOM,
Inc., a personal handphone system service provider in Japan,
we offer a mobile phone service called J:COM MOBILE. J:COM
MOBILE customers receive discounted phane service when
bundled with our other telephone services, including free and
discounted calling plans.

Bundled Services. The pace of growth of RGUs is directly
influenced by the value that customers receive for subscribing
for multiple services as compared to the subscription fees charged
to obtain comparative services from muitiple providers. Once a
customer is connected to our network, we can efficiently expand
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our service offerings to these customers and consequently are
able to offer the additional services at highly competitive
prices and at potentially lower customer acquisition ¢osts
than providing new customers with the same service.
Other Revenue
Our other revenue comprises revenue from channel services
and other items. Our other revenue is influenced primarily by
the pace of subscriber growth. In addition, because other
revenue includes management fees and other charges to our
unconsolidated managed franchises, it is also impacted by the
aggregate number of subscribers.
Channel Services. We source our programming through
multiple suppliers, including JTV Thematics. We acquired JTV
Thematics on September 1, 2007, after it was spun-off from
Jupiter TV. JTV Thematics invests in, develops, manages and
distributes fee-based television programming. This acquisition
enables us to bring key programming genres to the Japanese
market and to promote the development of quality program-
ming services. Through JTV Thematics, we develop, manage
and distribute pay television services in Japan on a platform-
neutral basis through various distribution infrastructures,
principally cable and satellite service providers and, more
recently, alternative broadband service providers using fiber-
to-the-home (FTTH) and ADSL platforms. As of December 31,
2007, we owned 6 channels through consolidated subsidiaries
and 12 channels through equity and cost method investments,
Qur majority owned primary channels are a foreign movie
channel {Movie Plus), a golf channel (Jupiter Golf Network),
a women's entertainment channel (Lala TV) and a new chan-
nel that is planned to launch in April 2008 (Channel Ginga).
Channels in which we hold investments include four sports
channels owned by ) SPORTS Broadcasting Corporation,
which is a 33% -owned joint venture with Itochu Corporation
and Sky Perfect Communications Inc., and others; Animal
Planet Japan Co., Ltd., a one-third owned joint venture with
Discovery Asia, Inc. and Worldwide America Investments, Inc,;
Discovery Japan, Inc., through a 50% -owned joint venture
with Discovery Asia, Inc.; AXN Japan, Inc., a 35%-owned joint
venture with Sony Pictures Entertainment {Japan), Inc. We
provide affiliate sales services and in some cases advertising
sales and other services to channels in which we have an
investment for a fee.

The market for multi-channel television services in Japan
is highly complex with muliiple cable systems, satellite plat-
forms and alternative broadband service providers. Cable
systems in Japan served approximately 22 million homes at
December 31, 2007. A large percentage of these homes,
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however, are served by systems whose service principally
consists of retransmitting free television services to homes
whose reception of such broadcast signals has been blocked.
Higher capacity systems and larger cable systems that offer a
full complement of cable and broadcast channels, of which we
are the largest in terms of the number of subscribers, served
6.5 million households as of December 31, 2007. The majority
of channels in which we hold an interest are marketed to cable
systern operators as basic television services.

Each of the channels in which we have an interest, except
far Discovery HD, is also oftered on SkyPerfecTV, a digital
satellite platform that delivers approximately 190 linear video
channels {24 hours a day) a la carte and in an array of basic
and premium packages, from two satellites operated by JSAT
Corporation. Each of the channels, except for Reality TV Japan
and Discovery HD, is also offered on e2 by SkyPerfecTV,
another satellite platform in Japan that delivers approximately
70 linear channels (24 hours a day). The majority of channels
in which we hold an interest are marketed to satellite subscrib-
ers as basic television services.

The distribution of multi-channel television services in Japan
through alternative broadband platforms, such as FTTH and
ADSL, is not yet widespread. The majority of channels in which
Jupiter TV holds an interest are marketed to alternative broad-
band subscribers as basic television services.

Other ltems:

+ |nstallation charges for new customers;

* Fees paid to us by the awners of buildings that block terres-
trial broadcast television signals for the construction and
maintenance of networks to provide for the retransmission
of these signals to households that would otherwise be
unable to receive them;

= Commissions and fees received from affiliated and non-
affiliated content providers,;

* Sales of construction- and installation-related materials and
labor, principally to our unconsolidated managed franchises;

« Sales of programming, principally to our unconsolidated
managed franchises;

« Advertising revenue that we receive in connection with our
cable television and high-speed Internet services; and

* Management fees that we charge to our unconsolidated
managed franchises.



@ Operating Costs and Expenses

Operating and Programming Costs

Operating and programming costs include costs related to the
operation, maintenance and technical support of our network
as well as the costs to acquire programs and other content
that we provide to customers and that we sell to our consoli-
dated and unconsolidated managed franchises. Operating and
programming costs also include amounts that we are charged
by ather telecommunications carriers related 10 interconnec-
tion charges to their network for our customers’ calls and the
operating expenses of our @NetHome and KMS subsidiaries
associated with our high-speed internet services. They also
include the costs of labor and materials sold to our unconsoli-
dated managed franchises asscciated with construction- and
installation-related sales. Cperating and programming costs
are impacted primarily by the pace of subscriber growthin
each of our service offerings and, additionally, by the volume
of usage by our telephony service subscribers.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses

Our selling, general and administrative expenses consist
primarily of wages, salaries and benefits paid to our in-house
and contract employees and our sales and marketing person-
nel. Selling, general and administrative expenses also include
promotion and commission expenses incurred in connection
with the acquisition of new customers as well as our general
operating overhead costs and expenses. :
Depreciation and Amortization

Qur depreciation and amortization expenses principally com-
prise depreciation of our investment in our network, We
expect our depreciation expense to increase in future periods
as a result of network assets to be acquired through potential
acquisitions of additional franchises and capital investment for
the integration, upgrade and expansion of the network of
franchises that we may acquire.

B Income Taxes

Each of the companies within our consolidated group is
individually subject to Japanese national corperate tax, an
inhabitant tax and a deductible enterprise tax on income,
which in aggregate currently result in a maximum statutory
income tax rate of approximately 41% for each company.
Since 1995, many of the companies within our consolidated
group have incurred operating losses for Japanese income {ax
purposes. We do not currently qualify for filing a consolidated
tax return. As a result, certain portions of our consolidated
group's net operating loss carryforwards may not be realizable
as such loss carryforwards can only be used to offset taxable
income in future periods of those members of our consolidated
group that generated the net operating loss. The maximum

period for net operating loss carryforwards for Japanese
corporations was extended from five to seven years for tax
losses incurred in fiscal years starting on or after April 1, 2001.
Generally, the reduction of valuation allowance results in a
deferred tax benefit in the year recognized. Howaever, certain
of our deferred tax assets were acquired in connection with
past business combinations, and, when we recognize these
deferred tax assets through reductions to our valuation allow-
ances or when we realize them through the application of

net operating loss carryforwards as a reduction of current tax
expense, we will first be required to reduce goodwill and other
intangibles, with any remaining amount reflected as a deferred
tax benefit. As a result of not having consolidated group tax
returns, our consolidated effective tax rate will vary from
period to period based on the amount of taxable income
generated by the individual members of our consolidated
group and changes in the individual members’ deferred taxes,
including their available net operating loss carryforwards.

B Operating Data

Franchise Revenue per Customer

One of the measures that we use to monitor our cperations

is franchise revenue per customner. Franchise revenue per
customer is determined for any period as total revenue of our
franchises, excluding revenue attributable to installation charg-
es for new customers fees paid to us by building owners related
to terresirial blockage and certain other revenue, divided by the
weighted-average number of connected customers during the
period.

Churn Rate

Ancther measure that we use to monitor our operations is the
rate at which subscribers disconnect from each of our three
services. With respect to any service, we calculate the average
monthly churn rate by dividing the number of disconnects
from the service during a period by the monthly weighted-
average number of subscribers during the same period, and
then dividing by the number of months in that period. The
churn rate for each service can be influenced by many factors.
For example, the churn rate we experience from subscribers

in rental MBUs is typically higher than that of subscribers in
condominiums or single-dwelling units. Also, we typically
experience seasonally high churn in the early part of the year
as a result of the high number of Japanese company personnel
relocations, which usually take place during March of each
year. In addition, the churn rate expertenced for each service is
typically lower in homes subscribing to more than one service
as a result of the bundled price offered for multiple service
subscriptions and the increased loyalty of those customers,
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Results of Operations

Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2007 Compared to Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2006

@ Overview
The following table sets forth the percentages of revenue that individual items in our consolidated statements of income consti-
tuted for the periods presented, period-over-period changes and additional operating information for our consalidated franchises.

Yen in Millions
Twelve Twelve
moniths ended manths ended
December 31, Asa% December 31, Asa%
2006 of revenue 2007 of revenue ¥ Change % Change
Revenue:
Subscription fees ¥ 196,515 89% ¥ 230,061 87% ¥ 33,546 17%
Other 25,400 11% 34,447 13% 9,047 36%
221,915 100% 264,508 100% 42,593 19%

Operating costs and expenses:
Operating and programming costs, including
stock-based compensation of ¥35 million
in 2006 and ¥35 million in 2007 {92,297) (42%) (104,748) (40%) {12,451) {14%)
Selling, general and administrative expenses,
including stock-based compensation
of ¥237 million in 2006 and ¥105 million

in 2007 (43,992) (20%) (52,722) (20%) {8,730) (20%})
Depreciation and amortization (54,044) (24%) {64,222) (24%) (10,178) {19%)}
(190,333) {86%) {221,692) (84%) (31,359) (16%)

Operating income 31,582 14% 42,816 16% 11,234 36%
Interest expense, net {3,522} {1%) {4,276} (1%) (754) (21%}
Other income, net 253 * 558 * 305 120%
Equity in earnings of affiliates 3N * 29 * (80) {21%)
Minority interest in net income {1,181} {1%) {1,883) (1%) {702) {59%}
Income before income taxes 27,503 12% 37,506 14% 10,003 36%
Income tax expense (3,022} (1%) (13,514) (5%) (10,492) {(347%)
Net income ¥ 24,481 1% ¥ 23,992 9% ¥ (489) (2%)

Operating Data:

As of December 31, 2006 2007 Change % Change
Number of homes passed:

Cable television 9,206,100 9,438,200 232,100 3%

High-speed Internet ’ . 9,206,100 9,438,200 232,100 3%

Telephony 9,166,400 9,415,300 248,900 3%
Number of subscribers:

Cable television 2,109,300 2,188,000 78,700 1%

High-speed Internet 1,108,800 1,211,600 102,800 9%

Telephony 1,119,900 1,312,600 192,700 17%
Total RGUs 4,338,000 4,712,200 374,200 9%
Number of digital cable television subscribers 1,088,900 1,470,200 381,300 35%
RGU gross connects during the year 905,300 925,248 19,948 2%
Number of customers connected 2,512,200 2,659,100 146,900 6%
Average RGU per customer 1.73 .77 0.04 2%
Average franchise revenue per customer per month™ ¥7,787 ¥7.,687 ¥(100) (1%)

* Less than 1.0% of total revenue or percentage change not considered maaningful.
{1) ARPU per customer connected Is calculated as follows: average total revenue of our consolidated franchises (excluding installation, commission, advertising, poor reception and other
revenues) for the period divided by the weighted-average number of connected customers during the period.
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In the following discussion, we quantify the impact of
acquisitions on our results of operations. The acquisition
impact represents our estimate of the difference between
the operating results of the periods under comparison that is
attributable to the timing of an acquisition. In general, we
base our estimate of the acquisition impact on an acquired
entity's operating results during the first three manths follow-
ing the acquisition date such that changes from those operat-
ing results in subsequent periods are considered to be organic
changes. Included as acquisitions in the below discussion are
the April 2006 acquisition of Sakura Cable TV Co., Ltd.; the
August 2006 acquisition of Cable Net Shimonoseki Co., Ltd.;
the September 2006 acquisition of Cable West Inc. and related
companies; the July 2007 acquisition of Jupiter Visual
Communications Co., Ltd.; and the September 2007 merger
with JTV Thematics. . '

@ Revenue

Total revenue increased by ¥42,593 million, or 19%, from
¥221,915 million for the year ended December 31, 2006 to
¥264,508 million for the year ended December 31, 2007. This
increase includes ¥22,580 million that is attributable to the
aggregate impact of acquisitions. Excluding the effects of these
acquisitions total revenue increased by ¥20,013 million, or 3%.
Subscription Fees

Subscription fees increased by ¥33,546 million, or 17%, from
¥196,515 million for the year ended December 31, 2006 1o
¥230,061 million for the year ended December 31, 2007, This
increase includes ¥16,307 million that s attributable to the
aggregate impact of acquisitions. Excluding the impact of
acquisitions, subscription fees increased by ¥17,239 million, or
9%, Cable television subscription fees increased by ¥20,268
million, or 20%, from ¥102,803 million for the year ended
December 31, 2006 to ¥123,071 million for the year ended
Decemnber 31, 2007. The 20% increase in cable television
subscription revenue was due to 8% organic growth in sub-
scription fees and the increasing proportion of cable television
subscribers who subscribe to our digital service, for which we
charge a higher fee compared to the analog service. As of
December 31, 2007, 67% of cable television subscribers were
receiving our digital service, compared 10 52% as of December
31, 2006. High-speed Internet subscription fees increased by
¥8,437 million, or 15%, from ¥58,121 million for the year
ended December 31, 2006 to ¥66,558 million for the year
ended December 31, 2007. The 15% increase in high-speed
Internet subscription revenue was primarily attributable to
organic growth in subscription fees of 8% offset by product
bundting discounts, Telephony subscription fees increased by
¥4,841 million, or 14%, from ¥35,591 million for the year ended
December 31, 2006 to ¥40,432 million for the year ended
Decermber 31, 2007. The 14% increase in telephony subscrip-
tion revenue was attributable to 12% organic growth in sub-
scription fees that was offset by a decrease in telephony ARPU.

Other Revenue

Other revenue increased by ¥9,047 million, or 36%, from
¥25,400 million for the year ended December 31, 2006 to
¥34,447 million for the year ended December 31, 2007. The
effect of acquisitions accounted for ¥6,273 million, or 69%

.of such cther revenue increase. Excluding the impact of acqui-

sitions, other revenue increased by ¥2,774 millian, or 11%,
with the increase primarily related to individually insignificant
increases in various revenue categories. Other revenue includes
poor reception compensation, construction, installation,
advertising, program production, commission and other fees
as well as charges and sales made to cur uncensolidated
managed franchises for management, grogramming, construc
tion materials and other services.

@ Operating Costs and Expenses

Operating and Programming Costs

Operating and programming costs increased by ¥12,451
million, or 14%, from ¥92,297 million for the year ended
December 31, 2006 to ¥104,748 million for the year ended
December 31, 2007. This increase includes ¥7,755 millien that
is attributable to the aggregate impact of acquisitions.
Excluding the impact of acquisitions, operating and program-
ming costs increased by ¥4,696 million, or 5%. This increase
was primarily attributable to costs directly related to growth
of our subscriber base of ¥17,239 million. increases in labor
and related costs, network and maintenance costs, and other
individually insignificant items also contributed to the increase.
Selling, Genera! and Administrative Expenses

Selling, general and adminisirative expenses increased by
¥8,730 million, ar 20%, from ¥43,992 million for the year
ended December 31, 2006 to ¥52,722 million for the year
ended December 31, 2007. This increase includes ¥6,665
million that is attributable to the aggregate impact of acquisi-
tions. Excluding the impact of acquisitions, selling, general and
administrative expenses increased by ¥2,065 million, or 5%.
This increase is primarily attributable to higher labor and
employee-related costs.

Depreciation and Amortization

Depreciation and amartization expenses increased by ¥10,178
million, or 19%, from ¥54,044 million for the year ended
December 31, 2006 to ¥64,222 million for the year ended
December 31, 2007. This increase includes ¥6,698 million
that is attributable to the aggregate impact of acquisitions.
Excluding the impact of acquisitions, the increase is primarily
attributable to additions to fixed assets related to the installa-
tion of services to new customers.

Binterest Expense, Net

Interest expense, net increased by ¥754 million, or 21%,
from ¥3,522 million for the year ended December 31, 2006
to ¥4,276 million for the year ended December 31, 2007. The
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increase is primarily due to ¥52,000 million of additional
borrowings related to the acquisition of Cable West in
September 2006.

B Other Income, Net

Other income, net increased by ¥305 million, from ¥253
million for the year ended December 31, 2006 to ¥558 million
for the year ended December 31, 2007, The increase primarily
consists of various insignificant miscellaneous transactions.

B Equity in Earnings of Affiliates

Equity in earnings of affiliates decreased by ¥80 million, or
21%, from ¥371 million for the year ended December 31,
2006 to ¥291 million for the year ended December 31, 2007.
This decrease was attributable to reduced earnings from
remaining affiliates for the year ended December 31, 2007.

@ Minority Interest in Net Income

Minority interest in net income increased by ¥702 million,
from ¥1,181 million for the year ended December 31, 2006
to ¥1,883 million for the year ended December 31, 2007.

B Income Tax Expense

Income tax expense increased by ¥10,492 million, or 347%,
from ¥3,022 million for the year ended December 31, 2006
to ¥13,514 million for the year ended December 31, 2007.
The income tax expense of ¥13,514 million in the year ended
December 31, 2007 included ¥2,707 million of net deferred
tax benefit recognized as a result of the reversal of valuation
allowances for certain franchises we believe the related de-
ferred tax assets will be realizable in future years. The year

ended December 31, 2006 included a net deferred tax benefit
of ¥4,748 million. This remaining increase was primarily related
to the increase in income before income taxes.

@ Net Income

Net income decreased by ¥489 million, or 2%, from ¥24,481
million for the year ended December 31, 2006 to ¥23,992
million for the year ended December 31, 2007 for the reasons
set forth above.

@ Operating Data

Average Franchise Revenue per Customer per Month
Total customers connected increased by 146,900, or 6%,
from 2,512,200 as of December 31, 2006 to 2,659,100 as

of December 31, 2007. The number of services subscribed

by each of our connected customers remained relatively
consistent at 1.73 and 1.77 services at December 31, 2006
and 2007, respectively, primarily due to increases from exist-
ing systems offset by lower amounts from recently acquired
companies. The average monthly franchise revenue per cus-
tomer per month was ¥7,687 per customer per month for the
year ended December 31, 2007. Excluding Cable West, it
increased from ¥7,787 per customer per month for the year
ended December 31, 2006 to ¥7,946 per customer per month
for the year ended December 34, 2007.

Churn Rate

The average monthly churn rates for our cable television, high-
speed Internet and telephony services averaged 1.1%, 1.3%
and 0.8%, respectively, for the year ended December 31, 2006
compared to 1.0%, 1.3% and 0.7%, respectively, for the year
ended December 31, 2007.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

@ Liquidity
Our principal sources of liquidity for working capital, capital
expenditures and investments are cash provided from opera-
tions and borrowings available under our loan faciiities.

We have typically financed the purchase of cable television
home terminals and other customer premise equipment using

capital leases. As of December 31, 2007, the obligaticns under -

outstanding capital leases aggregated ¥55,864 million. We also
had term loans outstanding as of December 31, 2007 from the
Development Bank of Japan (DBJ) of ¥18,301 million, of which
¥14,287 million is interest-free loans. The term of these DB)
loans range from 1 year to 12 years.

We believe that our current sources of liquidity are sufficient
to meet our needs through 2008. However, in the event major
investment or acquisition opportunities were to arise, we
might be required to seek additional debt or capital in order
to consummate such transactions.
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@ Cash Flows

For the year ended December 31, 2007, our cash and cash
equivalents increased by ¥2 404 million, from ¥20,486 million
to ¥22,890 million, primarily as a result of cash provided by
operating activities, offset by cash used for capital expendi-
tures, payment of long-term debt and capital lease obligations.
Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities

Net cash provided by operating activities was ¥95,226 million
for the year ended December 31, 2007, compared to ¥80,003
million for the year ended December 31, 2006, or an increase
of ¥15,223 million, or 19%. The increase was primarily the result
of a ¥21,220 million increase in revenue less selling, general
and administrative and operating expenses {exclusive of stock-
hased compensation and depreciation and amortization).

Net Cash Used in Investing Activities

Net cash used in investing activities was ¥52,728 million for
the year ended December 31, 2007, compared to ¥121,601
million for the year ended December 31, 2006, or 3 decrease
of ¥68,873 million, primarily due to a ¥56,771 million decrease
in acquisition of new subsidiaries, net of cash acquired.




Net Cash Provided by (Used in) Financing Activities

Net cash used in financing activities was ¥40,094 million for
the year ended December 31, 2007 and net cash provided by
financing activities was ¥26,801 million for the year ended
December 31, 2006. Net cash used in financing activities for
the year ended December 31, 2007 consisted of ¥24,751
million net payments of short-term loans and long-term debt,
¥15,689 million of principle payments under capital lease obli-
gations and ¥7,520 million repurchase of our common stock,
offset by ¥2,973 million of proceeds from issuance of common
stock and ¥4,893 million from other financirg activities, net.

@ Factors Affecting Future Sources of Liquidity

Our future sources of working capital and liguidity depend

upon a number of factors, including the following:

* the amount of cash provided by operating activities, which
will primarily be affected by our ability to generate operating
income;

@ Contractual Commitments

* the quality of our ¢redit and our credit ratings, which will impact
our borrowing costs and our ability to raise additional funds;

* the general interest rate environment and our ability to
reduce our indebtedness through the application of operat-
ing cash flow, thereby increasing future borrowing availabil-
ity under our syndicated loan facility; and

» future market conditions for the issuance of our debt and
equity secunties.

B Capital Expenditures

Capital expenditures, including capital lease additions, de-
creased by ¥622 million, or 1%, from ¥65,903 million for the
year ended December 31, 2006 to ¥65,281 million for the year
ended December 31, 2007. As a percentage of revenue,
capital expenditures were approximately 30% and 25% in
2006 and 2007, respectively.

Qur principal outstanding contractual obligations relate to our short-term loans, long-term debt under our term loans, capital
leases, non-cancellable operating leases and certain equipment financing contracts and other obligations. The following iable
summarizes our contractual cash obligations as of December 31, 2007 for the periods indicated.

Yen in Millicns

Total 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 Thereafter

Short-term loans ¥ 2,625 ¥ 2,625 ¥ — ¥ — ¥ — ¥ - | J—

Long-term debt (excluding interest} 164,527 21,308 21,01 20,910 18,708 10,128 72,402

Capital leases 55.864 14,619 13,239 11,606 B8.404 5.330 2,666

Non-cancellable operating leases 7,588 2,991 1,069 952 692 481 1,403

Non-cancellable purchase commitments 4,826 2178 1,194 982 236 236 —

Total contractual cash obligations ¥235,430 ¥43,721 ¥36,573 ¥34,450 ¥28,040 ¥16,175 ¥76,41
Projected cash interest payments on debt

and capital lease obligations™ ¥ 14,433 ¥ 3,956 ¥ 3412 ¥ 2,752 ¥ 2,113 ¥ 1,560 ¥ 690

* Based on interest rates and contractual maturities in effect on December 31, 2007

8 Contingent Liabilities

and Off-Balance Sheet Transactions
We do not presently have any material contingent liabilities or
off-balance sheet transactions.

@ Interest Rates
Qur primary market risk exposure consists of risk related to
changes in interest rates related to our variable rate debt. We
utilize interest rate swap agreements to hedge a portion of
this risk. We do not use derivative instruments for speculative
or trading purposes.

At December 31, 2007, ¥107,926 million, or 65%, of the
total outstanding short-term loans and long-term debt has

variable rates and is sensitive to changes in market interest
rates. The Company has in place interest rate swap agree-
ments for ¥85,295 million, or 79%, of all variable rate debt,
which effectively converts such portions of our Japanese yen
LIBOR-indexed and TIBOR-indexed debt to fixed rate debt and
limits our exposure to changes in market rates. Taking the
interest rate swap agreements into account, a 1% increase in
the market average would result in an increase in our annual
interest expense of approximately ¥226 million. This amount is
determined by considering the impact of hypothetical interest
rates on our borrowing cost but does not consider all the
effects of the reduced level of overall economic activity that
could exist in such an environment.
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Critical Accounting Policies, Judgments and Estimates

The preparation of the ¢onsolidated financial statements
reguired us to make estimates and assumpticns that affected
the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, revenue and
expenses and related disclosure of contingent assets and
liabilities at the date of our financial statements. Actual results
may differ from those estimates under different assumptions
or conditions. Critical accounting policies are defined as those
palicies that are reflective of significant judgments and uncer-
tainties, which would potentially result in materially different
results under different assumptions and conditions. We believe
aur judgments and related estimates associated with the
evaluation for impairment of long-lived and indefinite-lived
assets, fair value of acquisition-related assets and liabilities,
capitalization of construction and installation costs, and
income tax accounting to be critical in the preparation of our
consolidated financial statementis. These accounting estimates
or assumptions are critical because of the levels of judgment
necessary to account for matters that are inherently uncertain
or highly susceptible to change. For a summary of all of our
significant accounting policies, see Note 1 to Consolidated
Financial Statements.

@ Evaluation for Impairment of Long-Lived and

Indefinite-Lived Assets
The net carrying value of our property and eguipment, intan-
gible asset and goodwill (collectively, long-lived assets) com-
prised 89% and 87% of our total assets at December 31,
2006 and December 31, 2007, respectively. Pursuant to SFAS
No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets, and SFAS No.
144, Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived
Assets, we are required to assess the recoverability of our
leng-lived assets.

We evaluate property and equipment for potential impair-
ment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate
that its carrying amount may not be recoverable. In the event
that these periodic assessments reflect that the carrying
amount of property and equipment exceeds the sum of the
undiscounted cash flows {excfuding interest} that are expected
to result from the use and eventual disposition of the property
and equipment, we would recognize an impairment loss to the
extent the carrying amount exceeded the estimated fair value
of the property and equipment. The estimate of expected
future net cash flows is inherently unceriain and relies on
subjective assumptions dependent upon future and current
market conditions and events that affect the ultimate value
of the property and equipment.

The net carrying value of our goodwill is also significant. We
are required on an annual basis to assess unamortized good-
will for impairment in accordance with the provisions of SFAS
Na. 142, which is a two-step process. The first step requires
that we identify our reporting units and then determine the
fair value for each individual reporting unit. We then compare
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the {air value of each reporting unit to the reporting unit’s
carrying amount. To the extent a reporting unit's carrying
amount exceeds the fair value, we perform the next step of
the impairment test. The next step requires us to compare the
implied fair value of the reporting unit's goodwill, determined
by allocating the reporting unit’s fair value to all of the assets
and liabilities, including those assets previously not recognized.
If the implied fair value of a reporting unit's goodwill is less
than the carrying value, an impairment loss would be record-
ed. We determine fair market value based on estimated dis-
counted future cash flows, using reasonable and appropriate
assumptions that are consistent with our internal forecasts.
Qur assumptions also include other factors, such as penetra-
tion rates for our different services (cable television, high-
speed Internet and telephony), expected operating margins
and capital expenditures. Considerable management judgment
is necessary to estimate future cash flows, including those
relating to the timing and amount of future cash flows and the
discount rate used in the calculation.

We did not record any impairment losses for the years
ended December 31, 2006 and 2007. As noted above, the
valuations involve considerable management judgment.
However, our estimate of future cash flows, based on our
assumptions, is subject to revision as our assessment of market
cenditions changes. If we determine it is necessary to recog-
nize a material impairment in future periods, our financial
condition and results of operations could be adversely affected.

@ Fair Value of Acquisition-Related Assets and Liabilities
We allocate the purchase price of acquired companies or
acquisitions of minority interests of a subsidiary to the identifi-
able assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on their
estimated fair values. In determining fair value, management
is required to make estimates and assumpticns that affect the
recorded amounts. To assist in this process, third party valua-
tion specialists generally are engaged to value certain of these
assets and liabilities. Estimates used in valuing acguired assets
and liabilities include, but are not limited to, expected future
cash flows, market comparables and appropriate discount
rates. Management's estimates of fair value are based on
assumptions believed to be reascnable, but which are inher-
ently uncertain.

@ Capitalization of Construction and Installation Costs
In accordance with SFAS No. 51, Financial Reporting by Cable
Television Companies, we capitalize costs associated with the
construction of new cable transmission and distribution facili-
ties and the instatlation of new cable services. Capitalized
construction and installation costs include materials, labor and
applicable overhead costs. Installation activities that are capi-
talized include (i) the initial connection {(ar drop) from our
cable systemn to a customer location, (i) the replacement of



a drop and (iii} the installation of equipment for additional
services, such as digital cable, telephone or broadband
Internet service. The costs of other customer-facing activities,
such as reconnecting customer locations where a drop already
exists, disconnecting customer locations and repairing or
maintaining drops, are expensed. Significant judgment is
involved in the determination of the nature and amount of
internal costs to be capitalized with respect to construction
and installation activities.

@ Derivative Instruments

We use certain derivative financial instruments to manage our
foreign currency and interest rate exposure. We may enter into
forward contracts to reduce our exposure to short-term {gen-
erally not more than one year) maovements in exchange rates
applicable to firm funding commitments that are denominated
in currencies other than Japanese yen. We use interest rate
derivative instruments, such as interest rate swaps, to manage
interest costs to achieve an overall desired mix of fixed and
variable rate debt. As a matter of policy, we do not enter into
derivative contracts for trading or speculative purposes,

We account for our derivative instruments in accordance
with SFAS No. 133, Accounting for Derivative Instruments and
Hedging Activities, and SFAS No. 138, Accounting for Certain
Derivative Instruments and Certain Hedging Activities — an
Amendment of SFAS No. 133. SFAS No. 133, as amended,
requires that all derivative instruments be reported on the
balance sheet as either assets or liabilities measured at fair
value. For derivative instruments designated and effective as
fair value hedges, changes in the fair value of the derivative
instrument and of the hedged item attributable to the hedged
risk are recognized in earnings. For derivative instruments
designated as cash flow hedges, the effective portion of any
hedge is reported in other comprehensive income until it is
recognized in earnings in the same period in which the
hedged item affects earnings. The ineffective portion of all
hedges is recognized in current earnings each périod. Changes
in fair value of derivative instruments that are not designated
as a hedge are recorded each period in current earnings.

We formally document all relationships between hedging
instruments and hedged items, as well as our risk-manage-
ment objective and strategy for undertaking hedge transac-
tions. This process includes linking all derivatives that are
designated as fair value or cash flow hedges to specific assets
and liabilities on the balance sheet or to specific firm commit-
ments or forecasted transactions. We discontinue hedge
accounting prospectively when (i) it is determined that the
derivative is no longer effective in offsetting changes in the
fair value of cash flows of a hedged item; (i} the derivative
expires or is sold, terminated, or exercised; (iii) it is determined
that the forecasted hedged transaction will ne longer occur;
{iv) a hedged firm commitment no longer meets the definition

of a firm commiiment; or {v) management determines that the
designation of the derivative as a hedge instrument is no
longer appropriate. Ongoing assessments of effectiveness are
made every three months.

We had saveral outstanding forward contracts with a
commercial bank to hedge foreign currency exposures related
to U.S. dollar denominated equipment purchases and other
firm commitments. As of December 31, 2006 and 2007, such
forward contracts had an aggregate notional amount of
¥1,399,163 thousand and ¥708,328 thousand,respectively,
and expire on various dates through January 2009. These
forward contracts have not been designated as accounting
hedges. However, we believe such forward contracts are closely
related with the firm commitments designated in U.S. dollars,
thus managing associated currency risk.

We also had several outstanding forward contracts with
a commercial bank to hedge foreign currency exposures
related to U.S. dollar denominated firm commitments. As of
December 31, 2006, we did not have such outstanding for-
ward contracts, but as of December 31, 2007, such forward
contracts had an aggregate notional amount of ¥1,772 million
and expire on various dates through October 2010. We also
had several interest rate swap agreements to manage variable
rate debt. These interest rate exchange agreements effectively
fix the TIBOR and Japanese yen LIBOR compenents of variable
interest rates on borrowings of ¥85,295 million that matures
between June 2009 and October 2013. These forward con-
tracts and interest rate exchange agreements are designated
and documented as cash flow hedging instruments.

M Income Tax Accounting

We are required to estimate the amount of tax payable or
refundable for the current year and the deferred tax assets
and liabilities for the future tax conseguences attributable to
differences between the financial statement carrying amounts
and income tax basis of assets and liabilities and the expected
benefits of utilizing net operating loss and tax ¢redit carryfor-
wards, using enacted tax rates in effect for each taxing juris-

_diction in which we cperate for the year in which those

temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled.
This process requires our management o make assessments
regarding the timing and probability of the ultimate tax impact
of such items.

Net deferred tax assets are reduced by a valuation allow-
ance if we believe it more-likely-than-not such net deferred tax
assets will not be realized. Establishing a tax valuation allow-
ance requires us to make assessments about the timing of
future events, including the probability of expected future
taxable income and available tax planning strategies. At
Decernber 31, 2007, the valuation atlowance provided against
deferred tax assets was ¥1,849 million. Actual income taxes
could vary from these estimates due to future changes in the
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income tax law in the jurisdictions in which we operate, our
inability to generate sufficient future taxable income, differ-
ences between estimated and actual results or unpredicted
results from the final determination of each year’s liability by
taxing authorities. Any of such factors could have a material
effect on our current and deferrad tax position as reported
in the accompanying consolidated financial statements. A
high degree of judgment is required to assess the impact

Business Risks

Iy its business activities, the J:COM Group faces risks that
could materially impact investment decisions. Certain of these
risks are outlined below. However, the following risks do not
include all of the risks faced by the Group; the Group faces
other risks in addition to those cutlined below. The Group is
doing everything reasonable to avoid these types of risks.

Unless otherwise clearly stated, the forward-looking state-
ments in this section are the Group's judgments, targets, and
forecasts based on assumptions and hypotheses as of March
27, 2008; the statements are not guarantees that the future
will unfold exactly as forecast.

@ Potential Risks within the J:COM Group

Subscriber Acquisition Strategy

The Company's cable TV subscribers are broadly classified into
those living in detached housing and those living in multiple
dwelling units (MDUs). Residents of MDUs account for more
than half of the Company’s existing customers and potential
customers.

The Group is working to acquire connection centracts for
new MDUs, but if competing technology is used in new
MDUs, it is possible that the Group will not be able to acquire
the residents of those MDUs as subscribers. In addition, due to
such factors as changes in existing relationships with owners
of rental-purpose MDUs, it is possible that the Group will lose
existing subscribers. As a result, the Group’s financial condi-
tion and operating results could be affected.

Securing Sales Representatives

The Group is transitioning from contract sales representatives
to directly employed sales representatives. However, in the
event that sales representatives cannot be effectively secured
or trained, it is possible that the Group will not be able to
implement efficient marketing activities as planned and that
the Group will lose existing subscribers and potential subscrib-
ers. As a result, the Group’s financial condition and operating
results could be affected.

Additional Network Investment

Against a background of rapid growth in network technology
and in the markets served by the Group, J:COM faces a continuing
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of possible future outcomes on our current and deferred tax
positions. For additional information, see Note 8 to Consalidated
Financial Statements.

B Recent Accounting Pronouncements

See Note 1, section 3 (u) “Accounting Changes and Recent
Accounting Pronouncements,” to Consolidated Financial
Statements.

need to enhance the capabilities and reliability of its networks.
However, it is possible that the service content provided by the
Group could become obsolete due to rapid technological
innovation.

Also, it is possible that the Group might not be able to
acquire the funds, equipment, or regulatory approval needed
to improve or extend its networks. As a result, the Group’s
competitiveness could decline and there could be a major
effect on the Group’s operations.

Fluctuations in the Group's Consolidated Performance
Fixed costs and variable costs arising in advance of revenues
account for a large share of the Group's expenses. Therefore,
it is possible that timing differences in the recognition of
revenue and expenses could result in substantial fluctuations
in quarterly performance. In the event that this situation
cannot be handled appropriately, the ability of the Group to
conduct its operations efficiently could be affected.
Compliance Risks

The Information Security Committee, which reports directly to
the president, meets periodically, and the Group has formu-
lated security issue countermeasures for all systems.

In regard to initiatives in the area of protecting personal
information, Privacy Mark certification has been received at
nearly all Group companies. Moreover, the Group has estab-
lished a system to monitor the networks of each Group com-
pany to enable quick responses to problems. However, in the
event that there is a leak of personal information despite these
measures, there could be an adverse influence, in various
ways, on the Group’s results.

B Transaction Risks

Cable TV Programs

The Group procures content for its cable TV services from
third parties. In cases such as those described below, the
Group could encounter difficulties in obtaining attractive
content and, as a result, could lose existing subscribers as well
as potential subscribers. As a result, the Group's financial
condition and operating results could be affected.




» A positive relationship with a company that supplies pro-
grams, including competitors, ends.

* A content provider cannot adequately discharge its obliga-
tion to supply content and the Group is unable to procure
programs from another supplier.

* Programs can be procured but not at reasonable prices.

Network Infrastructure

To establish networks that connect managed companies, the

Group, except when it does its own construction, must lease

optical fiber cables from other companies, such as the NTT

Group and regional electric power companies. However, in

certain situations, such as if the Group is unable to renew

contracts with third parties concerning the use of such facili-
ties as telephone poles or optical fiber cables, service to the

Group's customers could be interrupted and a substantial cost

burden could be incurred from the building of an alternate

network. As a result, the Group’s financial condition and
operating results could be affected.

Outside Suppliers

In general, the Group sources the hardware necessary to provide

its existing and new services from multiple equipment suppli-

ers. If the suppliers of this hardware fail to deliver the equip-
ment on schedule or manufacture defective equipment, the

Group's cable TV service subscription revenues could decline

and the Group's reputation could be damaged. As a result,

the Group's financial condition and operating results could
be affected.

@ Market and Competitive Relationships

Competition among Companies

As a result of intensified competition in the markets for cable
TV, high-speed Internet access, and telephony services, there
could be an increase in cancellations by existing subscribers
and a slowing in the acquisition of new subscribers, leading to
greater price competition. As a result, the Group's financial
condition and operating results could be affected.

Market Growth Potential

The cable TV and high-speed Internet service access markets
have exhibited steady growth in recent years, but there were
signs in the fiscal year under review that the growth rates of
these markets are slowing.

The Group will continue working to implement its growth
strategies. However, due to various factors, the Group might
not be able to maintain the current growth rate or might not
grow at all. A slowdown in the growth of these markets or a
contraction in demand could have a substantial adverse im-
pact on the Greup's financial condition and operating results.
Company Acquisitions to Expand Operations
As one of its future growth strategies, the Group plans to
continue to acquire companies offering cable TV or broadband
services and to make them Group companies. However, if new
company acquisitions are restricted, due to a range of possible
factors, the Group’s financial condition and operating results
could be affected.

Also, in the event that revenues and profits following the
acquisition substantially fall below the plans at the time of the
acquisition, it could be necessary to record impairment of.
goodwill, etc., and, as a result, the Group's financial condition
and operating results could be affected.

@ Legal Risks

Government Regulations

The Group's operations in Japan are subject to many laws and
requlations. If the Group does not comply with the applicable
rules and regulations or the terms of licensing, its authoriza-
tion and registration could be revoked, and the Group could
be forced to suspend or cease its operations. Also, in the
future, there could be difficulties in the acquisition of approv-
als, registrations, or notifications.

Furthermore, in the event that new regulations are passed in
the fusure, the Group's provision of services could be impacted
and the Group’s operating costs could increase in response to
that impact. As a result, the Group's financial condition and
operating results could be affected.

Legal Revisions

Due to changes in laws or regulations or in their interpretation
or enforcement by the Ministry of internal Afiairs and
Communications {(MIC), the entry of new competitors could be
promoted, and the Group's competitiveness coutd be adverse-
ly affected. Further, in December 2007 MIC announced a
policy of unifying six communications and broadcasting re-
lated laws into the provisionally named Information
Communications Law, with enforcement scheduled for 2011.
The Group cannot rule out the possibility that future revisions
of the Cable Television Broadcast Law, the
Telecommunications Business Law, and the Law Concerning
Broadcast on Telecommunications Service, as well as relevant
ministry ordinances and other rules and regulations, could limit
the Group’s operations. Such amendments could affect the
Group’s financial condition and operating results.

@ Risks from man-made or Natural Disasters
The services provided by the Group could be disrupted by
natural disasters, such as fires, earthquakes, or floods; by
equipment failure caused by such disasters; and by electric
power Backouts. In addition, the Group's services could be
cut off due to network software defects, unauthorized access,
computer viruses, and the severance of cables as well as by
accidents caused by third parties or the actions of third parties.
The Group strives to maintain back-up systems for its net-
works and hosting facilities, but in cases when technical
infrastructure of the Group or the Group's service providers is
damaged, the Group's operating activities could be halied.
The fallout from these kinds of events could erode confidence
in the Group and have a material impact on the Group’s
financial condition and operating results.
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‘Consolidated Balance Sheets

Jupiter Telecormunications Co., Ltd. and Subsidiaries
Years ended December 31

Yen in Millions
2006 2007
ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents ¥ 20,486 ¥ 22,890
Accounts receivable, less allowance for doubtful accounts of
¥378 millien in 2006 and ¥356 million in 2007 13,867 12,842
Deferred tax assets (Note 8} 11,877 11,738
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 4,669 5,164
Total current assets 50,899 52,634
Investments:
Investments in aﬁiliates: {Notes 3 and 5} 2,469 19,502
Investmenits in other securities, at cost 801 2,139
3,270 21,641
Property and equipment, at cost (Notes 5 and 7}
Land 2,845 2,789
Distribution system and equipment 480,363 523,599
Support equipment and buildings 32,554 39,148
515,762 565,536
Less accumulated depreciation . (180,594) (228,341)
335,168 337,195
Other assets:
Goodwill (Notes 2 and 4) 202,267 221,493
Intangible assets, net (Note 4) 21,181 32,862
Deferred tax assets (Note 8) 5,629 4,423
Other 7,534 10,168
236,611 268,946
Total assets ¥ 625,948 ¥ 680,416

Annual Report 2007



LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current liabilities:

Yen in Millions
2006 2007
Short-term loans (Note 6} ¥ 2,000 ¥ 2625
Long-term debt—current portion (Notes 6 and 12) 16,158 21,308
Capital lease obligations—current pertion {Notes 5 and 7}:
Related parties 10,893 11,671
Other 1,988 2,947
Accounts payable 26,166 24,279
Deposit from affiliate (Note 5) — 3,536
Deferred revenue—current portion (Note 1} 4,862 6,088
Income tax payable 341 7,082
Accrued expenses and other liabilities 5,424 6,236
Total current liabilities 70,902 85,772
| Long-term debt, less current portion (Notes 6 and 12} 173,455 143,219
| Capital lease obligations, less current portion (Notes 5 and 7):
| Related parties 30,595 34,335
Other 6,986 6,911
Deferred revenue (Note 1) . 55,044 54,708
Redeemable preferred stock of consolidated subsidiary (Note 10} 500 500
Deferred tax liabilities (Note 8) 4,604 12,643
Other liabilities (Notes 8 and 9} 2,516 6,920
Total liabilities 344,602 345,008

Commitments and contingencies (Note 14}

Minority interests - 4,050 5,399
Shareholders’ equity {Note 11):
Ordinary shares no par value 115,232 116,734

Authorized 15,000,000 shares: issued 6,382,611.74 shares at
December 31, 2006 and 6,927,357.74 shares at December 31, 2007

Additional paid-in capital 196,335 231,493

Accumulated deficit {(34,071) (10,079)
Treasury stock at cost: 0.74 shares at December 31, 2006 and

80,000.74 shares at December 31, 2007 (0} (7.520)

Accumulated other comprehensive loss (200} (619)

Total shareholders’ equity 277,296 330,009

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity ¥625,948 ¥680,416

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Income

Jupiter Telecommunications Co., Ltd, and Subsidiaries
Years ended December 31

Yen in Millions, except share and per share amounts

2006 2007
Revenue (Note 5):
Subscription fees ¥196,515 ¥ 230,061
Other 25,400 34,447
221,915 264,508
Operating costs and expenses:
Operating and programming {other than depreciation and amortization)
{including stock-based compensation of ¥95 million in 2006 and ¥35 million in 2007)
{Notes 1,5, and 11} {92,297 {104,748)
Selling, general and administrative (including stock-based compensation of
¥237 million in 2006 and ¥105 million in 2007)
(Notes 1, 5, and 11) {43,992) (52,722)
Depreciation and amortization {Note 1} (54,044) (64,222)
{190,333) (221,692)
Operating income 31,582 42,816
Other income (expense):
Interest expense, net:
Related parties (Note 5) (1,109) (1,332)
Other (2.413) (2,944)
Equity in earnings of affiliates {inclusive of stock compensation expense of .
¥2 million in 2006 and ¥1 million in 2007) {Notes 1, 3, and 11) n 291
Other income, net 253 558
Income before minority interest and income taxes 28,684 39,389
Minority interest in net income of consolidated subsidiaries (1,181) (1,883)
Income before incorme taxes 27,503 37,506
Income tax expense (Note 8) {3.022) (13,514)
Net income ¥ 24,481 ¥ 23992 .
Net income per share:
Basic ¥ 3,845 ¥ 3,650
Diluted ¥ 3838 ¥ 3,639
Weighted average number of shares outstanding:
Basic 6,367,220 6,572,638
Diluted 6,378,001 6,593,130

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements,

Annual Report 2007



Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity

lupiter Telecommunications Ce., Ltd. and Subsidiaries
Years ended December 31

Yen in Millions, except per share amounts

Accumulated
i Other Total
Additional  Accumulated  Comprehensive Shareholders’
Ordinary Shares Paid-in Capital Deficit tncome {Loss}  Treasury Stock Equity

Balance at January 1, 2006 ¥ 114,481 ¥ 195,219 ¥ (58,353) ¥ 98 ¥ (0) ¥ 251,445
Net income — — 24,481 — — 24,481
Other comprehensive loss, net of iaxes — — - (298) — (298)
Stock-based compensation {Notes 1 anc 11) — 334 — — — 334
Ordinary shares issuad

upon exercise of stock aptions 751 . .782 — — — 1,533
Repurchase of comman stock — — — — (0} (0)
Unrecognized loss of acquired companies — — (199) — — (199)
Balance at December 31, 2006 ¥ 115,232 ¥ 196,335 ¥ (34,071) ¥ (200} ¥ {0} ¥ 277,290
Net income — — 23,992 — —_ 23,992
Other comprehensive loss, net of taxes — — — (419) - (419}
Stock-based compensation (Notes 1 and 11) — 141 —_ — — 141
Ordinzry shares issued

upon exercise of stock options 1,502 1,470 - — — 2,972
Repurchase of common stock — — — —_ (7.520) (7,520)
Issuance of common stock in connection ]

with acquisition {Note 2} — 33,547 — — — 33,547
Balance at December 31, 2007 ¥116,734  ¥231,493 ¥(10,079) ¥(619) ¥(2,520) ¥330,009

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income

Jupiter Telecommunications Co,, Ltd, and Subsidiaries
Years ended December 31

Yen in Millions
2006 2007

Net income ¥24. 481 ¥23,992
QOther comprehensive income {loss), net of taxes (Note 1):

Unrealized loss on cash flow hedge (311) (4186)

Reclassification adjustments for loss {income) on cash flow hedges included in net income 13 {3)

Other comprehensive loss, net of taxes {298) {419)

Comprehensive income ¥24.183 ¥23,573

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Jupiter Telecemmunicatiens Co., Ltd. and Subsidiaries
Years ended December 31

Yen in Millions
2006 2007
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income ¥ 24,481 ¥ 23,992
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 54,044 64,222
Equity in earnings of affiliates (371) (291)
Minority interest in net income of consolidated subsidiaries 1,181 1,883
Stock-based compensation expense 332 140
Deferred income tax (benefit) expense (1,328) 1,657
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, excluding effects of business combinations:
Decrease in accounts receivable, net 436 2,477
(Increase) decrease in prepaid expenses and other cutrent assets (674) 214
Decrease (increase) in other assets 1,102 (2,478)
Increase in accounts payable 864 412
Increase in accrued expenses and other liabilities 2,501 2,834
{Increase)} decrease in deferred revenue (2,565) 164
Net cash provided by operating activities 80,003 95,226
Cash flows from investing activities:
Capital expended for property and equipment (48,460} (46,348)
Cash paid in connection with acquisitions, net of cash acquired (56,137} 634
Acquisition of minority interest in consolidated subsidiaries (17,587) (2,543)
Investments in related party — (1,138)
Loans to related parties — (5,166)
Principal repayment received from related party — 1,350
Other investing activities, net 583 483
Net cash used in investing activities (121,601) (52,728)
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from issuance of common stock 1,533 2,973
Purchase of common stock 0} (7,520)
Net increase in short-term loans 93 335
Borrowings of long-term debt 106,789 613
Repayments of long-term debt (66,975) (25,699)
Repayments of capital lease obligations (13,455} (15,689)
Other financing activities, net (1,184) 4,893
Net cash provided by (used in} financing activities 26,801 (40,094)
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents {14,797} 2,404
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 35,283 20,486
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year ¥ 20,486 ¥ 22,890

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements,
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Jupiter Telecommunications Ce., Ltd. and Subsidiaries
Years ended December 31

1. Description of Business, Basis of Financial Statements and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

@ Business and Organization

Jupiter Telecommunicaticns Co., Ltd. (*Jupiter”) and its subsid-
iaries (“the Company") own and operate cable telecommuni-
cations systems throughout Japan and provide cable television
services, telephony and high-speed internet access services
{collectively, "Broadband communications services”). The
telecommunications industry in Japan is highly regulated by
the Ministry of Internal Affairs and Communications {(*MIC").
In general, franchise rights granted by the MIC to the
Company’s subsidiaries for operation of cable telecommunica-
tions systems in their respective localities are not exclusive.

On February 18, 2005, as a result of the Company's IPO
announcement, LGl International, Inc. {"LGI Internaticnal ")
{formerly known as Liberty Media International Inc.) obtained
a controlling interest in the Company's parent company, LGI/
Sumisho Super Media, LLC ("SM"), a company indirectly owned
69.7% by LGl International and 30.3% by Sumitomo
Corporation {“SC"). As a result, SM became a 65.23% share-
hotder of the Compary. On June 15, 2005, LGl International
became a wholly owned subsidiary of Liberty Global Inc. {"LGI"),
whose shares are listed on the NASDAQ Global Select Market. In
the following text, LGI, as the content requires, may refer to LGI
and its predecessor {(LGI International) and subsidiaries. The
Company is an indirect consolidated subsidiary of LGI.

On March 23, 2605, the Company received net proceeds
of ¥82,043 million in connection with an IPC of its common
sharés, and an April 20, 2005 received additional net proceeds
of ¥8,445 million in connection with the sale of common
shares upon the exercise of the underwriters’ over-allotment
option. The Company used a portion of the net proceeds
received in March to repay in full a then existing ¥50 billion
subordinated syndicated facility.

On July 2, 2007, SC Media and Commerce, Inc. ("SC Media”)
{formerly known as Jupiter TV Co., Ltd.) was split into two
separate companies through the spin-off of the thematics
channel business ("JTV Thematics”). On September 1, 2007,
the Company acquired JTV Thematics, which invests in, devel-
ops, manages and distributes fee-based television program-
ming. This acquisition enables the Company to bring key
programming genres to the Japanese market and io promote
the development of quality programming services. Through
JTV Thematics, the Company develops, manages and distri-
utes pay television services in Japan on a platform-neutral
basis through various distribution infrastructures, principally
cable and direct-to-home {DTH) service providers, and more
recently, alternative broadband service providers using fiber-
to-the-home (FTTH) and ADSL platforms. See Note 2 for
additional information. .

@ Basis of Financial Statements

The Company maintains its books of account in conformity
with financial accounting standards of Japan. The consolidated
financial statements presented herein have been prepared in a
manner and reflect certain adjustments which are necessary
to conform to accounting principles generally accepted in the
U.S. ("GAAP"). These adjustments include those related to the
scope of consolidation and the accounting for business combi-
nations, income taxes, goodwill and intangible assets, leases,
stock-based compensation, deferred revenue, asset retirement
obligations, derivative financial instruments, revenue recogni-
tion, post-retirement benefits, depreciation and amortization,
and accruals for certain expenses.

@ Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(a) Principles of Consolidation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include
the Company's accounts and the accounts of all voting interest
entities where the Company exercises a controfling financial
interest through the ownership of a direct or indirect control-
ling voting interest and a variable interest entities which the
Company is the primary beneficiary. All significant intercom-
pany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in
consolidation. For the consolidated subsidiaries with a nega-
tive equity position, the Company recognizes the entire
amount of losses of such subsidiaries regardless of its owner-
ship percentage.

(b) Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash equivalents consist of all investments that are readily
canvertible intc cash and have maturities of three manths or
less at the time of the acquisition. The Company's significant
non-cash investing activities are disclosed in Note 13.

{¢) Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

Receivables are reported net of allowance for doubtful ac-
counts. The allowance for doubtful accounts is based on the
Company's assessment of probable loss related to uncollect-
ible accounts receivable. The Company uses a number of
factors in determining the allowance, including, among other
things, collection trends, prevailing and anticipated economic
conditions and specific customer credit risk. The allowance is
maintained until either receipt of payment or the likelihood of
collection is considered to be remote.

Concentration of credit risk with respect to trade receivables
is limited due to the large number of customers throughout
lapan. The Company alsc manages this risk by disconnecting
services to customers whaose accounts are delinquent.

Annual Report 2007 EB)




~

{d) Investments

For those investments in affiliates in which the Company’s
voting interest is 20% to 50% and the Company has the
ability to exercise significant influence over the affiliates’
operation and financial policies, the equity method of
accounting is used. Under this method, the investment

is originally recorded at cost and adjusted ta recognize the
Company's share of the net earnings or losses of the affiliates
as they occur, with the Company’s recognition of losses
generally limited to the extent of the investment in, advances
to and commitments to the investee. All significant intercom-
pany profits from these affiliates have been eliminated to the
extent of the Company’s ownership in transactions where
assets remain on the books of the Company or the investee.

Investments in other securities carried at cost represent
non-marketable equity securities in which the Company’s
ownership is less than 20% and the Company does not have
the ability to exercise significafnt influence over the entities’
operation and financial policies.

The Company evaluates its investments in affiliates and
non-marketable equity securities for impairment due to
declines in fair value considered to be other-than-temporary.
The primary factors considered in these evaluations are the
extent and length of time that the fair value of the investment
is below its carrying value, the financial condition, operating
performance and near-term prospects of the investee, chang-
es in the stock price or valuation subsequent to the bafance
sheet date and the impact of exchange rates, if applicable. In
addition, the reasons for the decline in fair value, such as (i)
general market conditions and (i} industry specific or investee
specific factors, as well as the Company’s intent and ability to
hold the investment for a period of time sufficient to allow for
a recovery in fair value are considered. If the decline in fair
value is deemed to be other-than-iemporary, the cost basis of
the security is written down to fair value. In situations where
the fair value of an investment is not evident due to a lack of
a public market price or other factors, management uses its
best estimates and assumptions to arrive at the estimated fair
value of such investment.

(e) Derivative instruments

The Company uses certain derivative financial instruments to
manage its foreign currency and interest rate exposure. The
Company may enter into forward contracts to reduce its
exposure to short-term (genérally not more than one year)
movements in exchange rates applicable to firm funding
commitments that are denominated in currencies other than
Japanese yen. The Company uses interest rate derivative
instruments, such as interest rate swaps, to manage interest
costs to achieve an overall desired mix of fixed and variable
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rate debt. As a matter of policy, the Company does not enter
into derivative contracts for trading or speculative purposes.

The Company accounts for its derivative instruments in
accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
{SFAS) No. 133, Accounting for Derivative Instruments anc
Hedging Activities (SFAS 133), and SFAS No. 138, Accounting
for Certain Derivative Instruments and Certain Hedging
Activities — an amendment of SFAS No. 133. SFAS 133, as
amended, requires that all derivative instruments be reported
on the balance sheet as either assets or liabilittes measured at
fair value. For derivative instruments designated and effective
as fair value hedges, changes in the fair value of the derivative
instrument and of the hedged item attributable to the
hedged risk are recognized in earnings. For derivative instru-
ments designated as cash flow hedges, the effective portion
of any hedge is reported in other comprehensive income until
it is recognized in earnings in the same period in which the
hedged item affects earnings. The ineffective portion of all
hedges is recognized in current earnings each period. Changes
in fair value of derivative instruments that are not designated
as a hedge are recorded each period in current earnings.

The Company formally documents all refationships between
hedging instruments and hedged items, as well as its risk-
management objective and strategy for undertaking hedge
transactions. This process includes linking all derivatives that
are designated as fair value or cash flow hedges to specific
assets and liabilities on the balance sheet or to specific firm
commitments or forecasted transactions. The Company
discontinues hedge accounting prospectively when (i} it is
determined that the derivative is no longer effective in offset-
ting changes in the fair value of cash flows of a hedged item;
{ii} the derivative expires or is sold, terminated or exercised;
{iii) it is determined that the forecasted hedged transaction
will no longer oceur; (iv} a hedged firm commitment no
longer meets the definition of a firm commitment; or {v)
management determines that the designation of the deriva-
tive as a hedge instrument is no longer appropriate. Ongoing
assessments of effectiveness are made every three months.

The Company had several outstanding forward contracts
with a commercial bank to hedge foreign currency exposures
related to U.S. dollar denominated equipment purchases and
other firm commitments. As of December 31, 2006 and
2007, such forward contracts had an aggregate notional
amount of ¥1,399,163 thousand and ¥708,328 thousand,
respectively, and expire on various dates through January -
2009. These forward contracts have not been designated
as accounting hedges. However, management believes such
forward contracts are closely related with the firm commit-
ments designated in U.S. dollars, thus managing associated
currency risk.



The Company also had several oujstanding forward éon-
tracts with a commercial bank to hedge foreign currency
exposures related to U.S. dollar denominated firm commit-
ments. As of December 31, 2006, the Company did not have
such outstanding forward contracts, but as of December 31,
2007, such forward contracts had an aggregate notional
amount of ¥1,771,902 thousand and expire on various dates
through October 2010. The Company also had several interest
rate swap agreements to manage variable rate debt. These
interest rate exchange agreements effectively fix the TIBOR
and Japanese Yen LIBOR components of variable interest rates
on borrowings of ¥85,294,720 thousand that matures be-
tween June 2009 and October 2013. These forward contracts
and interest rate exchange agreements are designated and
documented as cash flow hedging instruments.

(f) Programming Rights and Language Versioning

Rights to programming acquired for broadcast on the pro-
gramming channels and language versioning are stated at the
lower of cost ar net realizable value. Program right licenses
generally state a fixed time period within which a program can
be aired, and generally limit the number of times a program
can be aired. The licensor retains ownership of the program
upon expiration of the license. Programming rights and lan-
guage versioning costs are amortized over the license period
for the program rights based on the nature of the contract or
program. Where airing runs are limited, amortization is gener-
ally based on runs usage, and where usage is unlimited, a
straight-line basis is used as an estimate of actual usage for
amortization purposes. Certain sports programs are amortized
fully upon first airing. Such amortization is included in operat-
ing and programming costs in the accompanying consolidated
statements of :ncome. The portion of unamortized program
rights and language versioning costs expected to be amortized
within one year is included in other current assets in the
accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

{g) Property and Equipment

Property and equipment, including construction materials,

are carried at cost, which includes all direct costs and certain
indirect costs associated with the construction of cable televi-
sion transmission and distribution systems, as well as and the
costs of new subscriber installations. Depreciation is computed
on a straight-line method using estimated useful lives, which
are as follows:

Asset Descrintion Estimated Useful Lives

Distribution system and equipment
Buildings and structures
Support equipment

10 to 17 years
15 to 40 years
510 15 years

Equipment under capital leases is stated at the present value
of minimum lease payments. Equipment under capital leases is
amortized on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease
term or estimated useful life of the asset, which ranges from 2
to 20 years. The useful lives used to depreciate cable distribu-
tion systems are assessed periodically and are adjusted when
warranted. The useful lives of systems that are undergoing a
rebuild are adjusted such that the property and eguipment to
be retired will be fully depreciated by the time the rebuild is
complete.

In accordance with SFAS No. 51, Financial Reporting by
Cable Television Companies {SFAS 51), the Company capitalizes
costs associated with the construction of new cable transmis-
sion and distribution facilities and the installation of new cable
services. Capitalized construction and installation costs include
materials, labor and applicable overhead costs. Installation
activities that are capitalized include (i) the initial connection
(or drop} from the Company’s cable system to a customer
location, (i) the replacement of a drop and (iii} the installation
of equipment for additionat services, such as digital cable,
telephone or broadband Internet service. The costs of other
custorner-facing activities, such as reconnecting locations
where a drop already exists, disconnecting customer locations
and repairing or maintaining drops, are expensed as incurred.

Included in support equipment is certain capitalized devel-
opment costs associated with internal-use software, including
external costs of material and services and payroll costs for
employees devoting time to the software projects. These costs
are amortized over a period not to exceed five years beginning
when the asset is substantially ready for use. Costs incurred
during the preliminary project stage, as well as maintenance
and training costs, are expensed as incurred.

Ordinary maintenance and repairs are charged 1o income as

_incurred. Major replacements and improvements are capital-

ized. When property and equipment is retired or otherwise
disposed, the cost and related accumulated depreciation
accounts are relieved of the applicable amounts and any
differences are included in depreciation expense. The impact
of such retirements and disposals resulted in additional depre-
ciation expense of ¥2,367,972 thousand and ¥2,153,515
thousand for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2007,
respectively.

According to the guidance in SFAS No. 143, Accounting for
Asset Retirement Obligation (SFAS 143), as interpreted by
Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Interpretation
No. 47, Accounting for Conditional Asset Retirement
Obligations (FIN 47), the Company recognizes a liability for
asset retirement obligations in the period in which it is
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incurred if sufficient information is available to make a reason-
able estimate of fair value. The Company has determined that
conditional legal obligations exist for certain of the Company's
leased facilities and certain cable distribution and equipment,
As of December 31, 2006 and 2007, the fair value of the
Company’s asset retirement obligations was ¥1,689,598
thousand and ¥1,758,439 thousand, respectively, and is
included in other liabilities in the accompanying consolidated
balance sheets.

(h} Goodwill

Goodwill represents the difference primarily between the

cost of the acquired cable television companies and amounts
allocated to the estimated fair value of their net assets. The
Company performs an assessment of goodwill for impairment
at least annually on October 1 and more frequently if an
indicator of impairment has occurred using a two-step pro-
cess. The first step requires identification of reporting units
and determination of the fair vatue for each individual report-
ing unit. The fair value of each reperting unit is then compared
to the reporting unit's carrying amount including assigned
goodwill. To the extent a reporting unit’s carrying amount
exceeds its fair valug, the second step of the impairment test

is performed by comparing the implied fair value of the report-
ing unit's goodwill to its carrying amount. If the implied fair
value of a reporting unit’s goodwill is less than the carrying
amount, an impairment loss is recorded. The Company per-
forms its annual impairment test on the first day of October.
The Company has determined its reporting units to be the
same as its reportable segments. The Company had no impair-
ment charges of goodwill for the years ended December 31,
2006 and 2007.

(i) Long-Lived Assets

The Company’s long-lived assets, excluding goodwill, are
reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset
may not be recoverahle, Recoverahility of assets to be held and
used is measured by comparing the carrying amount of an
asset to future net cash flows (undiscounted and without
interest) expected to be generated by the asset. If such assets
are considered to be impaired, the impairment to be recog-
nized is measured by the amount by which the carrying
amount of the assets exceeds the estimated fair value of the
assets. Assets to be disposed of are reported at the lower of
the carrying amount or fair value less costs to sell.

(j) Other Assets

Other assets include certain deferred financing costs, primarily
legal fees and bank facility fees, incurred to negotiate and
secure the Company's bank facitities. These costs are amortized

E) Annual Report 2007

to interest expense using straight-line method over the term
of the facility. For additional information concerning the
Company’s debt facilities, see Note 6.
(k) income Taxes
The Company and its subsidiaries account for income taxes
under the asset and liability method. Deferred tax assets
and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences
atiributable to differences between the financial statement
carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their
respective tax basis and the expected benefits of utilizing
net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards. Deferred tax
assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates
in effect for each taxing jurisdiction in which the Company
operates for the years in which those temporary differences
are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect on de-
ferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is
recognized in income in thé period that includes the enact-
ment date. The Company recognizes the financial statement
effects of a tax position when it is more-likely-than-not, based
on the technical merits, that the position will be sustained
upon examination. Deferred tax assets are then reduced by a
valuation allowance if the Company believes it is more-likely-
than-not such deferred tax assets will not be realized. Interest
and penalties related to income tax liabilities are included in
income tax expense.
(1) severance and Retirement Plans
Effective December 31, 2006, the Company adopted SFAS
No. 158, Employers” Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension
and Other Postretirement Plans — an Amendment of FASE
Statements No. 87, 88, 106 and 132(R} (SFAS 158). For addi-
tional information, see Note 9.
{m) Revenue Recognition
The Company recognizes cable television, high-speed Internet
access and telephony revenues when such services are provided
to subscribers. Initial subscriber installation revenues are recog-
nized in the period in which the related services are provided
to the extent of direct selling costs. Any remaining amount is
deferred and recognized over the estimated average period
that the subscribers are expected to remain connected to the
cable television system. Historically, installation revenues have
been less than related direct selling costs, and therefore, such
revenues have been recognized as installations are completed.
The Company recognizes programming service revenues
in the periods in which the programming services are provided
to cable, satellite and broadband subscribers. Revenues de-
rived from other sources are recognized when services are
provided, contracts are completed or events occur or products
are delivered.




The Company provides rebroadcasting services to noncable
television viewers who receive poor reception of broadcast
television signals as a result of obstacles that have been con-
structed by third parties. The Company enters into agreements
with these third parties, whereby the Company receives up-
front compensation to construct and maintain cable facilities
to provide rebroadcasting services to the affected viewers at
no cost to the viewers during the agreement period. Revenues
from these agreements have been deferred and are being
recognized in income on a straight-line basis over the agree-
ment periods, which are generally 20 years. During the years
ended December 31, 2006 and 2007, the Company recog-
nized revenue under these arrangements totaling ¥4,367
million and ¥5,604 million, respectively, which is included in
revenue—other in the accompanying consolidated statements
of income. Deferred revenue under these poor reception
rebroadcasting service arrangements included in the accom-
panying consolidated balance sheets as of December 31,

2006 and 2007 is as follows:

Yen in Millions
2006 2007
Deferred revenue PRC—current ¥ 3,695 ¥ 4,054
Deferred revenue PRC—noncurrent 54,044 54,195
Total deferred revenue PRC ¥58,739 ¥58,249

See Note 5 for a description of related party revenue which
is recorded in subscription revenue and other revenue in the
accompanying consolidated statements of income.

(n) Cost of Programming

Cost of programming consists of costs incurred to acquire or
produce programs airing on the channels distributed to cable,
satellite and broadband subscribers.

(o) Advertising Expense

Advertising expense is charged to income as incurred.
Advertising expense amounted to ¥1,629,524 thousand and
¥3,350,020 thousand for the years ended December 31, 2006
and 2007, respectively, and is included in selling, general and
administrative expenses in the accompanying consolidated
statements of income.

{p) Consumption Taxes

Revenue is recorded net of applicable consumption taxes.

{q) Stock-Based Compensation

In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 123 (R) (revised
2004). SFAS No. 123 (R} is a revision of SFAS No. 123,
Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation (SFAS 123), and
supersedes APB No. 25, Accounting for Stock fssued to
Employees (APB 25), and its related implementation guidance.
SFAS No. 123 (R) generally requires all share-based payments
to employees, including grants of employee stock options, to
be recognized in the financial statements based on their grant-
date fair values. SFAS No. 123 (R) also requires the fair value of
outstanding options vesting after the date of initial adoption
to be recognized as a charge to operations over the remaining
vesting period.

On January 1, 2006, the Company adopted the provisions
of SFAS No. 123 (R) using the modified prospective adoption
method. As a result of the adoption of SFAS No. 123 (R), the
Company began (i} using the fair value method to recognize
share-based compensation, (ii) estimating forfeitures for
purposes of recognizing the rémaining fair value of all unvest-
ed awards and (it} using the straight-line method to recognize
stock-based compensation expense for the Company’s ous-
standing stock awards granted after January 1, 2006 and the
accelerated expense attribution method for the Company's
outstanding stock awards granted prior to January 1, 2006.

The Company accounts for stock-based compensation
awards using the fair value method. Under this method, the
fair value of the stock-based award is determined using the
Black-Scholes option-pricing model. SFAS No. 123 (R) generally
requires all share-based payments to be recognized in the
financial statements based on grant-date fair values and also
requires the fair value of outstanding stock-based compensa-
tion awards vesting after the date of initial adoption to be
charged to operations over the remaining vesting period. For
awards granted during 2006 and 2007, the fair value was
calculated using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model with
the following assumptions: no dividends, volatility of 40%, a
risk-free rate of 1.5% and an expected life of five years. The
expected life of stock options was calculated using the “simpli-
fied method" set forth in Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 107.
The expected volatility for stock options was based on the
historical volatilities of the Company and certain other com-
panies with similar characteristics.
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{r) Earnings per Share

Earnings per share (EPS) is presented in accordance with the
provisions of SFAS No. 128, Earnings per Share (SFAS 128).
Under SFAS 128, basic EPS excludes dilution for potential
ordinary shares and is computed by dividing net income by

the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding
for the period. Diluted EPS reflects the poténtial dilution that
could occur if securities or other contracts to issue ordinary
shares were exercised or converted into ordinary shares.

The computations of the basic and diluted EPS amounts are
as follows:

Yen in Millions,
except share and per share amounts
2006 2007
Net income ¥24,481 ¥23,992
Weighted average common shares outstanding (thousands):
Basic 6,367 6,573
Effect of dilutive common stock equivalents " 20
Diluted 6,378 6,593
Earnings per share:
Basic ¥ 3,845 ¥ 3,650
Diluted ¥ 3,838 ¥ 3,639

(s) Segments

The Company reports operating segment information in
accordance with SFAS No. 131, Disclosures about Segments
of an Enterprise and Related Information (SFAS 131). SFAS 131
defines operating segments as components of an enterprise
about which separate financial information is avaitable that is
regularly evaluated by the chief operating decision maker in
deciding how to allocate resources to an individual segment
and in assessing performance of the segment.

The Company’s new channel services are considered as a
separate operating segment; however, due to the insignificant
size of these channel service operations, management has
determined that the Company has one reportable segment,

Broadband communications services as of December 31, 2007,

(t) Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S.
GAAP requires management to make estimates and assump-
tions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities
at the date of the financial statements and the reported
amounts of revenue and expense during the reporting period.
Estimates and assumptions are used in accounting for, among
other things, the valuation of acquisition-related assets and
liabilities, allowance for doubtful accounts, deferred income
taxes and related valuation allowances, loss centingencies, fair
values of financial and derivative instruments, fair values of
long-lived assets and any related impairments, capitalization
of internal costs associated with construction and installation
activities, useful lives of long-lived assets, siock-based com-
pensation and actuarial liabilities associated with certain
benefit plans. Actual results could differ from thase estimates.
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{u) Accounting Changes and Recent Accounting
Pronouncements

Accounting Changes

FIN 48

In June 2006, the FASB issued FASB Interpretation No. 48,
Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes — an Interpretation
of FASB Statement No. 109 {FIN 48), which clarifies the ac-
counting for uncertainty in income taxes recognized in the
financial statements in accordance with SFAS No. 109,
Accounting for Income Taxes (SFAS 109). FIN 48 prescribes the
recognition threshold and provides guidance for the financial
statement recognition and measurement of uncertain tax
positions taken or expected to be taken in a tax return. FIN 48
also provides guidance an derecognition, classification, inter-
est and penalties, interim periods accounting, disclosures and
transition. The Company’s January 1, 2007 adoption of FIN 48
did not have a material impact on the consclidated financial
statements.

SFAS 158

The Company adopted SFAS No. 158, Employers’ Accounting
for Defined Benefit Pension and Other Postretirement Plans —
an Amendment of FASB Statements No. 87, 88, 106 and

132 (R) (SFAS 158), on December 31, 2006. For additional
information, see Note 9.

SFAS 123 (R)

The Company adopted SFAS No. 123 (R) on January 1, 2006.
For additional information, see Note 11.




Recent Accounting Pronouncements

SFAS 157

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, Fair Value
Measurements (SFAS 157). SFAS 157 defines fair value, estab-
lishes a framework for measuring fair value under U.S. GAAP
and expands disclosures about fair value measurements. SFAS
157 is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years
and interim periods beginning after November 15, 2007.
However, the effective date of SFAS 157 as it relates to fair
value measurement requirements for nonfinancial assets and
liabilities that are not remeasured at fair value on a recurring
basis has been deferred to fiscal years beginning after
November 15, 2008 and interim periods within those years,
The Company will adopt SFAS 157 (exclusive of the deferred
provisions discussed above) effective lanuary 1, 2008 and it
does not expect this adoption to have a material impact on

its consolidated financial statements.

SFAS 159

In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159, The Fair
Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities (SFAS
159). SFAS 159 permits entities to choose to measure financial
assets and financial liabilities at fair value on an instrument-by-
instrument basis. Unrealized gains and losses on items for
which the {air value option has been elected are reported in
earnings. SFAS 159 is effective for fiscal years beginning after
November 15, 2007. The Company has determined not to
measure any of its financial assets and financial liabilities at
fair value. Accordingly, the January 1, 2008 adoption of this
standard is not expected to have a material impact on the
Company's consolidated financial statements.

SFAS 141 (R}

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 141 (R), Business
Combinations (SFAS 141 (R)). SFAS 141 (R) replaces SFAS No.
141, Business Combinations (SFAS 141}, and generally requires
an acquirer in a business combination to recognize (i) the
assets acquired, (i) the liabilities assumed (including those
arising from contractual contingencies), (iii) any contingent
consideration and (iv) any noncontrolling interest in the ac-
quiree at the acquisition date, at fair values as of that date.
The requirements of SFAS 141 (R} will result in the recognition

by the acquirer of goodwill attributable to the noncontrolling
interest in addition to that attributable to the acquirer. SFAS
141 (R) amends SFAS 109 to require the acguirer to recognize
changes in the amount of its deferred tax benefits that are
recognizable because of a business cambination either in
income from continuing operations in the period of the com-
bination or directly in contributed capital, depending on

the circumstances. SFAS 141 (R) also amends SFAS No. 142,
Goodwill and Other intangible Assets, to, among other things,
provide guidance on the impairment testing of acquired
research and development intangible assets and assets that
the acquirer intends not to use. SFAS 141 (R) applies prospec
tively to business combinations for which the acquisition date
is an or after the beginning of the first annual reporting period
beginning on or after December 15, 2008. The Company has
not completed its evaluation of the impact this standard will
have on its consolidated financial statements.

SFAS 160

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 160,
Noncontrolfing Interests in Consolidated Financial Statements
(SFAS 160). SFAS 160 establishes accounting and reporting
standards for noncontrolling interest in a subsidiary and for
the deconsolidation of a subsidiary. It also clarifies that a
nencontroiling interest in a subsidiary is an ownership interest
in a consolidated entity that should be reported as equity in
the consolidated financial statements. In addition, SFAS 160
reguires (i) that consolidated net income include the amounts
attributable to both the parent and the noncontrolling interest,
(ii} that a parent recognize a gain or loss in net income when a
subsidiary is deconsolidated and {iii) expanded disclosures that
clearly identify and distinguish between the interests of the
parent owners and the interests of the noncontrolting owners
of a subsidiary. SFAS 160 is effective for fiscal periods, ‘and
interim periods within those fiscal years, beginning on or after
December 15, 2008. The Company has not completed its
analysis of the impact of this standard on its consolidated
financial statements.

(v) Reclassifications

Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified to conform
to the current year presentation.
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2. Acquisitions

The Company acquired varying interests primarily in cable
television companies during the periods presented. The
Company utilized the purchase method of accounting for all
such acquisitions and, accordingly, has allocated the purchase
price based on the estimated fair value of the assets and
liabilities of the acquired companies. The assets, liabilities

and operations of such companies have been included in the
accompanying consolidated financial statements since the
dates of their respective acquisitions. During 2006 and 2007,
the Company completed the following significant acquisitions:

@ Acquisition of Cable West

In September 2006, the Company purchased an additional
146,993 shares, or 76.40%, in its cost-methad investment
Cable West Inc. ("Cable West"), a broadband communications
provider in Japan, taking its ownership to an 84.97% control-
ling interest. The cash consideration paid was ¥56,022 million.
The results of Cable West have been included as a consolidated
subsidiary from September 30, 2006. In November 2006, the
Company purchased an additional 20,396 shares, or 10.60%,
from the mingrity shareholders, and increased the Company’s
ownership t0 95.57%. The cash consideration paid was
¥7,736 million.

@ Acquisition of JTV Thematics

In September 2007, Jupiter and JTV Thematics executed a
merger agreemeni under which JTV Thematics was merged
with Jupiter. This merger has been treated as the acquisition of
JTV Thematics by the Company. The Company has accounted
for the acquisition of JTV Thematics under the provisions of
SFAS 141, whereby the JTV Thematics interest acquired from
SC has been accounted for using the purchase method of
accounting and the JTV Thematics interest acquired from
Liberty Pregramming Japan (“LPJ"), a wholly owned indirect
subsidiary of LGI, has been treated as a transaction between
entities under common control. Accordingly, for accounting
purposes, the Company's cost to acquire JTV Thematics in-
cluded (i} ¥26,839 million representing the value assigned
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to the 253,676 crdinary shares issued to SC hased on the
averaged quoted market price of the Company's ordinary
shares for the period beginning two trading days before and
ending two trading days after the terms of the merger were
agreed to and announced {(May 22, 2007), {ii} ¥6,708 million
representing the value assigned to the 253,675 ordinary
shares issued to LPJ, based on LPJ's historical cost basis in
1TV Thematics at September 1, 2007 and (iii) ¥399 million
representing direct acquisition costs. The aggregate cost
basis assigned to the JITV Thematics interests acquired by

the Company, as detailed above, has been allocated to the
acquired identifiable net assets of JTV Thematics based on
the Company's preliminary assessments of their respective
fair vatues, and the excess of the aggregate cost basis over
preliminary fair value of such identifiable net assets was allo-
cated to goodwill. The allocation of the Company’s aggregate
cost basis, as reflected in these consolidated financial state-
ments, is preliminary and subject to adjustment based on the
Company’s final assessment of the fair values of the identifi-
able assets and liabilities of JTV Thematics. Although most
items in the JTV Thematics valuation process remain open,
the Campany expects that most significant adjustments to
the preliminary altocation will involve intangible assets and
deferred income taxes. As of December 31, 2007, the
Company tentatively recorded approximately ¥17,898 million
as goodwill for the excess consideration over the fair value of
the net assets and liabilities acquired from the 1TV Thematics
acquisition. Upon the acquisition of 1TV Thematics, the
Company’s new direct subsidiaries as of December 31, 2007
are as follows:

Ownership %
Jupiter Entertainment Co., Ltd. 100.00%
lupiter Golf Network Co., Ltd. 89.41%
JSBC2 Co., Ltd. 100.00%
Reality TV Japan Co., Ltd. 50.00%
Jupiter Sports Inc. 100.00%
J)-Sports LLC 100.00%




@ Opening Balance Sheet Information of the Significant
2006 and 2007 Acquisitions

A summary of the purchase price and opening balance sheets

for the above significant acquisitions is presented below:

Yen in Millians
Cable Wesi TV Thematics
September 30, and Septernber 1,
November 30, 2006 2007
Cash, receivables and other assets ¥ 7513 ¥19,109
Property and equipment 35,456 1,025
Goodwill 43,177 17,898
Intangible asset ) 12,984 13,827
Debt and capital lease obligations (7,680) (3,351)
Other liabilities (25,751) (14,562)
Total purchase price ¥ 65,699 ¥ 33,946
Purchase price:
Cash consideration ¥63,492 ¥ —
Issuance of stock - 33,547
Investment 1,941 —
Direct acquisition costs 266 399
¥65,699 ¥33,946

@ Pro Forma Information for 2006 and 2007 Significant
Acquisitions
The following unaudited pro forma consolidated operating
results for 2006 and 2007 give effect to (i) the Cable West
acquisition as if it had been completed as of January 1, 2006
(for 2006 results} and {ii) the JTV Thematics acquisition as if it
had been completed as of January 1, 2006 (for 2006 results)
and january 1, 2007 (for 2007 results). These pro forma
amounts are not necessarily indicative of the operating results
that would have occurred if these transactions had occurred
on such dates. The pro forma adjustments are hased upon
currently available information and upon certain assumptions
that the Company believes are reasonable.

Yen in Millions, except per share amounts

Yaars ended December 31, 2006 2007
Revenue ¥247,708 ¥271,506
Net income ¥ 24614 ¥ 24,256
Net income per share:
Basic ¥3,581 ¥3,510
Diluted ¥3,575 ¥3,500

In addition to the above 2006 and 2007 significant acquisi-
tions, the Company also made less significant acquisitions
and purchased additional shares from minarity shareholders
of certain subsidiaries, including (i) the January 2006 step-
acquisition of Kansai Multimedia Service, which increased the
Company’s ownership from a 25.75% noncontrolling interest
to a 64.00% controlling interest, making it a consolidated
subsidiary from January 1, 2006; (ii) the April and May 2006
acquisitions of an 81.01% controlling interest in Sakura Cable
TV Co., Lid., making it a consolidated subsidiary from April 1,
2006, (it} the September 2006 step-acquisition of Hokusetsu
Cable Net Co,, Ltd., which increased the Company’s owner-
ship from 55.00% to 100.00%; (iv) the October 2006 step-
acquisition of J;COM Tokyo Co., Ltd., which increased the
Company’s ownership from 80.24% to 94.99%; (v} the
August and September 2006 step-acquisitions of Cable
Net Shimonoseki Co., Ltd., which increased the Company’s
ownership from a 50.00% neoncontrolling interest to a 63.41%
controlling interest, making it a consolidated subsidiary from
August 1, 2006; (vi) the July 2007 step-acquisition of Cable
Net-Kobe/Ashiya, which increased the Company’s ownership
from 69.41% to 78.85%; and (vii) the July 2007 acquisition of
an 80.01% controlling interest in Recruit Visual Communications
(subsequently called Jupiter Visual Communications}, making it
a cansolidated subsidiary from July 1, 2007,
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3. Investments in Affiliates

The Company's affiliates are primarily engaged in the

Broadband communications services and related business in
Japan. At December 31, 2007, the Company held the fellow-

ing investments:

Investment Qwnership %
Discovery Japan, Inc. 50.00%
J Sports Broadcasting Corporation 33.37%
Kyoto Cable Communications Co., Ltd. 46.63%
AXN Japan, Inc. 35.00%
Fukuoka Cable Network Co., Ltd. 45.00%
Animal Planet Japan Co., Ltd. 33.33%
Japan Digital Service Corporation 26.04%
Green City Cable TV Corporation 20.00%
Kadokawa-J:COM Media Co., Ltd. 50.00%
InteracTV Co., Ltd. 32.50%
Jupiter Satellite Broadcasting Co., Ltd. 50.00%

The carrying value of investments in affiliates as of
Decermber 31, 2006 and 2007 includes ¥628 million and
¥14,734 million, respectively, of unamartized excess cost of
investments over the Company's equity in the net assets of
the affiliates. All significant intercompany profits from these
affiliates have been eliminated to the extent of the Company's
ownership and, if assets remain on the books of the Company
or the investee, in accordance with the equity method of
accounting.

Condensed financial information of the Company's unconsclidated affiliates at December 31, 2006 and 2007 and for the pen-
ods in which the Company used the equity method to account for these affiliates during the years ended December 31, 2006

and 2007 is as follows:

Yen in Millions
2008 2007
Combined Financial Position:

Property and equipment, net ¥17,814 ¥21,759
Other assets, net 5,789 24,780

Total assets ¥23,603 ¥46,539
Debt ¥ 9,775 ¥10,463
Other liabilities 8,928 24,731
Shareholders' equity 4,900 11,345

Total liabilities and equity ¥23,603 ¥46,539

Yen in Millions
2006 2007
Combined Operations; .

Total revenue ¥ 18,995 ¥ 29,980
Operating and selling, general and administrative expenses (14,032) (24,656)
Depreciation and amortization (3,200) (2,990)

Operating income 1,763 2,334
Interest expense, net {296) (235)
Other expense, net {654) (1,049)

Net income ¥ 813 ¥ 1,050
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4. Goodwill and Intangible Asset

@ Goodwill
The changes in the carrying amount of goadwill for the years

Intangible asset, net at December 31, 2006 and 2007
consisted of the following:

ended December 31, 2006 and 2007 consisted of the following: Yen in Milligns
Yen in Millions 2006 2007
2006 2007 Gross carrying amount ¥22,509 ¥36,718
Goodwill, beginning of year ¥150,030 ¥202,267 Accumulated amortization {1,328) (3,856)
Acquisitions and acquisition Net carrying amount ¥21,181 ¥32,862
related adjustments 53,086 19,956
Initial recognition of acquired tax The Company recorded amortization expenses of
benefits allocated to reduce goodwill ¥1,028,466 thousand and ¥2,528,245 thousand for the years
of acquired entities (Note 8} (849) (730) ended December 31, 2006 and 2007, respectively.
Goodwill, end of year ¥202,267 ¥221,493 Amortization expenses of intangible asset are expected to
be as follows for the next five years and thereafter:
@ Intangible Assets Years ending December 31, Yen in Mitlions
Intangible assets includes customer relationships and distribu- 2008 ¥ 3,213
tion franchises which are originally recorded at fair value in 2009 3,213
connection with business combinations and amortized on a 2010 3.3
straight-line basis over their respective estimated useful lives, 201 3213
which are 10 and 15 years, respectively, and reviewed for 2012 3,213
impairment in accordance with SFAS No. 144, Accounting for  Thereafter 16,797
the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets (SFAS 144). Total ¥32,862
5. Related Party Transactions
Yen in Millions
Years ended December 31, 2006 2007
Subscription revenue earned from related parties (a) ¥ 830 ¥ 704
Other revenue earned from related parties (b} 5,501 5,486
Operating expenses charged by related parties (¢} 6,420 6,106
SG&A expenses charged by related parties {d) 1,31 1,387
Interest expense, net, charged by related parties (e} 1,108 - 1,332
Capital lease additions {f} 16,624 18,105

(a) The Company receives monthly subscription revenue from
its unconsolidated managed affiliates for providing Internet
services.

(b) The Company provides programming, construction, man-
agement and distribution services to its managed affiliates.
In addition, the Company sells canstruction materials to
such affiliates, provides distribution services to other LGI
affiliates and receives distribution fees from a subsidiary
of SC.

(¢) The Company (i) purchases certain cable television pro-
gramming from its affiliates and (i) incurs rental expense
for the use of certain vehicles and equipment under operat-
ing leases with two subsidiaries of 5C.

{(d) The Company has management service agreements with
SC under which officers and management level employees
are seconded from SC to the Company and whose services
are charged as service fees to the Company based on their

payroll costs. Amounts also include rental expense paid to
the SC entities, as described in (¢} above.

(e) Amounts consist of related party interest expense, primarily
related to assets leased from the aforementioned SC
entities.

(f} The Company leases, in the form of capital leases, customer
premise equipment, various office equipment and vehicles
from the aforementioned SC entities. At December 31,
2006 and 2007, capital lease obligations of ¥41,488 million
and ¥46,006 million, respectively, were owed to these SC
entities.

Certain of the Company’s equity method affiliates deposit
excess funds with the Company. The aggregate amount cwed
by the Company to these equity methad affiliates at December
31, 2007 was ¥3,536 million.
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6. Debt

A summary of debt as of December 31, 2006 and 2007 is as follows:

Yen in Millions
2006 2007

Short-term loans, variable interest at 0.99% to 1.97% and 1.35% to 3.50%

as of December 31, 2006 and 2007, respectively ¥ 2,000 ¥ 2625
¥155 Billion Facility term loans, due fiscal 2007 - 2010 76,500 54,226
Other term loans, due fiscal 2011 - 2013 92,000 92,000
0% secured loans from Development Bank of Japan, due fiscal 2008 - 2019 16,569 14,287
Secured loans from Development Bank of Japan, due fiscal 2008 - 2018, interest at 0.50% to 4.85% ] 4,539 4,014
Unsecured loans from others, due fiscal 2008, interest at 2.40% 5 —
Total 191,613 167,152
Less: current portion (18,158) (23,933)
Long-term debt, less current portion ¥173,455 ¥143,219

@ ¥155 Billion Facility
in December 2005, the Company entered into a credit facility

agreement with a syndicate of banks ("the ¥155 Billion Facility”}.

The ¥155 Billion Facility originally consisted of three facilities:
a ¥30 billion five-year revolving credit loan (“the Revolving
Loan”); an ¥85 billion five-year amortizing term loan ("the
Tranche A Term Loan”); and a ¥40 billion seven-year amortiz-
ing term loan ("the Tranche B Term Loan”). Borrowings may
be made under the ¥155 Billion Facility on a senior, unsecured
basis. Amounis repaid under the Tranche A and B Term Loans
may not be reborrowed. On December 21, 2005, the proceeds
of the Tranche A and B Term Loans were used, together with
available cash, to repay in full outstanding loans totaling ¥128
billion, under the Company’s then existing credit facilities.

As discussed below, the Company refinanced the Tranche B
Term Loan during the second guarter of 2006. In connection
with refinancings in 2005 and 2006, the Company recognized
debt extinguishment losses of ¥2,469 million and ¥378 mil-
lion, respectively, primarily representing the write-off of
deferred financing costs.

The Revolving Loan and the Tranche A Term Loan bear
interest equal to TIBOR plus a variable margin to be adjusted
based on the leverage ratio of the Company. The weighted-
average interest rate, including applicable margins, on the
Tranche A Term Loan at December 31, 2007 was 1.309%.
Borrowings under the Revolving Loan may be used for general
corporate purposes. Amounts drawn under the Tranche A
Term Loan have a final maturity date of December 31, 2010
and amortize in quarterly installments. The final maturity
date of all amounts outstanding under the Revolving Loan is
December 31, 2010 and will be available for drawdown until
one month prior to its final maturity, A commitment fee of
0.20% per annum is payable on the available commitment
under the Revolving Facility.
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In addition to customary restrictive covenants and events of
default, the unsecured ¥155 Billion Facility requires compliance
with various financial covenants such as: i} Maximum Senior
Debt to EBITDA, (ii) Minimum Debt Service Coverage Ratio
and (iii) a Total Shareholders’ Equity test, each capitalized
term as defined in the Facility. At December 31, 2007, ¥30
billion was available for borrowing under the Revolving Loan.
The Revolving Loan provides for an annual commitment fee
of 0.20% on the unused portion.

B Other Term Loans

From March to May of 2006, the Company refinanced ¥38
billion and ¥2 billior, respectively, of the Tranche B Term Loan
with ¥20 billion of fixed interest rate loans and ¥20 billion of
variable interest rate loans. At December 31, 2007, the fixed
interest rate loans had a weighted-average interest rate of
2.08%, while the new variable interest rate loans had a
weighted-average interest-rate of Japanese yen LIBOR plus
0.30% (1.385% as of December 31, 2007 including margin).
These loans, which ¢contain covenants similar to those of the
¥155 Billion Facility, mature in 2013 and are each io be repaid
in one installment on their respective maturity dates.

In connection with the September 2006 acquisition of
Cable West, the Company entered into {i) a ¥2 billion variable
interest rate term loan agreement, (i) a ¥20 billion seven-year
fixed interest rate term loan agreement and (i) a ¥30 billion
syndicated term loan agreement. The ¥2 hillion and ¥20 billion
term loans were fully drawn in September 2006. On October
27, 2006, the full amount of the ¥30 billion syndicated term
foan was drawn and ¥14 billion of the proceeds was used to
repay the then outstanding balance of the Revolving Loan. The
new term loans mature between 2011 and 2013. The interest
rate on the ¥2 billion term loan is based on the six-manth
TIBOR ptus a margin of 0.25% (1.151% as of December 31,



2007 including margin). The ¥20 billion term lgan bears
interest as to ¥10 billion of the outstanding principal amount
at a fixed interest rate of 1.72% and as to the remaining ¥10
billion principal amount at a fixed interest rate of 1.90%. The
¥30 billion syndicated term loan bears interest at (i) Japanese
yen LIBOR plus a margin of 0.25% as to the ¥10 billion princi-
pal amount that is due in October 2011, (i) Japanese yen
LIBOR plus a margin of 0.35% as to the ¥19.5 billion principal
amount that is due in October 2013 and (iii) a fixed rate of
2.05% as to the ¥0.5 billion principal amount that is due in
October 2013. These loans contain covenants similar to those
of the ¥155 Billion Facility.

@ Development Bank of Japan Loans

The loans represent institutional loans from the Development
Bank of Japan (“DBJ"), which were made available to telecomn-
munication companies operating in specific local areas desig-
nated as “Teletopia” by the MIC to facilitate the development
of local telecommunication networks. Requirements to gualify
for such financing include use of optical fiber cables, equity
participation by local/municipal government and guarantee by
third parties, among ather requirements. These loans were
originally obtained by the Company’s subsidiaries and were
primarily guaranteed, directly or indirectly, by the Company’s
major shareholders at the time. However, in connection with
the ¥155 Billion Facility, these loans are now quaranteed by
the Company.

@ Securities on Long-Term Debt
Non-syndicated bank facility loans from DBJ 1o certain of the
Company's subsidiaries are secured by substantially all property

and equipment held by such subsidiaries. At December 31,
2007, the aggregate net carrying amount of this property
and equipment was approximately ¥81,351 million.

The aggregate annual maturities of long-term debt out-
standing at December 31, 2007 are as follows:

Years ending December 34, Yen in Millions
2008 ¥ 21,308
2009 PARIY
2010 20,910
201 18,708
2012 10,128
Thereafter 72,402
¥164,527

@ Revolving Facility

On September 28, 2007, thé Company entered into a

¥10 hillion revolving credit facility {“Revolving Facility”)
agreement with a syndicate of banks which matures on
September 14, 2012 with an interest rate based on the
Japanese Yen TIBOR plus a margin of 0.35%. Borrowings
under the Revolving Facility may be used for general corpo-
rate purposes. In addition to customary restrictive covenants
and events of default, the unsecured Revolving Facility
requires compliance with various financial covenants such
as: (i) Minimum Working Capital, {ii) Maximum Senior

Debt to EBITDA and (i} Minimum Debt Service Coverage
Ratio as defined in the Revolving Facility agreement. As of
December 31, 2007, ¥10 billion was available for borrowing
under the Revolving Facility. The Revolving Facility provides
for an annual commitment fee of 0.10% on the unused
portien.

7. Leases

The Company and its subsidiaries are obligated under various capital leases, primarily for home terminals, and other nencancel-
able operating leases, which expire at various dates during the next 2C years. See Note 5 for further discussion of capita! leases

from subsidiaries of SC.

At December 31, 2006 and 2007, the amount of property and equipment and related accumulated depreciation recorded

under capital leases were as follows:

Yen in Millions
2006 2007
Distribution system and equipment ¥ 70,621 ¥ 79,657
Support equipment and buildings 4,293 5,258
Other assets 199 278
Less: accumulated depreciation {26,951) {31,445)
¥ 48,162 ¥ 53,748

Depreciation of assets under capital leases is included in depreciation and amaortization in the accompanying consolidated

staterments of income.
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Future minimum lease payments under capital leases and noncancelable operating leases as of December 31, 2007 are

as follows:

Years ending December 31,

Yen in Millians

Capital Leases Dperating Leases

2008 ¥16,328 ¥2,99
2009 14,660 1,069
2010 12,618 952
2011 9,035 692
2012 5,665 481
More than five years 2,837 1,403
Total minimum lease payments 61,143 ¥7,588
Less: amount representing interest (rates ranging from 1.10% to 9.98%}) {5.279)
Present value of net minimum payments 55,864
Less: current portion (14,618)
Noncurrent portion ¥ 41,246

The Company and its subsidiaries occupy certain offices
under cancelable lease arrangements. Rental expenses for
such leases for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2007
totaled ¥3,981 million and ¥4,307 million, respectively, and
are included in operating and programming costs and selling,
general and administrative expenses in the accompanying
consolidated statements of income. Also, the Company and its

subsidiaries occupy certain transmission facilities and use poles
and other equipment under cancelable lease arrangements.
Rental expenses for such leases for the years ended December
31, 2006 and 2007 totaled ¥13,247 million and ¥12,699
million, respectively, and are included in operating and pro-
gramming costs in the accompanying consolidated statements
of income.

8. Income Taxes

All pretax income and related tax benefit (expense) are derived solely from Japanese operations. Income tax benefit (expense) for

the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2007 is as follows:

Yen in Millions
2006 ‘2007
Current ¥4,350 ¥11,857
Deferred (1,328) 1,657
Income tax expense ¥3,022 ¥13,514

The effective rates of income 1ax benefit (expense) relating to income (loss) incurred differ from the rate that would result
from applying the normal statutory tax rates for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2007 and are as follows:

2006 2007

Normal effective statutory tax rate 40.0% 40.7%
Decrease in valuation allowance {26.3) (8.7)
2.1 2.3

Effective tax rate 11.0% 34.3%

|
|
Non-deductible expenses and other
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The effects of temporary differences and carryforwards that give rise to deferred tax assets and liabilities at December 31,

2006 and 2007 are as follows:

Yen in Millions
2008 2007

Deferred tax assets:

Lease obligations ¥20,185 ¥22,438

Deferred revenue 18,689 19,546

Accrued expenses and other 5146 5912

Net operating loss carryforwards 7,307 3,760

Investments 805 729

Retirement and other allowances 678 728
Total gross deferred tax assets 52,810 53,113
Less; valuation allowance (4,720) {1,849)
Deferred tax assets 48,090 51,264
Deferred tax liabilities:

Property and equipment : ) 21,682 24,747

Intangible asset 8,498 13,620

Investments — 4,357

Other 5008 5,022
Total gross deferred tax liabilities 35,188 47,746

- Net deferred tax assets ¥12,902 ¥ 3,518

Deferred income tax valuation allowance decreased
¥2,870,410 thousand in 2007. This decrease reflects the net
effect of (i) net tax expense recorded in the Company's con-
solidated statement of income of ¥3,151,262 thousand, (i} in-
creases due to acquisitions and similar transactions of
¥1,115,699 thousand, {iii) decreases due to valuation allow-
ances released to goodwill of ¥730,233 thousand and {iv)
certain other items.

In assessing the realizability of deferred tax assets, the
Company considers whether it is maore-likely-than-not that
some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be
realized. The ultimate realization of deferred tax assets is
dependent upon the generation of future taxable income
during the periods in which those temporary differences
become deductible. The Company considers the scheduled
reversal of deferred tax liabilities, projected future taxable
income and tax planning strategies in making this assessment.
Based on the level of historical taxable incorne and projections
for future taxable income over the periods in which the
deferred tax assets are deductible, management expects
to realize its deferred tax assets net of existing valuation
allowance.

The amount of valuation allowance recerded in connection
with business combinations that would reduce goodwill or
other intangible assets upon realization of related deferred tax
assets as of December 31, 2007 was ¥654 million.

At December 31, 2007, the Company had net operating loss
carryforwards for income tax purposes of ¥9,241,478 thou-
sand which were available to offset future taxable income.

Net operating loss carryforwards, if not utilized, will expire
as follows:

Years ending December 31, Yen in Millions
2009 ¥1,896
2010 1,475
201 450
2012 1,043
2013 3,460
2014 917
¥9,241

The changes in the Company's unrecognized tax benefits
during 2007 are summarized below:

Yen in Millions
Balance at January 1, 2007 ¥16,458
Addition based on tax positions related to the current year 3,917
Reductions for tax positions of prior years (3.917)
Balance at December 31, 2007 ¥16,458

No assurance can be given that any of these tax benefits
will be recognized or realized.
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All of the Company’s December 31, 2007 unrecognized tax
benefits would have a favorable impact on the Company’s
effective income tax rate if ultimately recognized.

The Company and its subsidiaries are subject to corporate
income tax of the National Tax Administrative Agency.
Substantially all material income tax examinations have been
concluded for tax years through 2003. Currently, the Company
is not under examination in any jurisdictions in which the
Company operates. Although it is reasonably passible that
an examination could be conducted during 2008 that would
result in changes to the Company’s unrecognized tax benefits
related to tax positions taken as of December 31, 2007, the

Company does not expect that any such changes will have a
material impact on its 2008 effective tax rate. The Company
cannot estimate a reasonable range for the impact.that any
such possitle changes might have on its December 31, 2007
unrecognized tax benefits. No assurance can be given as to
the nature or impact of changes in the Company’s unrecog-
nized tax positions during 2008.

During 2007, the Company recognized income tax expense
of ¥148,686 thousand representing the accrual of interest and
penalties during the period. In addition, the Company’s other
long-term liabilities include accrued interest and penalties of
¥148,686 thousand at December 31, 2007.

9, Severance and Retirement Plans

On October 1, 2005, the Company adopted a defined contri-
bution retirement plan for substantially all of its full-time
employees. This plan was adopted as a replacement to the
unfunded defined benefit severance and retirement plan
which terminated for full-time employees on September 30,
2005, excluding certain directors and employees in a subsid-
iary acquired in 2005. The Company contributions under the
new defined contribution retirement plan for the years ended
December 31, 2006 and 2007 were ¥303 million and ¥329
millicn, respectively.

Certain directors, statutory auditors and employees within
certain subsidiaries acquired in 2006 participate in unfunded
deferred benefit severance and retirement plans. Employees
terminating their employment after a two- or three-year
vesting period are entitled, under most circumstances, to
lump-sum severance payments determined by reference to
their rate of pay at the time of termination, years of service
and certain other factors. The measurement date used 1o
determine assumptions was December 31, 2007.

Net periodic cost of the Company’s plans accounted for in accordance with SFAS No. 87, Employees’ Accounting for Pensions
(SFAS 87), for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2007 comprised the following components:

Yen in Millions
2006 2007
Service cost—benefits earned during the year ¥26 ¥ 67
Interest cost on projected benefit obligation 3 10
Actuarial loss (gain} 3 (29)
Net periodic cost ¥32 ¥48

The recondiliation of beginning and ending balances of the benefit obligations of the Company's plans accounted for in

accordance with SFAS No. 87 is as follows:

Yen in Millions
2006 2007
Change in benefit obligation:

Benefit obligation, beginning of year ¥ 35 ¥ 480
Service cost 26 67
Interest cost 3 10
Acquisitions (Note 2) LE] | —
Actuanial loss (gain) 3 (29)
Benefits paid (28) (474)
Benefit obligation, end of year ¥480 ¥ 54
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The weighted-average discount rates used in the determina-
tion of the Company's plans projected benefit obligation and
net pension cost as of and for the years ended December 31,
2006 and 2007 are as follows:

2005 2007
Projected benefit obligation:
Discount rate 2.0% 2.0%
Net pension cost:
Discount rate ' 2.0% 2.0%

SFAS 158 requires an employer to recognize the overfunded
or underfunded status of a defined benefit postretirement
plan as an asset or liability in its statement of financial position
and recognize changes in the funded status as other compre-
hensive gains {losses}) in the year in which changes occur. SFAS

158 also requires that the defined benefit plan assets and
obligations be measured as of the date of the employer’s fiscal
year-end balance sheet. The Company adopted SFAS 158 as of
December 31, 2006, however, there was no material impact
upon adoption, as its defined benefit severance and retire-
ment plan was terminated in 2005 and it recognized the net
pension liability for the newly acquired subsidiaries in the
purchase price allocation based on the projected benefit
obligation, thereby eliminating any previously unrecognized
gain or loss, prior service cost and transition asset or
obligation.

In addition, employees of the Company participate in a
multiemployer defined benefit plan. The Company’s contribu-
tions to this plan amounted to ¥793 million and ¥872 million
for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2007, respectively.

10. Redeemable Preferred Stock

On December 29, 2003, in connection with being included as
a party to the Campany’s bank facility, a consolidated subsid-
iary of the Company issued ¥500 million of preferred stock in
exchange for debt owed to a third party holder. All or a part
of the preferred stock can be redeemed after 2010, up to a
half of the preceding year's net income, at the holder’s

demand. The holders of the preferred stock have a priority to
receive dividends; however, the amount of such dividends will
be decided by the subsidiary’s board of directors and such divi-
dend will not exceed ¥1,000 per preferred stock for any fiscal
year and will not accumulate,

11. Shareholders’ Equity

M Dividends
Under the Japanese Corporate Law (“Law"), the amount
available for dividends is based on retained earnings as record-
ed on the books of Jupiter maintained in conformity with
financial accounting standards of Japan. Certain adjustments
not recorded on Jupiter's books are reflected in the consoli-
dated financial statements for reasons described in Note 1.
At December 31, 2007, total retained earnings recorded on
Jupiter's books of account were ¥12,809 million.

The Law provides that an amount equal to at least 10%
of the aggregate amount of cash dividends and certain other
appropriations of retained earnings asscciated with cash
outlays applicable to each fiscal period shall be appropriated
as a legal reserve (a component of retained earnings) until
such reserve and additional paid-in capital equals 25% of
common stock. The amount of total additionzl paid-in capital
and legal reserve that exceeds 25% of commaon stock may be
available for appropriations by resolution of the shareholders.
In addition, the Law permits the transfer of a portion of

additional paid-in capital and legal reserve to commen stock
by resolution of the Board of Directors.

@ Stock-Based Compensation

The Company has granted options and stock purchase war-
rants under various plans for certain directors and employees
of the Company and managed affiliates and certain non-
employees. Options or warrants granted to non-management
employees vest two years from the date of grant, unless
their individual grant agreements provide otherwise, Options
or warrants granted to management employaes and non-
employees vest in four equal installments from date of grant,
unless their individual grant agreements provide otherwise.
With the exception of the options granted in 2006 and 2007,
these options generally expire 10 years from date of grant,
with expiration dates currently ranging from August 2010 to
August 2012, The 2006 and 2007 options expire in 2026 and
2027, respectively.
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A summary of the stock option activity during the year ended December 31, 2007 is as follows;

Weighted Average Weighted Average Aggregate
Number of Exercise Price Remaining Contractual Intrinsic Value
Shares (Yen) Term {Years) {Yen in Milligns)

Outstanding at beginning of the year 155,941 ¥80,030

Granted” 243 1

Expired or cancelled {11,903) 80,996

Forfeited {930} 80,000

Exercised (37,395) 80,353

Outstanding at December 31, 2007 105,956 ¥79,625 3.87 ¥1,650
Exercisable at December 31, 2007 104,107 ¥79,955 3.79 ¥1,587

* The exercise price of these aptions was significantly below the market price of the Company's commen stack on date of grant.

12. Fair Value of Financial Instruments

At December 31, 2006 and 2007, the Company believes that the fair value and carrying value of its debt are approximately
equal. For financial instruments other than debt, the carrying value of financial instruments approximates fair value because of

the short maturity of these instruments.

13. Supplemental Disclosures to Consclidated Statements of Cash Flows

Yen in Millions

Years ending December 31, 2006 007
Cash paid for: .

Interest ¥ 2,646 ¥ 4,369

Income tax ¥ 4619 ¥ 6,365
Non-cash activities:

Property acquired under capital leases during the year ¥17,442 ¥18,934

Acquisition through issuance of common stock y — ¥33,547

14, Commitments

The Company has guaranteed payment of certain lcans for
certain of its equity-method affiliate investees and a ¢ost-
method investee. Certain of the guarantees are based on an
agreed-upon proportionate share of the bank loans among
certain of the entities” shareholders, considering each of their
respective equity interest, The term of the guarantees are up
to 10 years and the aggregate guaranteed amounts were
¥7,936 million as of December 31, 2007. Management be-
lieves that the likelihood the Company would be required to
perform or otherwise incur any significant losses associated
with any of these guarantees is remote.

The Company contracts, through subsidiaries and affiliate
licensed broadcasting companies, to utilize capacity on three
satellites from two transponder service providers. The satellites
generally have a 15-year usable life. The Company’s channels
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contract for a portion of the capacity available on a transpon-
der according to the bandwidth needs of individual channels.
Those licensed broadcasting companies also contract for
uplink services from a third company in order to transmit
each channel's signal to the satellite.

As of December 31, 2007, the Company has commitments
for purchasing various program rights and utiiizing uplink and
transponder services as follows:

Years ending December 31, Yen in Millions
2008 ¥2,178
2009 1,194
2010 982
201 . 236
2012 236
¥4,826




Independent Auditors’ Report

To the Shareholders and the Board of Directors of
Jupiter Telecommunications Co., Ltd, and Subsidiaries:

We have audited the accompanying consclidated balance sheets of Jupiter Telecommunications Co., Ltd. (a Japanese corpora-
tion) and subsidliaries as of December 31, 2006 and 2007, and the related consolidated staternents of income, shareholders' equity,
comprehensive income and cash flows for the years then ended. These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility
of the Company’s management. Our responisibility is 1o express an opinion on these consolidated financial staternents based on
our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements
are free of material misstatement. An audit includes consideration of internal control over financial reporting as a basis for.
designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also
includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement
presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of Jupiter Telecommunications Co., Ltd. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2006 and 2007, and the results of their
operations and their cash flows for the years then ended in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

KPMG AZSA & Co.

Tokyo, Japan
March 27, 2008
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effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also
includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the
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presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
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J:COM Group

(As of December 31, 2007)

Percentage of
e padmCanl o (S Sy
owned
by us (%)
Cable Television Services
Managed systems (22) Consolidated (20) J.COM Tokyo Co., Ltd. 7,524 95.87
Cable Vision 21 Inc. 2,767 97.95
J;COM Kita-Kyushu Co., Ltd. 2,447 84.29
Hokusetsu Cable Net Co., Ltd. 2,000 100.00
Tsuchiura Cable Television Co., Ltd. 1,500 70.33
J.COM Kansai Co,, Ltd. 15,500 84.24
J:COM Shonan Ca., Ltd. 5772 82.57
Cable Net Kobe Ashiva Co., Ltd. 2,900 78.85
J.COM Saitama Co., Ltd. 1,600 86.16
J:COM Kanto Co., Ltd. 15,057 100.00
1:COM Sapporo Co., Ltd. 8,800 86.13
J:COM Chiba Co., Ltd. 3,395 74.50
Cable Net Shimonoseki Co., Ltd. 1,000 63.41
Sakura Cable TV Co., Ltd. 1,589 90.88
Cable West Inc, 5,658 96.62
Takatsuki Cable Network Co., Lid. 1,828 95.51
Higashi-Osaka Cable Television Co., Ltd. 1,560 96.15
Suita Cable Television Co., Ltd. 2,105 92.39
Toyonaka lkeda Cable Net Co,, Ltd. 1,500 91.42
Kitakawachi Cable Net Co., Ltd. 500 100.00
Affiliate (2) Fukuoka Cable Network Co., Ltd. 2,000 45.00
Kyoto Cable Communications Co., Ltd. 4,267 46.63
Non-managed systems and others (1) Affiliate Green City Cable Television Co., Lid. 1,000 20.00
Programming
Consolidated (8)  lupiter Entertainment Co., Lid. 1,788 100.00
Jupiter Golfnetwork Co., Ltd. 1,700 89.41
Reality TV Japan Co., Ltd. 145 50.00
JSBC2 Co., Ltd. i 100.00
Jupiter Sports, Inc, 3 100.00
J-Sports LLC. 2,609 100.00
Jupiter Visual Cormmunications Co., Ltd. 300 70.01
Channel Ginga Co., Ltd. 200 76.00
Affiliate (6} Discovery Japan Co., Ltd. 2,545 50.00
Animal Planet Japan Co., Ltd. 41 33.33
AXN Japan, Inc. 10 35.00
Jupiter Satellite Broadcasting Co., Ltd. 60 50.00
InteracTV Co., Ltd. 100 32.50
1 Sports Broad Casting Corporation 3,834 33.37
Internet Services Consolidated (2) @NetHome Co., Ltd. 7,800 100.00
Kansai Multimedia Services Co., Ltd. 480 76.50
Financial Services Consolidated J:COM Finance Co., Ltd. 3 100.00
Consultant of System Consolidated 5COM Technologies Co., Ltd. 430 100.00
Development and Operation
Distribution Network Services Affiliate Japan Digiial Serve Corp. 2,250 21.32
Regional Information magazine Affiliate KADOKAWA-):COM Media Co., Ltd. 100 50.00

Planning / Production
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Corporate |nf0rmati0n (As of December 31. 2007}

@ Corporate Data

Headquarters:
Date of Establishment:
Paid-in Capital:
Number of Employees:

Brand Name:

@ Stock Information

Stock Listing:

Code:

Number of Shares issued:
Number of Shareholders:
Transfer Agent:

Agent’s Business Location:

Agent’s Service Offices:

Shiba NBF Tower, 1-1-30, Shiba Daimon, Minato-ku, Tokyo 105-0012, Japan
January 18, 1995

¥116.7 billion

9,351 (Group Total)

Number of employees is the number of regular employees.

J:.COM

JASDAQ Securities Exchange

4817

6,927,357.74

11,370

The Sumitomo Trust and Banking Co., Ltd.

4-5-33, Kitahama, Chuo-ku, Osaka-city, Osaka, Japan

Stock Transfer Agency Department

The Sumitomo Trust and Banking Co., Ltd.

1-4-4, Marunouchi, Chiyoda-ku, Tokyo, Japan

Head office and domestic branches of The Sumitomo Trust and Banking Co,, Ltd.

@ Major Shareholders

Name Numberof shares 1., /S )
LGI/ Sumisho Super Media, LLC. 3,987,238 57.56
State Street Bank & Trust Co. 562,306 8.12
Sumitomo Corporation 253,676 3.66
Liberty Global lapan I, LLC. 253,675 3.66
Northern Trust Company (AVFC) Sub-account American Client 97,996 1.41
Master Trust Bank of Japan, Ltd. (Trust Account) 96,232 1.39
Goldman Sachs and Company Regular Account 92,118 1.33
CBNY-ORBIS SICAV 82,426 1.19
Zenkyoren 74,240 1.07
Mellon Bank, N.A. as Agent for its Client Mellon Omnibus US Pension 73,923 1.07
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Jupiter Telecommunications Co,,Ltd.

http://iwww.jcom.co.jp

Direct inquiries to:

Jupiter Telecommunications Co., Ltd., IR Dept.
Shiba NBF Tower, 1-1-30 Shiba Daimon
Minato-ku, Tokyo 105-0012, Japan

Tel: 03-6765-8157 Fax: 03-6765-8091

e-mail: ir@jupiter.jcom.co.jp
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Direct inquiries to

Jupiter Telecommunications Co., Ltd.
IR Department

Shiba NBF Tower, 1-1-3G Shiba Daimon,

Minato-ku, Tokyo 105-0012, Japan

Tel: +81-3-6765-8157 Fax: +81-3-6765-8091

e-mail; ir@)upiterjcom.

SRLEDER

BREHZIEY-FL-O4L IRE
F105-0012 BEMBEZAFI1-1-30 ENBF 77—
TEL : 03-6765-6157 FAX : 03-6765-8091

@jupiter.jcom.co.jp

Printed in Japan



Highlights of 2008 1H (1/2} Juty 20, 2008

Jupitsr Tesscommunications Co., Lid,

J:CO

Unit; Yen in 100 milllon (rounding in 10 milion yen)

& Foracast for
PIL un:u‘?ﬂ:a -:a'mt:. Chanae t:'n";c P"’:"'" Explanation of changes
0, 2008 30, 2007 momaant 1 " e %
Revarua
- Subscription Tee breakdown; Cable TV 854(+49, or +8%), HS Internet 355(+24, or +0%),
Subscription fes 1,221 1,128 93 8% T:lgphnn, ;1;{°+|a,.or g:q:) Effect of wqutsiﬂo:sr ('+n) e
Other 217 154 64 41% Effect of acquisitions (+58)
Total 1,438 1,281 157 12% 2,950 49%)| | Efect of noquisitens (+68)
Operating costs and sxpanses:
Oparating & programming costs 558 513 45 9% IEn"lI‘r: ;ﬁ:;nium’lr;jrz\:)wﬁ directly relstad o growih of our subscriber base.
Selling, gerieral & administrative 293 250 43 17% Incrensa due to affect of &cq (+28), a1 costs.
Depreciation & ization 332 315 17 6% E::::: :r;qﬂ:;dn;nu’?f;)elmud to tha mstatiation of services (o new cusicmers,
Operating income 254 203 51 25% 500 51%
Other income/axpansa:
tnterest axpense, net 23 21 2 11%
Equity in eamings of affiliates 3 1 1| 109%
Other income, nat 3 3 0 (7%)
Income before taxss, minority 237 187 50 27%
Minority interast in net income 10 11 (M {8%)
Income before income taxes 227 176 51 29% 450 50%
Incoms taxes 97 61 36 59%
Net incoma " 131 115 15| 13%|| 270 48%
OCF *1 587 519 68 13% {Note) Acquistions indude Juptier Visual Cornmunications, Jupiter TV, Kyoto Cable
Margin 40.8% 40.5% 0.3% Communications and a parl of foerner Koba Cablevisian.
As of June 30,| As of Dsc. 34, Capltal 8 monthe & monthe Change
Assets and Liabillties 2008 2007 Change Expenditure w;d;dm{.lf\l mag?dzxe - | *
Total Assats 6,878 | 6,804 74 Capital expendituras 173 204 {(31)] (15%)
Equity 3,443 3,300 143 Cepital [sase axpenditure 71 88 (17} (19%)
Equity capital ratio to total assets 50% 49% 2% Total 244 292 (48)] {16%)
Debt
(inchuding capital Isase obligations) 2,146 2,230 (84)
Net Debt 1,823 2,001 {178)
DIE Ratio (Net) 0.53 061| (0.08) PR
: &3 ..
& monttw 8 months .= it
Cash Flows ended Jura 30,| ended Jne 30, Explanation “z el
2008 2007 Lo
_— 2
- 9
Cash providad by operaling activities 448 472 :&m?ﬂ;)m' dapreciation and ezt ! <o .
(Cash usad in investing activities (201)|  (248)| | o ey 79 e 88 ' > 4
. (Cash provided by sclivtios 448) - .
Fres Cash Flow *1 204 180 | |icapn mncmn:pi;:!ggpnll Lease 244) -~ )
Cash used in financing activities {154) (135) ?.’éudﬁmé’s,m‘“’ 4nc pncipal paymet of - t_:;"
Increase/{decraase) in cash 94 a9
*1:Operating Cash Fiow and Free Cash Flow ars non-GAAP measures as contemplated by the U.S. Securities £nd Exchange Commission's Regulation G,
For relatec definitions and fiiations, see tha Investor Relations section of the Liberty Global Inc. wabsite (www.Igi.com).
OCF (Operating Cash Flow) : Revanue fess Cperating & programming costs less Selling, general § adminisizative expenses {axciusive of stock P i preciation, and Zation)
{Nate)

Amount and percentages are calcuatad based on financial statements in Change column,

(Cautionary note regarding future—vclated nformation)

The forecasts contained i this report have besn prepared on the basis of information that is currently available. 8 such et h Jy very uncertain, actual results may differ from the forscasts. The
Cormpany doas not guarantee that it will achiova these extimatad results and sdvises readers to refrain from dependiing solely on these fnrac.nt: Resders should alic nata that the Company is under no obkgation to
revige this information on a regutar basis.
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Highlights of 2008 1H (2/2)

July 29, 2000
Jupiter Telscammunications Co., Ltd.

.0
q
f J:COM Group " Anol e 30 | A oy I Change I I Explanation of changes
Consclidated subsidiaries
CATV company 1€ 20 (1)4a) Three subsidiaries (J.COM Kansai, Cable West and Hokusetsu Cable Net)
mergad to crests J.COM Wast.(~2), Kyoto Cable Communications becams
Others 11 12 )] subsidiary.(+1)
Toml i 32 @l JSBC2 was sold(-1)
Equity-method affiliates
CATV company 2z 3 (1| Kyoto Cable Gommunications became subsidiary.(~1)
Othars ] 8 0
Total 10 11 (M@
Group tatal {1}+(2) 40 43 {3)
CATV company Total
g+ [bi 2 23 (2)
Consolidated syatems [Reference]
Operational Data [ | Asot Jura30. [ crange | I Operational Data JI M s

Kyoto Cable Communications *4

RGUs RGUs -
CATV 2,245,500 | 2,137,600 107,800 CATV 20,600
of which digital service 1,640,30¢ | 1,264,100 376,200 of which digital service 12,600
HS Internet access 1,280,80C | 1,157,200 123,400 HS intemet accass 9,900
Telephony 1,404,90¢1 1,213,100 | 191,800 Telephony -
Total 4,931,000 | 4,507,900 | 423,100 Taotal 30,500
Custormners connected 2,759,600 | 2,582,100 177,500 Cusiomers connected 25,600
Homes passed 9,940,100 | 9,315,800 624,500 Homes passed 303,000
Average number of RGUs per customer 1.7% 1.75 0.04
Kobe Cablavision "4
Rate of customers taking 2 services 25.7% 23.5% 2.2% RGUs
CATV 7,100
ARPU =2 ¥7,754 7,653 ¥101 of which digital service g
(Average revenue per customer per month) HS Internet access 1,700
Monthly churn rate*3 Telephony -
CATV 1.1% 1.1% 0.0% Total 8,800
HS Intemet accass 1.3% 1.4% 45 0.1% Customers connected 7,100
Telaphony 0.8% 0.8% (1.0% Homes passed 60,300
[Reference])
Total of managed systems
Operational Data “ Abal ot 3. l Asaf e 30. | Cha"ng
RGUs
CATV 2,331,600 | 2,224,000 107,600
of which digital service 1,698,000 | 1,308,800 | 289,200
HS Internet access 1,324,600 | 1,199,100 125,500
Telephony 1,484 800 | 1,269100| 19570Q
Total 5,121,000 | 4,692,200 428,800
Customers connected 2,873,700 ] 2,693,400 180,200
Homas passed 10,480,300 | 9,848,300 631,000
Average number of RGUS per customer .78 1.74 0.04
Rate of customers taking 3 services 254% 23.3% 21%
ARPU -2 7,738 %7641 g5
(Average revanua per custamar par mcmh)
Monthly churn rate *3
CATV 1.1% 1.1% 0.0%
HS Intemat access 1.4% 1.4% 2.0%
Telaphony 0.8% 0.8% 0.0%
*2: ARPU per cusiomer connecied is calculated as follows: ge tolal of our sy {excluding installation, poor pion, and other ) for the pariod, divided by the weighted-average

number of connected customers during the pariod. Monthly average for January - June, 2008 and 2007,

3. Chum Rate = number of disconnects from a servica for the periad / the monthly weighted average number of subscribers -]

*4; A managed sysiem of operstions that bacame part of J;.COM's consulidated group afier 1H of 2007, Subscriber numbers of the newly cansolidated systam and
*Consclidated systems” and “Total of managed sysiems.” Thess numbers are subjact io change oncs they are unifisd under J:COM's calculation mathed. Kobs

Kobe-Ashiya Co., Ltd.

cperations are included in Operational Cata for
Cablevision has been merged with Cable Net
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Consolidated Semi-annual Financial Results Release
For the Six Months Ended June 30, 2003 o e
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Jupiter Telecommunications Co., Ltd. (Consolldated)
Company code number: 4817 (URL ; http://www.jcom.co.jp/english.html )
Shares traded: JASDAQ
Executive position of legal representative: Tomoyuki Moriizumi, Chief Executive Officer
Please address all communications to:

Koji Kobayashi, IR Department  Phone: +81-3-6765-8157
Expected date of filing of semi-annual report: September 29, 2008
Expected date of dividend payment: September 8, 2008

E-Mail: KobayashiKo@jupiterjcom.co.jp

1. Consolidated financial results (From January 1, 2008 to June 30, 2008)
(1) Consolidated operating resuits

{In millions of yen, with fractional amounts rounded)

Revenue Operating income Income before income taxes

(Millions of yen) % (Millions of yen) % {Millions of yen) %
Six months ended June 30, 2008 143815 123 25440 254 22722 291
Six months ended June 30, 2007 128,116 24.0 20,293 3041 17,603 304
Year ended December 31, 2007 264,508 42816 37,506
Net income Net income per share Net income per share, (diluted)
(Millions of yen) % (Yen) (Yen}
Six months ended June 30, 2008 13,063 13.2 1,906.79 1,903.49
Six manths ended June 30, 2007 11538 421 1,803.39 1,795.57
Year ended December 31, 2007 23,892 3,650.27 363883

(Notes}
1. Equity in earnings of affiliates;

For the six months ended June 30, 2008: 284 million yen
For the year ended December 31, 2007: 29! milfion yen

For the six months ended June 30, 2007 136 million yen

2. The percentages shown next o reverue, opergting income, income before income taxes and net income represent year-on-year changes.

(2) Consolidated financial position

Equity capital ratio

Shareholders' equity

Total assets Shareholders’ equity to total asset per share
{Millions of yen) {Millions of yen) % (Yen)
June 30, 2008 687,820 344 286 501 50,213.51
June 30, 2007 632,672 201,988 46.2 45518.11
December 31, 2007 680,416 330,009 485 48,195.11
{3) Consolidated cash flow statement
Cash flows from Cash fiows from Cash flows from Balance of cash &
operating activities investing activities financing activities cash equivalents
(Millions of yen) (Millions of yen) (Millions of yen) (Millions of yen)
Six months ended June 30, 2008 44 825 (20,064) (15,383) 32,268
Six months ended June 30, 2007 47,155 (24,790) (13,474) 29,377
Year ended December 31, 2007 95,226 (52,728) (40,094) 22,880
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(Translation from Japanese disclosure to JASDAQ)

2. Dividend information

Dividend per share (Yen)
Interim Year end Total
December 31, 2007 —_ — 0.00
December 31, 2008 500.00
750.00
December 31, 2008
{Forecast) 250.00

(Notes) Interim dividend amount per share ¥500 includes ¥250 as a special dividend.

3. Consolidated forecasts for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2008
(from January 1, 2008 to December 31, 2008)

. Income before . Net income
Revenue Operating income income taxes Net income: per share
(Miionsof yen) (%) | (Milionsofyen) (%) | (Milionsofyen) (%) | (Millions of yen) (%) {Yen)
Annual 295000 115 50,000 16.8 45000 200 27000 125 3,939.31
{Notes)

1. The percemtages shown next to reverue, operating income, income before income taxes and net income represent year-on-year changes
2. There are no changes from the press release dated Jarmary 30, 2008, except "Net income per share”

4. Other information

(1) Change in significant consolidated subsidiaries : None

(2) Change in significant accounting and reporting policies

1. Change caused by revision of accounting standards and other regulations : None
2. Change in accounting methods other than above : None

(3) Outstanding shares
1. Number of issued shares at end of term {consolidated):

As of June 30, 2008: 6,936,442 shares

2. Number of treasury stock:

As of June 30, 2008: 80,000 shares

As of June 30, 2007: 6,414,769 shares

(Note) Regarding number of shares basis of per share data, please refer to page 14,

As of June 30, 2007: O shares  As of December 31, 2007: 80,000 shares

As of December 31, 2007: 6,927,357 shares



(fr.anslation from Japanese disclosure to JASDAQ)

(Ref) Parent Company Only [JAPANESE GAAP]

1. Financial results (From January 1, 2008 to June 30, 2008}

{1) Operating results {In millicns of yen, with fractional amounts rounded)
Revenue Operating income Ordinary income:

{Milions ofyen) (%) | (Miionsofyen) (%) (Milions of yen) (%)
Six months ended June 30, 2008 56,002 132 4,995 743 5120 65.3
Six months ended June 30, 2007 48 566 49 2,866 464.4 3,097 327
Year ended December 31, 2007 107,807 8,147 8,656

Net income Net income per share

(Milions of yen) (%) {yen)
Six months ended June 30, 2008 3,961 30.8 57817
Six months ended June 30, 2007 3029 370 473,44
Year ended December 31, 2007 6,327 962.71

{Notes) The percentages shown next to reveriue, operating income, ordinary income and net income represent year-on-year changes.

(2) Financial position

(In millions of yen, with fractional amounts rounded)

Equity capital ratio Net assets

Total assets Net assets C:O tt.ital Zssets per share
{Millions of yen) (Millions of yen) (%) (Yen)
June 30, 2008 414,932 251,593 606 36,691.05
June 30, 2007 375,676 199,259 53.0 31,059.51
December 31, 2007 427,148 246,458 577 35,891.30

{(Notes) Stockholders 'equity :

As of June 30, 2008 ¥251,570miilion

As of June 30, 2007 ¥199,256 miliion

As of December 31, 2007  ¥246,444 million

(Cautionary note regarding future-related information)

The forecasts contained in this report have been prepared on the basis of information that is currently
available. Because such estimates are inherently very uncertain, actual results may differ from the
forecasts. The Company does not guarantee that it will achieve these estimated results and advises
readers to refrain from depending solely on these forecasts. Readers should also note that the Company is
under no obligation to revise this information on a regular basis.
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{Translation from Japanese disclosure to JAS'DAQ) ‘
1. Business Results
(1) Analysis of Business Results

a. Business Results for the First Half of the Current Fiscal Year

Status of J:COM

Jupiter Telecommunications Co., [.td.’s consolidated group (the J:COM Group or the Company) positioned
this fiscal year as one for achieving strong growth in cable television services. During the first half of this
year, the J:COM Group has made steady progress with its Volume plus Value growth strategy and its content
strategy.

The status of various efforts to implement its growth strategy is as follows.

In pursuit of its volume strategy and the focus on increasing subscribing households, the J:COM Group
increased the number of customer contact points by diversifying its sales routes. In particular, it strengthened
marketing efforts at J:COM Shops which provide direct experience of the J:COM Group’s services to
prospective customers to increase the efficiency of its sales operations. The first J:COM Shop was launched
in April 2007 and we now have 37 shops as the end of June 2008.

The J:COM Group continues to seek equity-base alliances and acquire cable television companies and
expanded its coverage areas by the January 2008 acquisition of a controlling interest in Kyoto Cable
Communications Co., Ltd. and the February 2008 acquisition of the cable television business in the certain
areas of the Kobe City Development & Management Foundation. The J:COM Group has also re-organized
its consolidated subsidiaries and operations to improve its operational efficiencies and competitiveness. As a
part of these efforts, Fukuoka Cable Network Co., Ltd.(FCN) which is in Kyushu region, announced its
merger with Cable Vision 21 Inc., a subsidiary of J:COM, effective September 1, 2008. Through this merger,
FCN, which has been the only equity-method affiliate among J:COM’s cable television systems, will become
a consolidated subsidiary of J:COM.

In pursuit of its value strategy, the J;:COM Group aims to improve monthly average revenue per user(ARPU),
The J:COM Group worked to raise the number of services offered per subscribing households (bundle ratio)
and to increase added value in existing services. In the area of high-speed Internet access services, it
expanded the coverage area for 160 Mbps super high-speed Internet access services beyond the Kansai area,
where this service was initially launched in 2007. The J:COM Group nearly achieved full roll-out by the end
of July 2008 excluding Kyoto Cable Communications Co., Ltd. The J:COM Group’s high-speed Internet
access services are highly competitive in comparison to the services offered by other major
telecommunications companies. This service gained the attention of subscribers and contributed to an
increase in subscriber numbers as well as growth in ARPU. We plan to provide this service throughout the
J:COM Group by the end of January 2009,

In pursuit of its content strategy, the J:COM Group improved the quality of its programming content through
the broadcasting of a new channel (Channel Ginga) in April 2008. The J:COM Group also enhanced its
channel lineup through the addition of two highly rated U. S. channels, FOXCRIME and the Sci Fi Channel
in March and April 2008, respectively.

In addition, as a facet of the activities to market “J:COM on Demand,” the J:COM Group plans to provide
NHK(Japan Broadcasting Corporation) on Demand distribution service via J:COM on Demand service in
December 2008. This will be a service that allows viewers to enjoy NHK television programming of their
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{Translation from Japanese disclosure to JASDAQ)

choice, at their convenience. NHK on Demand consists of two types of services, NHK Archive Selection and
Catch UP programs. Adding this new service to the J:COM lineup is expected to increase both the overall
number of subscribers and utilization of the “J:COM on Demand” service.

To diversify its income sources, the J:COM Group last year launched a full-scale entry into the advertising
business. To further enhance its marketing capabilities in the advertising field, the J:COM Group has
integrated its marketing operations into a newly established Ad Sales Division under the Jupiter TV
Company to increase its operating efficiencies through improved synergies in April 2008.

As a result of the above-mentioned measures, the total number of subscribing households (the number of
households that subscribe to one or more services) of consolidated managed system operators increased
177,500 households (7%) from June 30, 2007 to 2,759,600 households at June 30, 2008. By type of service,
cable television subscribers grew by 107,900 households (5%} since June 30, 2007 to 2,245,500 households
as of June 30, 2008. High-speed Internet access subscribers increased by 123,400 households (11%) from
June 30, 2007 to 1,280,600 households and telephony service subscribers grew by 191,800 households (16%)
from June 30, 2007 to 1,404,900 households. The bundle ratio increased from 1.75 as of June 30, 2007 to
1.79 as of June 30, 2008 and ARPU reached ¥7,754 for the six months ended June 30, 2008, up ¥101 from
the same period of the previous fiscal year.

In the following discussion, we quantify the impact of acquisitions on our results of operations. The
acquisition impact represents our estimate of the difference between the operating resuits of the periods under
comparison that is attributable to the timing of an acquisition. In general, we base our estimate of the
acquisition impact on an acquired entity’s operating results during the first three months following the
acquisition date such that changes from those operating results in subsequent periods are considered to be
organic changes. Included as acquisition in the below discussion are the July 2007 acquisition of Jupiter
Visual Co. Ltd, the September 2007 merger with Jupiter TV Co., Ltd. and its subsidiaries and affiliates (JTV
Group), the January 2008 acquisition of Kyoto Cable Communications Co. Ltd., and the February acquisition
of Kobe City Development & Management Foundation.

Revenue

Revenue increased by ¥15,699 million, or 12%, from ¥128,116 million for the six months ended June 30,
2007 to ¥ 143,815 million for the six months ended June 30, 2008. This increase includes ¥6,814 million
that is attributable to the aggregate impact of acquisitions. Excluding the effects of these acquisitions, total
revenue increased by ¥ 8,885 million, or 7%.

Subscription fees increased by ¥9,342 million, or 8%, from ¥112,761 million for the six months ended June
30, 2007 to ¥122,103 million for the six months ended June 30, 2008. This increase was due primarily to an
8% organic growth of subscription fees and the addition of subscription fees from newly consolidated
subsidiaries. This increase includes ¥928 million that is attributable to the aggregate impact of acquisitions.
Excluding the impact of acquisitions, subscription fees increased by ¥8,414 million, or 8%.

Cable television subscription fees increased by ¥4,873 million, or 8 %, from ¥60,507 million for the six
months ended June 30, 2007 to ¥65,380 million for the six months ended June 30, 2008. This 8% increase in
cable television subscription fees was due to a 7 % organic growth of subscription fees, the addition of fees
from newly consolidated subsidiaries, and the increasing proportion of cable television subscribers who
subscribe to our digital service, for which we charge a higher fee compared to our analog service. As of June
30, 2008, 73 % of cable television subscribers were receiving our digital service, compared to 59% as of June
30, 2007.



(Translation from Japanese disclosure to JASDAQ)

High-speed Internet access subscription fees increased by ¥2,892 million, or 9 %, from ¥32,631 million for
the six months ended June 30, 2007 to ¥35,523 million for the six months ended June 30, 2008. This increase
in high-speed Intemet access subscription fees was primarily attributable to a 9 % organic increase in
subscription fees and the addition of fees from newly consolidated subsidiaries partially offset by lower
ARPU due to product bundling discounts.

Telephony subscription fees increased by ¥1,577 million, or 8%, from ¥19,623 million for the six months
ended June 30, 2007 to ¥21,200 million for the six months ended June 30, 2008. This increase in telephony
subscription fees was attributable to an 8% organic increase in subscription fees that were partially offset by a
decrease in call charges.

Other revenue increased by ¥6,357 million, or 41 % , from ¥15,355 million for the six months ended June
30, 2007 to ¥21,712 million for the six months ended June 30, 2008. This increase includes ¥5,886 million
that is attributable to the aggregate impact of acquisitions primarily attributable to the merger with JTV
Group.

Operating costs and expenses.

Operating and programming costs increased by ¥4,484 million, or 9 %, from ¥51,319 million for the six
months ended June 30, 2007 to ¥55,803 million for the six months ended June 30, 2008. This increase
includes ¥2,616 million that is attributable to the aggregate impact of acquisitions. The remaining increases
are due primarily to programming and interconnect costs which are directly related to growth of our
subscriber base.

Selling, general and administrative expenses increased by ¥4,323 million, or 17 %, from ¥25,010 million
for the six months ended June 30, 2007 to ¥29,333 million for the six months ended June 30, 2008. This
increase includes ¥2,622 million that is attributable to the aggregate impact of acquisitions. The remaining
increase is primarily attributable to increase in personnel costs.

Depreciation and amortization expenses increased by ¥1,745 million, or 6 %, from ¥31,494 million for the
six months ended June 30, 2007 to ¥33,239 million for the six months ended June 30, 2008. The increase is
attributable to the aggregate impact of acquisitions and additions to fixed assets related to the installation of
services to new customers.

Operating income, as a result of the above items, increased by ¥5,147 million, or 25 %, from ¥20,293
million for the six months ended June 30, 2007 to ¥25,440 million for the six months ended June 30, 2008.

Interest expense, net increased by ¥234 million, or 11 %, from ¥2,095 million for the six months ended June
30, 2007 to ¥2,329 million for the six months ended June 30, 2008.

Income before income taxes increased by ¥5,119 million, or 29 %, from ¥17,603 million for the six months
ended June 30, 2007 to ¥22,722 million for the six months ended June 30, 2008,

Net income increased by ¥1,525 million, or 13 %, from ¥11,538 million for the six months ended June 30,
2007 to ¥13,063 million for the six months ended June 30, 2008 for the reasons set forth above.




* (Trans'ation from Japanese disclosure to JASDAQ)

b. Forecasts for the Fiscal Year Ending December 2008

The most important issue for the J:COM Group this fiscal year is one for achieving strong growth in cable
television services. To achieve this goal, the J:COM Group will use one of its greatest strengths— diversified
marketing touch points finely tailored for each region. In addition, the J:COM Group’s value-added services
such as high-speed Internet access and enhanced cable television services, improves the level of subscriber
satisfaction and differentiates the J:COM Group from its competitors, which leads to increases in subscriber
numbers and ARPU.

J:COM Group forecasts revenue of ¥295 billion, operating income of ¥50 billion, and net income of ¥27
billion for this fiscal year.

(2) Financial position

Asset, Liability and Stockholders’ equity

Total assets increased by ¥7,404 million, from ¥680,416 million as of December 31, 2007 to ¥637,820
million as of June 30, 2008. The increase is primarily due to acquisitions made in the first quarter of 2008.
Total liabilities decreased by ¥8,098 million, from ¥345,008 million as of December 31, 2007 to ¥336,910
million as of June 30, 2008. The decrease is primarily due to decrease in long-term debt, accounts payable
and income tax payable.

Stockholders’ equity increased by ¥14,277 million, from ¥330,009 million as of December 31, 2007 to
¥344,286 million as of June 30, 2008. The increase is primarily due to net income for the six months ended
June 30, 2008,

Cash flows

For the six months ended June 30, 2008, the net cash provided by our operating activities of ¥44,825 million
and existing cash and cash equivalent was used to fund net cash used in our investing and financing activities
of ¥20,064 million and ¥15,383 million, respectively.

Cash Provided by Operating Activities. Net cash flows provided by operating activities decreased ¥2,330
million, or 5% from ¥47,155 million for the six months ended June 30, 2007 to ¥44,825 million for the six
months ended June 30, 2008. The decrease is primarily attributable to (i) an increase in cash used for our
operating and SG&A expenses, (ii) an increase in cash paid for income taxes and (iii) an increase in cash used
as a result of changes in our working capital accounts. These decreases were partially offset by an increase in
our revenue for the six months ended June 30, 2008.

Cash Used in Investing Activities.  Net cash used in investing activities decreased ¥4,726 million from
¥24,790 million for the six months ended June 30, 2007 to ¥20,064 million for the six months ended June 30,
2008. The net cash used for the six months ended June 30, 2008 primarily consisted of ¥17,254 million for
capital expenditures and ¥2,841 million for our acquisition of new subsidiary and business operations.

Cash Used in Financing Activities. Net cash used in financing activities increased ¥1,909 million, or 14%
from ¥13,474 million for the six months ended June 30, 2007 to ¥15,383 million for the six months ended
June 30, 2008. The increase is primarily attributable to the net impact of (i) a ¥1,843 million decrease in
proceeds received from the issuance of our common stock, (i) a ¥842 million increase in net principal
repayments of debt and capital lease obligations and (iii) a ¥776 million increase of other financing activities.
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(3) Fundamental Policy Regarding the Distribution of Profits and Dividends

The Company is strongly aware that the distribution of profits to shareholders is an important management
issue. In the first-half of the current fiscal year under review, the Company will start to pay dividends, while
also continuing to increase the J:COM Group’s internal reserves for future potential investments such
as acquisition of other companies or capital investment, as it executes a policy of stable and continuous
returns to shareholders.

The interim dividend will be ¥500 per share, which includes a special dividend of ¥250 per share. A year-end
dividend of ¥250 per share is planned.

Going forward, it is the Company’s policy to provide sound returns to shareholders while continuing to
ensure the sustainable growth of its business.

2. Status of the Jupiter Telecommunications Co., Ltd. (J:COM) Group

Omitted since there have been no significant changes in the J:COM Group’s status as
described in the latest Annual Securities Reports (submitted on March 27, 2008).

3. Management Policy

(1) Fundamental Management Policy

Omitted since there have been no significant changes in the J:COM Group’s fundamental management
policy as described in the Consolidated Annual Financial Results Release for the Year Ended December
31,2007 (released January 30, 2008).

The aforementioned Consolidated Annual Financial Results Release can be found online at:
http://www.icom.co jp/ir/er/irlibrary/brief.html
(J:COM Website)

(2) Target Management Indices

Omitted since there have been no significant changes in the J:COM Group’s target management indices as
described in the Consolidated Annual Financial Results Release for the Year Ended December 31,2007
(released January 30, 2008).

The aforementioned Consolidated Annual Financial Results can be found online at:
http://'www.jcom.co,jp/ir/en/irlibrary/brief. html
(J:COM Website)

(3) Medium- and Long-term Management Strategies and Issues Requiring Action

Omitted since there have been no significant changes in the J:COM Group’s medium- and long-term
management strategies and issues requiring action as described in the Consolidated Annual Financial Results
Release for the Year Ended December 31, 2007 (released January 30, 2008).

The aforementioned Consolidated Annu_a] Financial Results Release can be found online at:
http://'www.jcom.co jp/ir/en/irlibrary/brief html
(J:COM Website)




4. Semi-annual Consolidated Financial Statements

For the 6 Months Ended June 30, 2008

(Translation from Japanese disclosure to JASDAQ)

JUPITER TELECOMMUNICATIONS CO., LTD.
AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

(YEN IN MILLIONS, EXCEPT SHARE AND PER SHARE AMOUNTS)

Six months

Six months

Year ended
ended ended Change
Account June 30,2008 | June 30, 2007 Dec. 31, 2007
Amount Amount Amount (%} Amount
Revenue:
Subscription fees 122,103 112,761 9,342 B.3 230,061
Other 21,712 15,355 6,357 414 34,447
143,815 128,116 15,699 123 264,508
Operating costs and expenses
Operating and programming costs {55,803) (51,319) (4,484) (8.7} (104,748)
Selling, general and administrative (26,333) (25,010) (4,323) (17.3) (52,722)
Depreciation and amontization {33,239) (31,494} (1,745) (5.5) (64,222}
(118,375) (107,823) {10,552) {(9.8) {221,692)
Operating income 25,440 20,293 5,147 25.4 42,816
Other income (expenses) :
Interest expense, net:
Related parties (717) (852) {65) (10.0) {1,332}
Other (1.612) (1,443) {169) (M7 (2,944)
Equity in earnings of affiliates 284 136 148 108.9 291
Other income, net 313 338 (25) (7.0 558
:Fecnc?‘?e before income taxes and other 23,708 18,672 5.036 270 39,389
Minority interest in net income of
consolidated subsidiaries (986) (1,069) 83 7.8 (1,883)
Income before income taxes 22722 17,603 5119 291 37,506
Income tax expense (9,659) {6,065) (3,594) 59.2 (13,514)
Net income 13,063 11,538 1,526 13.2 23,992
Per Share data
Net income per share - basic 1,806.79 1,803.39 103.40 57 3,650.27
Net income per share - diluted 1,903.49 1,795.57 107.92 6.0 363893
Weighted average number of ordinary
shares outstanding — basic 6,851,517 6,397,907 453,610 71 6,572,638
Weighted average number of ordinary
shares outstanding ~ diluted 6,863,393 6,425,765 437,628 6.8 6,593,130

{Note) Percentages are calculated based on amounts before rounded in Change column.
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(Translation from Japanese disclosure to JASDAQ)

JUPITER TELECOMMUNICATIONS CO., LTD.

AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(YEN IN MILLIONS})

Account June 30, 2008 December 31, 2007 Change
Amount Amount Amount
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents 32,268 22,890 0,378
Accounts receivable 12,410 13,198 (788)
Allowance for doubtful accounts (375) (356) (19)
Deferred tax asset - cument 10,514 11,738 (1,224)
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 5619 5164 455
Total current assets 60,436 52,634 7,802
Investments:
Investments in affiliates 14,107 19,502 (5,395)
Investments in other securities, at cost 2,141 2139 2
16,248 21,641 (5,393)
Property and equipment, at cost:
Land 2,923 2789 134
Distribution system and equipment 552,282 523,599 28,683
Support equipment and buildings 40,045 39,148 897
595,250 565,536 29,714
Less accumulated depreciation (256,753) (228,341) (28.412)
Total property and equipment at cost 338,497 337,195 1,302
Other assets:
Goodwill 225,239 221,493 3,748
ldentifiable intangible asset, net 34,244 32,862 1,352
Deferred tax asset — non current 2,208 4,423 (2,215)
Other 10,948 10,168 780
Total other assets 272639 268,945 3,693
Total assets 687,820 680,416 7,404




('I"-réflgl-atién' from Jébéhéée disclosure to JASDAQ)

June 30, 2008 December 31, 2007 Change
Account
Amount Amount Amount
Current liabilities:
Short-temm loans 2,000 2,625 (625)
Long-term debt—current portion 12179 21,308 {9,129)
Capital lease obligations—current portion
Related parties 12,408 11,671 737
Other 2,897 2,947 (50)
Accounts payable 20,144 24279 (4,135)
Income taxes payable 6,128 7,082 (954)
Deposit from related parties 3,768 3,536 232
Deferred revenue - current portion 6,197 6,088 109
Accrued expenses and other liabilities 8,607 6,236 2,451
Total current liabilities 74,408 85,772 {11,364)
Long-term debt, less current portion 144 591 143,219 1,372
Capital lease obligations, less current portion:
Related parties 34,499 34,335 164
Other 5,998 6,911 (913)
Deferred revenue 57,169 54,708 2,461
Redeemable preferred stock of consolidated subsidiary 500 500 -
Deferred tax liability — non current 10,775 12,643 (1,668)
Other liabilities 8,970 6,820 2,050
Total liabilities 336,910 345,008 {8,098)
Minority interests 6,624 5,399 1,225
Shareholders’ equity:
Ordinary shares no par value 117,098 116,734 364
Additional paid-in capital 231,882 231,493 3gg
Accumulated deficit 2,984 (10,079) 13,063
Treasury stack (7,520) (7.520) —
Accumulated other comprehensive income {158} (819) 461
Total shareholders’ equity 344,286 330,009 14,277
Total liabilities, minority interest and shareholders’ equity 687,820 680,416 7,404




~ (Translation from Japanese disclosure to JASDAQ)

JUPITER TELECOMMUNICATIONS CO., LTD.
AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS'’ EQUITY

(YEN IN MILLIONS)

" Accumulated
. Additional . Treasury Total
Ordinary iyt Comprehensive | Accumulated Cther :
Shares | PakHn | ooomed(Loss) Defict | Comprehensive | Stockat | Shareholders
capital Incomef{Loss) cost Equity

Delance at December 31, | 115,232 | 196,335 (34,071) (200) © | 277206
Net income:; 23,992 23,892 23,992
Other comprehensive
income:

Cr;angef,% in the fair

value of derivative 1 41

financial instruments “19) (419) (419)
Comprehensive income 23,573
Stock option exercise 1,502 1,470 2972
Stock compensation
{includes paid not issued 141 141
options)
Increase due to merger 33,547 33,547
Purchase of treasury stock (7,520) (7,520)
Satance at December 31, | 116,734 | 231493 (10,079) ©19) | 7520 | 330009
Net Income 13,063 13,063 13,063
Other comprehensive
income:

Changes in the fair

value of derivative 461 461 461

financial instruments
Comprehensive income 13,524
Stock option exercise 364 364 728
Stock compensation 25 25
Purchase of treasury stock
Balance at June 30,2008 { 117,098 | 231,882 2,984 (158) | (v,520) 344 286
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JUPITER TELECOMMUNICATIONS CO., LTD.
AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(YEN IN MILLIONS)

Six months ended Six months ended Year ended
June 30, 2008 June 30, 2007 December 31, 2007
Classification Amourt Amount Amount
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income 13,063 11,538 23,992
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by
operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 33,239 31,494 64,222
Equity in earnings of affiliates (284) {136) (291}
Minority interest in net income of consolidated subsidiaries 986 1,069 1,883
Stock compensation expenses 25 a0 140
Deferred income taxes 1,973 855 1,657
Non-cash gain from forgiveness of debt (135) — -
Changes in cperating assets and liabilities, excluding
effects of business combinations:
Decrease in accounts receivable, net 1,131 2,084 2,477
(Increase)/decrease in prepaid expenses and other (1,549) @) 214
current assets
Increase in other assets (47) {1,555) (2,478)
Increase/{decrease) in accounts payable (4,626) (2,920} 412
Increase in accrued expenses and other liabilities 1,384 4,879 2,834
Increase/(decrease) in deferred revenue {335) (239) 164
Net cash provided by cperating activities 44 825 47,155 95,226
Cash flows from investing activities:
Capital expenditures (17,254) (20,353) {46,348)
Acquisitions of new subsidiaries, net of cash acquired {1,131) - 634
Acquisition of new business operation (1,710) — -
Investments in and advances to affiliales - — (1,138}
Loan to related party — (3,650) (5,166}
Principle received from related party -— — 1,350
Acquisition of minority interests in consolidated subsidiaries (87) {951} (2,543)
Other investing activities 118 164 483
Net cash used in investing activities (20,064) (24,790) {52,728)
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from issuance of common stock 727 2,570 2973
Purchase of treasury stock - — {7,520)
Change in short-term loans {200} (300) 335
Proceeds from long-term debt 25,284 253 613
Principal payments of long-term debt {33,451) (8,125) {25,699)
Principal payments under capital lease obligations (8,489) (7.852) (15,689)
Other financing activities 756 (20) 4,893
Net cash used in financing activities {15,383) (13,474) {40,094)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 9,378 8,801 2,404
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 22,890 20,485 20,486
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 32,268 29,377 22,890
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Notes to Interim Period Consolidated Financial Statements

Scope of consolidation
(1} Number of consolidated subsidiaries: 30

WA RTINS W

{Translation from Japanese disclosure to JA

SDAQ)

(2} The names of major consolidated subsidiaries: J.:COM West Co., Ltd., J:COM Kanto Co., Ltd., J:COM Tokyo Co., Ltd.

(3) Change of scope of consolidation

The consolidated subsidiary J:COM Kansai Co., Ltd. merged with the consolidated subsidiaries Hokusetsu Cable Net Co.,
Ltd. and Cable West Inc. J:COM Kansai Co., Ltd. was renamed J:COM West Co., Ltd.
The Company acquired the shares of Kyoto Cable Communications Co., Ltd. from other shareholders, making it a

consolidated subsidiary from an equity method affiliate.
The Company sold all of its shares of JSBC2 Co., Ltd.

Since there is no significant change from Annual Securities Reports (submitted on March 27, 2008) except for the above,

we are not required to provide any additional information.

Segment Information
(1) Operating segments

The Company’s new channel services are considered a separate operating segment, however, due to the insignificant
size of these channel service operations, management has determined it has one reportable segment “Broadband
communications services” as of June 30, 2008. Therefore, information on operating segments is not applicable in this
section.

(2) Segment information by region

Since the Company does not have any overseas subsidiaries or branches, this section is not applicable.

Earning per share
Six months ended Year ended
June 30, December 31,
2008 2007 2007
Net income (Yen in Million)..........oor oo iicsiieenn e, 13,063 11,538 23,992
Weighted average commeon shares outstanding:

BSIC ...rvererreeeeresrearrerrrnser s et sttt 6,851,517 6,397,907 6,572,638
Effect of dilutive common stock equivalents ...........cceceeeeee. 11,876 27,858 20,492
DHIILEM .vovvvrerrrrerrressreermceeeeresesi et seierist s st sbsas b sisbesas i 6,863,393 6,425,765 6,593,130

Earnings per share (Yen):
BaSIC ..ottt s s s 1,906.79 1,803.39 3,65027
DAULEd......cosirimsirrimssinsnssssss s s s e 1,903.49 1,795.57 3,638.93
Subsequent events

On July 4, 2008, shareholders of Cable Vision 21, Inc., our consolidated subsidiary, and Fukuoka Cable Network Co.,
Ltd., our equity method affiliate, agreedto merge these two companiesand signeda merger agreement. In
accordance with the merger agreement, the merger will take place on September 1, 2008 and FCN will be a surviving
entity under a new company name as J;COM Fuluoka Co., Ltd. (JFC) and JFC will become our consolidated
subsidiary. Upon the merger, we expect that JFC will provide a higher level of assurance and reliability to its
subscribers by enhancing its presence in the market as a largest cable TV company in the Kyushu area. Also, we expect
that this merger will enable JFC to improve its financial strength and business efficiency, to further expand service areas,
and to contribute community in the Kyushu area by providing improved access and service.



('franslation from Japanese disclosure to JASDAQ)

5. Semi-annual financial Statements

For the 6 Months Ended June 30, 2008

JUPITER TELECOMMUNICATIONS CO,, LTD
(Parent Company Only-Japanese GAAP)

STATEMENTS OF INCOME
(YEN IN MILLIONS)
Six months ended | Six months ended Change Year ended
Account June 30, 2008 June 30, 2007 Dec 31, 2007
Amount Amount Amount {%) Amount

Sales 56,092 49,566 6,526 132 107,807
Cost of sales 44,341 41,241 3,100 7.5 87,952
Gross income 1,751 8,325 3,426 412 19,855
Selling, general & administrative expenses 6,756 5,459 1,297 2348 11,708
Operating income 4,995 2,866 2,129 743 8,147
Non-Operating profit 1,532 1,815 (283) {15.6) 3635
Non-Operating charges 1,407 1,584 (177) {(11.2) 3,126
Ordinary income 5,120 3,097 2,023 65.3 8,656
Extraordinary gain 710 — 710 — -
Extraordinary losses 144 — 144 — 59
Net Income before taxes 5,686 3,097 2,589 8386 8,597
Income taxes & inhabitant taxes 16 1,392 (1,376) (98.9) 3,661
Income taxes - deferred 1,709 (1,324) (3,033) — (1,391)
Net Income after taxes 3,961 3,029 932 30.8 6,327

(Note) Percentages are calculated based on amounts before rounded in Change column.




~ (Translation from Japanese disclosure to JASDAQ)
JUPITER TELECOMMUNICATIONS CO., LTD
(Parent Company Only-Japanese GAAP)

BALANCE SHEETS
(YEN IN MILLIONS)
Account Juzr:)gm r?;loezrgobsr Change Account Juzr;:o' D:‘lc,eznt.)'g; " | Change
Amount Amount Amount Amount Amourt | Amount
Current assets: Current liabilities.
Cash and cash equivalents 1698 1437 261 | Accounts payable-Trade 8882 7.964 918
Accounts receivable-Trade 1gs2| 153 419 ;gfh%:f”“ debt-current gosa| 18075 | (9.001)
Inventories 1,181 359 802 | Other current liabilities 5,053 10,849 (5,796)
Other current assets 30434 24,089 15,345 | Total current liabilities 22918 36,888 | (13,969
Total current assets 54245 37418 16,827 | Fixed liabilites:
Long-term debt 1304771 128,151 2,326
Other long term liabilities 9943 15649 (5,706}
Total fixed liabilities 1404201 143800 (3,380)
Fixed assets Total Liabilities 163339 | 180688 | (17,349)
Tangible fixed assets 2821 2,962 (141) | Stockholders’ equity
Intangible fixed assets 10,896 19,800 (8,904) | Common stock 17,098 | 116,734 364
e ey Subsidianes | 263604 [ 269612 | (6.008) | Capial supus:
gge”“ loans to related 78400 | 92300 | (13900)| Capitalresenve 31237 30873 364
Other assets 4,966 5,054 (88) | Acdditional paid-in capital 94,132 94,132 -
o nvesmentsandoter | agg70 | 366966 | (1999) [ Tt Capitl Surplus 125389 | 125005 | 364
Total fixed assets 360687 1 389728 (29,041) | Accumudated profit
Retained earnings carried 16770 12,809 3061
forward ’ ' '
Total retained eamings 16,770 12,809 3,961
Treasury stock {7.520) (7,520) —
Total Stockholder's equity 251,717 | 247,028 4689
Revaluation surplus
Deferred hedge gain (loss) (147) (584) 437
Total Revaluation surplus (147} (584) 437
Stock option 23 14 9
Total Net Assets 251,593 246458 5135

Total Assets 414932 | 427146 | (12214) | Total Liabilties and NetAssets| 414932 | 427,146 | (12214)
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(Translation from Japanese disclosure to JASDAQ)

JUPITER TELECOMMUNICATIONS CO,, LTD
(Parent Company Only-Japanese GAAP)
STATEMENT OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

e e AR

For the 6 months ended June 30, 2008 (YEN IN MILLIONS)

Stockholders’ equity
Capital Surplus Retained Earnings
Total
Common stock Accumulated Tr;zi’;"(w Stockhaide
Capital Addtiona | Totaicapital profit Total retained "equity
reserve | padncapld | SUPKS | Retanedeamings | SAMINGS
carned forward

ggg"’e 8t Decsmber 31, 16734 | 30873 94,132 125,005 12,808 12800| (75200 247,028
Movement for this period

Net income 3.961 3961 3,961

Stock option exercise 354 354 364 728

Movement other than _

Stockholders' equity item
Total movement 364 B4 364 3,961 3,951 4689
Balance at June 30, 2008 117,008 31,237 94,132 125,369 16,770 16,770 {7.520) 25117

Revaluation surplus
Deferred hedge Total revaluation | Stock option | Total Net assets
gain (loss) suplus

Bal
2 goa_,noe at December 31, (584) (584) 14 246,458
Movement for this period

Netincome 3,961

Stock option exercise 728

Movement other than

Stockholders' equity item a7 437 9 448
Total movement 437 437 9 5135
Balance at June 30, 2008 (147) (147) 23 251,59
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(Translation from Japanese disclosure to JASDAQ)

For the 12 months ended December 31, 2007

(YEN IN MILLIONS)

Stockholders’ equity

Capital Surplus Retained Eamings
Accumulated Total
Conmon | ASENS N Capial | Addinal | Towlcaril | pot | ol | TESLY| st
mserve | pacHncptal [ supks Retaedearnics | eamings equity
cared forward
Balance at December 31, 2006 115232 2 29371 2230 71,601 6,482 6482 (o)) 163,347
Movement for this period
Netincome 6,327 6,327 6,327
JTV merger 51902 51902 51,902
Treasury stock (7.520) {7.520)
Stock option exercise 1,486 1,486 1,485 2972
Reclassified from Advance
on subscription to Common 16 (32) 16 16 -
stock or Capital reserve
Movement other than _
Stockhalders’ equity item
Total movement 1,502 32 1502 51902 53,404 6,327 6327 (7.520) 53681
Balance at Decermber 31, 2007 16,734 - 30873 94132 | 125005 12,809 12,809 {7.520) 247028
Revaluation sumplus
Deferred hedge Tolal revaluation | Stock option | Total Net assets
gain(ioss) SUpUS
Baiance at Decernber 31, 2006 (192) (192) — 193,155
Movernent for this period
Netincome 6327
JTV merger 51,902
Treasury stock (7.520)
Stock option exercise 2972
Reclassified from Advance
on subscription to Common -
stock or Capital reserve
Movernent other than
Stockholders’ equity item (%) (%) 14 (378)
Total movement (392) (3) 14 53,303
Bakance at Decernber 31, 2007 (534 (584) 14 245,458
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(Translation from Japanese disclosure to JASDAQ)

Change of Significant Accounting Policies (Parent Only-Japanese GAAP)

Due to early adoption of new accounting guidance, JICPA Accounting Standard Committee Report No. 10 (The revision of
the practical guidance for deferred income tax accounting for stand alone financial statements) , our operating income and
ordinary income both increased by ¥422 miltion and our net income before taxes increased by ¥703 million,

Additional Information

Business combination

Based on the JTV valuation report updated by the supplemental information we had acquired during the current half year, the
purchase price allocation was finalized since the previous purchase price allocation was based on preliminary estimates of fair
value with the available data at the time.

The carrying amount of goodwill was adjusted based on the final purchase price allocation and the application of new
practical guidelines, deferred tax accounting for financial statement, as follow.

(Yen in Millions)

Account Change in goodwill

<Purchase price allocation™>

Current assets (Other current assets) 12

Non-current assets (Investments in subsidiaries and affiliates) 7,168
Subtotal 7.180

<Effect of early adoption of new accounting guidance >
Other long-term liabilities (Deferred income tax) (15,619)

Total (8,439)




o S I R
T JASDAOL

July 29,2008 B8 A 7 3a
Notice Regarding Grant of Stock Acquisition Rights as '

Stock Compensation Tvpe Stock Options to Directors and Corporaté dﬂicerg

D]

We hereby provide notice that we have resolved in our board of directors meeting held on July 29, 2008 to
grant stock acquisition rights as stock compensation type stock options on the terms below.

L Reason for Granting Stock Acquisition Rights as Stock Compensation Type Stock Options

With the objective of improving mid-term business results and stock prices, Jupiter Telecommunications Co.,
Ltd. (the “Company™) intend to provide mid-term incentives to the Company’s directors and corporate
officers.

IL Terms of Grant of Stock Acquisition Rights
1. Name of Stock Acquisition Rights

Jupiter Telecommunications Co., Ltd. 2008 Stock Compensation Type Stock Acquisition Rights (mid-term
incentive).

2. Total Number of Stock Acquisition Rights to be Granted
312 stock acquisition rights.

Provided, the total number above shall be the planned number of stock acquisition rights to be granted, and if
the total number of allocated stock acquisition rights decrease due to lack of subscription or for other reasons,
the total number of stock acquisition rights issued shall be the total number of such allocated stock acquisition

rights.
3. Type and Number of Shares Subject to Stock Acquisition Rights

The shares to be granted upon exercise of the stock acquisition rights shall be ordinary shares of the Company,
and the number of shares to be granted upon exercise of each stock acquisition right (the “Number of Shares
Granted”) shall be one. Provided, if there occurs a share split (including grants of the Company’s ordinary
shares without consideration, and the same hereatter for references to share splits) or a consolidation of shares,
after the date provided in 12. below as the date on which the stock acquisition rights are granted (the “Grant
Date™), the Number of Shares Granted shall be adjusted in accordance with the following.

(number of shares granted after adjustment) = (number of shares granted before adjustment) x (ratio of share
split or consolidation of shares)

In the case of a share split, the number of shares granted after adjustment shall apply after the date on which the
relevant share split occurs, and in the case of a consolidation of shares, the number of shares granted after
adjustment shall apply after the effective date of the relevant consolidation of shares. Provided, if a share split is
subject to with the condition that the reduction of the capital surplus and the increase of the capital or the capital
reserve is be approved at the Company’s shareholders meeting, and the applicable share split date is before the
date of the shareholders meeting, the number of shares granted after adjustment shall apply dating back to the

TK\33984.1




following date of the relevant share split date after the date of the relevant shareholders meeting,

In addition to the above, if after the Grant Date it becomes appropriate to change the Number of Shares
Granted due to a merger, the issuance of new shares or a company split of the Company, the Company may
change the Number of Shares Granted as necessary.

Shares of less than one full share resulting from the adjustments above shall be rounded down.

When adjusting the Number of Shares Granted, the Company shall, on or before the date immediately prior to
the date on which the number of shares granted after adjustment will apply, send notice or publicly announce
the relevant details to each person who is recorded in the registry of stock acquisition rights as a holder of stock
acquisition rights (the “Stock Aequisition Rights Holders™). Provided, if notice or announcement cannot be
made prior to the date immediately preceding the applicable adjustment date, notice or announcement shall be
made promptly thereafter.

4. Exercise Price of the Stock Aequisition Rights

The exercise price shall be one yen for each share to be issued upon the exercise of stock acquisition rights, and
the total exercise price shall be this amount multiplied by the Number of Shares Granted.

5. Exercise Period of the Stock Acquisition Rights
From August 16, 2008 to July 31,2016.

6. Increase in Capital and Capital Reserve as a Result of the Issuance of Shares upon the Exercise of
Stock Acquisition Rights

(1) The amount of capital to be increased as the result of the issuance of shares upon the exercise of stock
acquisition rights shall be one half of the maximum amount of capital increase calculated in accordance
with article 40 paragraph 1 of the Corporate Accounting Regulations, and any amounts of less than one
yen shall be rounded up.

(2) The amount of capital reserve to be increased as the result of the issuance of shares upon the exercise of
stock acquisition rights shall be calculated as the maximum amount of the capital increase provided in
paragraph (1) above, minus the amount of capital to be increased pursuant to paragraph (1) above.

7. Restrictions on Transfers of Stock Acquisition Rights
The transfer of stock acquisition rights shall require the approval of the board of directors of the Company.

8. Conditions to the Acquisition of Stock A cquisition Rights

If any of items (1), (2), or (3) below are approved by the Company’s shareholders meeting (or where an
approval of the sharcholders” meeting is not required, approved by the Company’s board of directors),
the Company may acquire, for no consideration, the stock acquisition rights on a date determined
separately by the Company’s board of directors.

(1) A resolution approving a merger agreement under which the Company is the extinct company.
(2) A resolution approving a company split agreement or a company split plan under which the

TEN33984.1




Company is the split company.

(3) A resolution approving a share exchange agreement or a share transfer plan under which the
Company becomes the wholly-owned subsidiary.

9, Policy for Issuance of Stock Acquisition Rights in a Reorganization

If the Company consummates a merger (limited to when the Company is the extinct company), an
absorption-type or an incorporation-type company split (limited to where the Company is the split company), a
share exchange or a share transfer (in each case where the Company becomes the wholly-owned subsidiary)
(each of the above hereinafter, a “Reorganization”), in each case, stock acquisition rights of the company
provided in subparagraphs (i) to (v) of Paragraph 8, Section 1, Article 236 of the Company Law (hereinafter,
the “Reorganized Company”) shall be granted to the Stock Acquisition Rights Holders who hold the
remaining stock acquisition rights (the “Remaining SARS”) on the date immediately preceding the effective
date of the Reorganization (which shall be, for an absorption-type merger, the effective date of the
absorption-type merger; for an incorporation-type merger, the incorporation date of the new company; for an
absorption-type company split, the effective date of the absorption-type company split; for an
incorporation-type company split, the incorporation date of the newly formed corporation; for a share exchange,
the effective date of the share exchange; and for a share transfer, the incorporation date of the parent company).
Provided, the relevant absorption-type merger agreement, incorporation-type merger agreement,
absorption-type company split agreement, incorporation-type company split plan, share exchange agreement
or share transfer plan shall provide for the grant of the stock acquisition rights of the Reorganized Company in
accordance with the following terms:

(1) Number of stock acquisition rights of Reorganized Company granted.

The number of stock acquisition rights shall be equal to the number of Remaining SARS held by
the Stock Acquisition Rights Holders.

(2) Type of shares of Reorganized Company subject to stock acquisition rights.
The ordinary shares of the Reorganized Company.

(3) The number of shares of the Reorganized Company subject to stock acquisition rights.
Calculated in accordance with 3. above, taking into consideration the terms of reorganization.

{4) Exercise price of the stock acquisition rights
The exercise price of each stock acquisition right shall be the amount of the post reorganization
payment amount (defined below) multiplied by the number of shares of the Reorganized
Company subject to each stock acquisition right calculated in accordance with (3) above. The post
reorganization payment amount shall be one yen per share of the Reorganized Company to be
issued upon the exercise of each stock acquisition right to be granted.

(5) Exercise period of the stock acquisition rights

The exercise period of the stock acquisition rights shall be from the later of the beginning of the
exercise period provided in 5. above and the effective date of the Reorganization, until the end of
the exercise period provided in 5. above.

TKN\33984.1




To be determined in accordance with 6. above.

{7) Restrictions on transfers of stock acquisition rights

The transfer of stock acquisition rights shall require the approval of the board of directors of the
Reorganized Company.

(8) Conditions to the acquisttion of stock acquisition rights

To be determined in accordance with 8. above,

(9) Other conditions on the exercise of stock acquisition rights

To be determined in accordance with 10, below.

10. Other Conditions on the Exercise of Stock Acquisition Rights

O

@

3

@

A Stock Acquisition Rights Holder may exercise stock acquisition rights on the day (the “Start of the
Exercise Period”) following the date on which he or she resigns (or retires) from the office of director
or corporate officer of the Company, as a result of the expiration of such office (in cases where such
Stock Acquisition Rights Holder subsequently becomes a director, a corporate officer or an employee
of the Company, or subsidiaries or affiliated companies of the Company (the “Subsidiaries™), the
Start of the Exercise Period is the day following the date on which he or she resigns or retires from
such position, as a result of the expiration of such office).

In case that the stock acquisition rights are exercised in accordance with (1) above, a Stock
Acquisition Rights Holder may exercise them only for a period of two years from the Start of the
Exercise Period.

Notwithstanding (1) and (2) above, a Stock Acquisition Rights Holder may exercise stock acquisition
rights in the period provided below if either of (i) or (ii) below occur (provided, (ii) below shall not
apply if stock acquisition rights of the Reorganized Company will be granted to the Stock Acquisition
Rights Holder in accordance with 9. above):

(i) Ifthe Start of the Exercise Period does not occur by July 31,2010
The stock acquisition rights may be exercised between August 1, 2010 and July 31, 2016; or

(i) Ifa resolution approving a merger agreement under which the Company is the extinct company,
or a share exchange agreement or a share transfer plan under which the Company becomes the
wholly-owned subsidiary is approved by the Company’s shareholders meeting (or where a
shareholders meeting is not required, approved by the Company’s board of directors)
The stock acquisition rights may be exercised for a period of fifieen days from the date
immediately after the relevant approval date.

In case that the stock acquisition rights are exercised in accordance with (3) (i) above, the number of
stock acquisition rights to be exercised is limited to the number provided in (i) or (ii) below, and any
niumber less than an integral number shall be rounded up:

(i) BetweenAugust 1,2010 and July 31,2011
50% of the stock acquisition rights of such Stock Acquisition Rights Holder; and
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(i) BetweenAugust 1,2016 and July 31,2016
100% of remaining stock acquisition rights of such Stock Acquisition Rights Holder.

(5) IfaStock Acquisition Rights Holder is dismissed from the position of director or corporate officer of
the Company (or in cases where such Stock Acquisition Rights Holder subsequently becomes a
director, a corporate officer or an employee of the Company or the Subsidiaries, as a result of the
expiration of such officz, dismissed from the position of director, corporate officer or employee of the
Company or the Subsidiaries), he or she may not exercise stock acquisition rights after the dismissal.

(6) Ifa Stock Acquisition Rights Holder forfeits stock acquisition rights, he or she may not exercise the
relevant stock acquisition rights.

11. Calculation of Payment Price of Stock Acquisition Rights

The fair market value of the stock acquisition rights shall be calculated in accordance with the Black-Scholes
model, using the share price of the Grant Date of the stock acquisition rights and the exercise price provided in
4. above.

12. Grant date of stock acquisition rights

August 15, 2008.

13. Payment date for grant of stock acquisition rights

August 15, 2008.

TEN33084.1



J:COM

JUNE 16, 2008
FOR IMMEDIATE RELEASE

JUPITER TELECOMMUNICATIONS ANNOUNCES
May 2008 SUBSCRIBER FIGURES

Tokyo, Japan -- Jupiter Telecommunications Co., Ltd. (JASDAQ: 4817), the largest multiple system
operator (MSO) in Japan based on the number of customers served, has announced that the total subscribing
households as of May 31, 2008 served by J:COM’s 20 managed franchises reached 2.86 million, up 178,900,
or 6.7% since May 31, 2007. Combined revenue generating units (RGUs) for cable television, high-speed
Internet access and telephony services reached approximately 5.09 million, up 426,800 or 9.2% since May
31, 2007. The bundle ratio (average number of services received per subscribing household) increased to
1.78 as of May 31, 2008 from 1.74 since May 31, 2007. The cable television digital migration rate as of May
31, 2008 increased to 72% from 58% as of May 31, 2007.

Details are provided in the table below:

Year-Over-Year Subscribing Household Comparisons: (Rounded to the nearest hundred)
Total managed franchises: 20 franchises; 42 systems.

Revenue Generating Units Total
High-Speed Subscribing
Cable Television |Internet Access Telephony RGU Total Households
As of May 31, 2008 2,324,300 1,314,600 1,449,200 5,088,100 | 2,860,500
Digitat: 1,673,700
As of May 31, 2007 2,217,700 1,190,100 1,253,500 4,661,300 | 2,681,600
Net year-over-year 108,600 124,500 195,700 426,800 178,800
increase
Net increase as percentagel 4.8% 10.5% 15.6% 9.2% 6.7%

Results for J:COM’s consolidated subsidiaries are noted below:
Total consolidated subsidiaries: 19 franchises; 41 systems:

Revenue Generating Units : Total
High-Speed Subseribing
Cable Television |Internet Access Telephony RGU Total Households
As of May 31, 2008 2,238,400 1,270,800 1,389,700 | 4,898,900 2,746,800
Digital: 1,616,700
As of May 31, 2007 2,131,500 1,148,500 1,197,800 | 4,477,800 2,570,700
Net year-over-year 106,900 122,300 191,900 | 421,100 176,100
increase
[Net increase as percentage; 5.0% 10.6% 16.0% 9.4% 6.9%




About Jupiter Telecommunications Co. Ltd.

Established in 1995, Jupiter Telecommunications Co., Ltd. is Japan’s largest multiple system operator (MSO or J:COM Company)
and multiple channel operator (MCO or Jupiter TV Company). J:COM Company provides cable television, high-speed Internet
access, telephony and mobile services to customers through 20 managed franchises (as of May 31, 2008) operating at the local level
serving 2.86 million subscribing households (as of May 31, 2008) in the Sapporo, Kanto, Kansai, and Kyushu regions. The number of
serviceable households or “homes passed” in J:COM franchise areas is approximately 10.46 million. Jupiter TV Company, formerly
Jupiter TV Co., Ltd,, invests in and operates 17 premium channels which are provided to CATYV, satellite and telecom operators.
Jupiter Telecommunication’s principal sharcholder is LGI/Sumishe Super Media and is a public company, trading on the JASDAQ
stock exchange under code No. 4817. For more information (available in English and Japanese), visit J:COM’s website at

http:/Awww.jcom. co jp/enalish.himl
HHEH

Certain statements in this news release may constitute “‘forward-looking statements,” which involve known and
unknown risks, uncertainties and other important factors that could cause the actual results, performance or
achievements of Jupiter Telecommunications Co., Ltd. and any of its subsidiaries to differ materially from any future
results, performance or achievements expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements.



J:COM

July 4™, 2008
FOR IMMEDIATE RELEASE

ANNOUNCEMENT OF GROUP COMPANY MERGER

Tokyo, Japan — Jupiter Telecommunications Co., Ltd. (J:COM; JASDAQ:4817), the largest
multiple system operator (MSQ) in Japan based on the number of customers served, has
announced today that the Fukuoka Cable Network Co., Ltd., one of the Group companies of
J:COM will merge with Cable Vision 21 Inc., a subsidiary company of J:COM as of September
1, 2008. Below is a detailed outline of the merger proposal.

1. Merger Objectives

As cable system operators of the J:COM Group, both Fukuoka Cable Network Co., Ltd. and
Cable Vision 21 Inc. have been providing “Quadruple Play” of services including cable
television, high-speed internet access, fixed-line, and mobile telephony services to their
customers in the Kyushu service area region under the J:COM brand. In the midst of a rapidly
evolving and highly competitive business climate, the J:COM group aims to sharpen its
competitive edge by fostering continuous growth through greatly increased administrative
efficiency that the merged group companies can provide.

2. Merger Significance

As a result of this merger, Fukuoka Cable Network Co., Ltd., which will become the majority
operating company and, will become a consolidated subsidiary company of J:COM. (lts trade
name will be changed to J:COM Fukuoka Co., Ltd.). Moreover, the merger, will create the
largest cable TV company in the Kyushu area servicing approximately 167,000* subscribing
households with approximately 730,000* serviceable households, or “homes passed.” This
will enable J:COM Fukuoka Co., Ltd. to provide a higher level of assurance and reliability to
its customers by enhancing its presence in the market. In addition, the expansion of its
business operations will allow for improved financial strength and business efficiency
throughout the company. J:COM Fukuoka Co., Ltd. will further continue the expansion of
service areas, contributing to the wider community by providing improved access and overall
increased service.

*Simple summation as of the end of December 2007




3. Merger Outline
(1) Effective Date:

(2) Merger Method:

September 1, 2008 (currently scheduled date)

Merger by absorption while maintaining Fukuoka Cable
Network Co., Ltd. as the surviving company (trade
name to be changed upon effective date)

(3) Merger Company Outline:

Name:
Business operations:

Representative:
Address:

J:COM Fukuoka Co., Ltd.
Cable television services
Telephony services
Internet access services
Fumio Kitagawa

J:COM Media Plaza, 3-13-10, Nanotsu, Chuo-ku,

Fukuoka City

4. Profile of Merging Companies

Name (th

Fukuoka Cable Network Co., Ltd.

e surviving company)

Cable Vision 21 Ine.

Business Operations

Cable television service
Telephony services
Internet access services

Fukuoka City

Fukuoka City

Service Areas (Higashi-ku, Hakata-ku, Chuo-ku, ke

Sawara-ku, Nishi-ku) (Minami-ku, Jyonan-ku)
Date of Establishment November 24, 1995 February 25, 1988
Headquarters 3-13-10, Nanotsu, Chuo-ku, Fukuoka City
Representative Fumio Kitagawa, President Tetsuya Ishihara, President
Capital* 2,000 million yen 1,200 million yen

Fiscal year-end

December 31

*Rounded to the nearest 100 mitlion yen.

5. Recent Business Performance of Merging Companies (December 2007, JAPAN GAAP)

{Millioas of Yen)

Name F“k‘(lt‘;iasﬁf",’il:hljg egg:ag;’) Lt Cable Vision 21 Inc.

Sales 10,417 4,322
Operating income 1,117 528
Ordinary income 915 453
Net income after taxes 473 445
Total assets 11,252 4,368
Total net assets 2,670 1,199




6. Impact on Business Performance
The impact of the merger will have only a minor influence on the consolidated business
performances of the Group companies.

About Jupiter Telecommunications Co.,Ltd.
Established in 1995, Jupiter Telecommunications Co., Lid. is Japan's largest multiple system operator (MSO or J:.COM

Company) and multiple channel operator (MCO or Jupiter TV Company). J:COM Company provides cable television,
high-speed Internet access, telephony and mobile services to customers through 20 managed franchises (as of May 31, 2008)
operating at the local level serving approximately 2.86 million subscribing households (as of May 31, 2008) in the Sapporo,
Kanto, Kansai, and Kyushu regions. The number of serviceable households or “homes passed” in J:COM franchise areas is
approximately 10.46 million. Jupiter TV Company, formerly Jupiter TV Co., Ltd., invests in and operates 17 premium
channels which are provided to CATY, sateliite and telecom operators. Jupiter Telecommunication’s principal shareholder is
LGI/Sumishe Super Media and is a public company, trading on the JASDAQ stock exchange under code No, 4817, For more
information (available in English and Japanese), visit J:COM’s website at http://www.jcom.co.jp/english.htm]

#H#

Certain statements in this news release may constitute "forward-looking statements,” which involve known and
unknown risks, uncertainties and other important factors that could cause the actual results, performance or
achievements of Jupiter Telecommunications Co., Lid, and any of its subsidiaries to differ materially from any
Juture results, performance or achievements expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements




J:COM

July 11", 2008
FOR IMMEDIATE RELEASE

J:COM ON DEMAND OFFERS POPULAR
NICKELODEON ANIMATED PROGRAM
“SPONGEBOB SQUAREPANTS”
BEGINNING JULY, 2008

Tokyo, Japan -- Jupiter Telecommunications Co., Ltd., (J:COM; JASDAQ 4817), the largest
multiple system operator (M50) in Japan has begun broadcasting four popular Nickelodeon
{MTV Networks Japan K.X.) animated series’ (4 episodes per month, 16 episodes each in total)

including SpongeBob SquarePants from July 1, 2008, on its free service (Free On Demand),
J:COM On Demand*'.

J:COM TV Digital subscribers are now able to enjoy these animated programs free of charge at
their own convenience. In an effort to further enhance its digital service subscriptions, J:COM has
also begun broadcasting*? SpongeBob SquarePants on its community channel - J:COM Channel
as of July 1%, 2008.

T:COM aims to increase the number of J:COM TV Digital subscribers and the usage of its video
on demand (VOD) service by offering the popular animated children’s programming from
Nickelodeon, via J:COM’s Free On Demand service and the J:COM Channel.

SpongeBob SquarePants, the popular Nickelodeon original cartoon series, has been the
most-watched children’s cartoon series in the US for six years running*’. In addition to
SpongeBob SquarePants, Nickelodeon is offering a series of programs loved by kids the world
over, including the interactive language learning program, Dora the Explorer; the 3D animated
series, The Adventures of Jimmy Neutron: Boy Genius; and Rugrats, featuring the fearless and
curious bunch of toddlers who look at the world for a kids-point-of-view.

*! J:COM On Demand is video on demand (VOD) service available to nearly 1.2 million households subscribing to J:COM TV
Digital (some subscribers not included).

*2 Broadcast weekdays from 2:30 to 3:00PM to approximately 5.5 million households, excluding certain areas.

«} According to Nielsen,




aNickelodeon at J:COM On Demand Program Summarya

Service start date: July 1%, 2008 (Tuesday)

Service content: 4 popular Nickelodeon animated series offered free via J:COM Digital TV’s
VQCD service, ‘J:COM On Demand’ |

Program Guide:

SPONGEBOB SQUAREPANTS

(4 episodes per month)

Hit cartoon series featuring the everyday
adventures of SpongeBob, the childlike,
energetic yellow square sponge living in the
underwater town of Bikini Bottom.

DORA THE EXPLORER

(4 episodes per month)

Interactive learning program that allows everyone at home to travel
with Dora while learning simple words in English.

THE ADVENTURES OF JIMMY NEUTRON: BOY GENIUS
(4 episodes per month)

3D animated series featuring the discoveries, adventures and friends
of boy genius Jimmy

RUGRATS

(4 episodes per month)
Cartoon series featuring the unique everyday lives of the fearless and
ever-curious group of toddlers, the Rugrats.

x  ©2008 Viacom International Inc. All Rights Reserved. Nickelodeon and alt related titles, logos and characters are trademarks of Viacom
International Inc,




About Jupiter Telecommunications Co. Ltd.
Established in 1995, Jupiter Telecommunications Co., Ltd. is Japan's largest multiple system operator (MSO or J:COM Company)

and multiple channel operator (MCO or Jupiter TV Company). J:COM Company provides cable television, high-speed Internet
access, telephony and mobile services to customers through 20 managed franchises (as of May 31, 2008) operating at the local level
serving 2.86 million subscribing households (as of May 31, 2008) in the Sapporo, Kanto, Kansai, and Kyushu regions. The number
of serviceable households or “homes passed” in J:COM franchise areas is approximately 10.46 million. Jupiter TV Company,
formerly Jupiter TV Co., Ltd., invests in and operates 17 premium channels which are provided to CATV, satellite and telecom
operators. Jupiter Telecommunication’s principal shareholder is LGI/Sumisho Super Media and is a public company, trading on the
JASDAQ stock exchange under code No, 4817, For more information (available in English and Japanese), visit J:COM’s website at
htto:/fwww.jcom. co.jpfenglish.himi

Ceriain statements in this news release may constitute “forward-looking statements,” which involve known and
unknown risks, uncertainties and other important factors that could cause the actual results, performance or
achievements of Jupiter Telecommunications Co., Lid and any of its subsidiaries to differ materially from any future
results, performance or achievements expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements.

About Nickelodeon

Nickelodeon, now in its 29th year, is the world’s only multi-media entertainment brand dedicated
exclusively to kids. It has built a diverse, global business by putting kids first in everything it does. The
company includes television programming and production in the United States and around the world, plus
consumer products, online, recreation, books, magazines and feature films. Nickelodeon is a member of the
global media group Viacom and broadcasts in 171 countries to 390 million viewers in 23 languages.
Nickelodeon’s U.S. television network has been the number-one-rated basic cable network for 14
consecutive years,



J:COM

JULY 16, 2008

FOR IMMEDIATE RELEASE

JUPITER TELECOMMUNICATIONS ANNOUNCES
JUNE 2008 SUBSCRIBER FIGURES

Tokyo, Japan -- Jupiter Telecommunications Co., Ltd. (JASDAQ: 4817), the largest multiple system
operator (MSO) in Japan based on the number of customers served, has announced that the total subscribing
households as of June 30, 2008 served by J:COM’s 20 managed franchises reached 2.87 million, up 180,300,
or 6.7% since June 30, 2007. Combined revenue generating units (RGUs) for cable television, high-speed
Internet access and telephony services reached 5.12 million, up 428,800 or 9.1% since June 30, 2007. The
bundle ratio (average number of services received per subscribing household) increased to 1.78 as of June 30,
2008 from 1.74 since June 30, 2007. The cable television digital migration rate as of June 30, 2008 increased
to 73% from 59% as of June 30, 2007.

Details are provided in the table below:

Year-Over-Year Subscribing Household Comparisons: (Rounded to the nearest hundred)
Total managed franchises: 20 franchises; 42 systems:

Revenue Generating Units Total
High-Speed Subscribing
Cable Television |Internet Access Telephony RGU Total Households
As of June 30, 2008 2,331,600 1,324,600 1,464,800 5,121,000 | 2,873,700
Digital: 1,698,000
As of June 30, 2007 2,224,000 1,199,100 1,269,100 4,682,200 | 2,693,400
Net year-over-year 107,600 125,500 195,700 428,800 180,300
increase

[Net increase as percentage 4.8% 10.5% 15.4% 9.1% 6.7%

Results for J:COM’s consolidated subsidiaries are noted below:
Total consolidated subsidiaries: 19 franchises; 41 systems:
Revenue Generating Units Total

High-Speed Subscribing

Cable Television |Internet Access Telephony RGU Total Households

As of June 30, 2008 2,245,500 1,280,600 1,404,900 4,931,000 2,759,600

Digital: 1,640,300
As of June 30, 2007 2,137,600 1,157,200 1,213,100 4,507,900 2,582,100
Net year-over-year 107,900 123,400 191,800 423,100 177,500
increase
[Net increase as percentage] 5.0% 10.7% 15.8% 9.4% 6.9%




bout Jupiter Tel munications Co,,L

Established in 1995, Jupiter Telecommunications Co., Ltd. is Japan's largest multiple system operator (MSO or J:COM Company)
and multiple channel operator (MCO or Jupiter TV Company). J:COM Company provides cable television, high-speed Internet
access, telephony and mobile services to customers through 20 managed franchises (as of June 30, 2008) operating at the local level
serving 2.87 million subscribing houscholds (as of June 30, 2008} in the Sapporo, Kanto, Kansai, and Kyushu regions. The number of
serviceable households or *homes passed” in J:COM franchise areas is 10.48 million. Jupiter TV Company, formerly Jupiter TV Co.,
Ltd., invests in and operates 17 premium channels which are provided to CATV, satellite and telecom operators. Jupiter
Telecommunication’s principal shareholder is LGL/Sumisho Super Media and is a public company, trading on the JASDAQ stock
exchange under code No. 4817. For more information (available in English and Japanese), visit J:COM’s website at

11/ .Jjcom.co.jp/english.htm!

#H#

Certain statements in this news release may constitute “forward-looking statements,” which involve known and
unknown risks, uncertainties and other important factors that could cause the actual results, performance or
achievements of Jupiter Telecommunications Co., Ltd. and any of its subsidiaries to differ materially from any future
results, performance or achievements expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements,




J:COM

July 28th, 2008
FOR IMMEDIATE RELEASE

InteracTV in Collaboration with Shop Channel to Provide
Convenient Shopping from Home via Remote Control
Beginning August 1%

Tokyo, Japan — Jupiter Telecommunications Co., Ltd. (J:COM; JASDAQ:4817), the largest
multiple system operator (MSO) in Japan based on the number of customers announced today that
a new convenient shopping service will begin operation on August 1¥ cooperate with Japan’s
largest shopping channel, Shop Channel*. J:COM users will be able to purchase products
broadcast on the Shop Channel via J:COM TV Digital’s interactive information service
“InteracTV” simply by using their remote control.

InteracTV is an interactive service allowing users to access news, entertainment, area specific
content, and other information directly on their TV screens through the use of their remote control.
With the introduction of J:COM and Shop Channel’s new service, users will be able to access the
InteracTV Shop Channel page to order the products that are being broadcast in real time and also
settlement could complete directly from their television set. J:COM aims to increase utilize
opportunities of InteracTV and the usage of its digital interactive services.

J: COM and Shop Channel are eager to provide a variety of interactive services to their customers
through J:COM TV Digital in the future.

*Shopping channel broadcast live - operating 24 hours a day, 365 days a year.
Operated by Jupiter Shop Channel Co., Ltd.
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Image of InteracTV screen
<Usage Procedure>

1. Register order-processing information through the Shop Channel page of InteracTV.
X Registration can also be completed from the user’s PC and mobile phone. A new

registration will not be required if registration has previously been completed through the
PC or mobile device website.
2. A user ID and password will be issued.

3. Users will then be able to begin enjoying shopping from the Shop Channe! page by using
their remote control.

About Jupiter Telecommunications Co,, Ltd

Established in 1993, Jupiter Telecommunications Co., Ltd. is Japan's largest multiple system operator (MSO or J:COM Company)
and multiple channe! operator (MCQ or Jupiter TV Company). J:COM Company provides cable television, high-speed Internet
access, telephony and mobile services to customers through 20 managed franchises (as of June 30, 2008) operating at the local leve]
serving 2.87 million subscribing households (as of June 30, 2008) in the Sappore, Kanto, Kansai, and Kyushu regions. The number
of serviceable houscholds or “homes passed™ in J:COM franchise areas is 10.48 million. Jupiter TV Company, formerly Jupiter TV
Co., Lid,, invests in and operates 17 premium channels which are provided to CATV, satellite and telecom operators. Jupiter
Telecommunication’s principal sharcholder is LGI/Sumisho Super Media and is a public company, trading on the JASDAQ stock

exchange under code No. 4817, For more information (available in English and Japanese), visit J:COM’s website at
hitp./iwww.jcom.co.jp/english.himl

###

Certain statements in this news release may constitute “forward-looking statements,” which involve kmown and
unknown risks, uncertainties and other important factors that could cause the actual results, performance or
achievements of Jupiter Telecommunications Co., Ltd. and any of its subsidiaries to differ materially from any future
results, performance or achievements expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements.



J:COl

AUGUST 1, 2008
FOR IMMEDIATE RELEASE

J:COM OBTAINS CREDIT RATING FOR DOMESTIC SHELF REGISTRATION
FOR THE ISSUANCE OF STRAIGHT BOND FROM R&I

Tokyo, Japan — Jupiter Telecommunications Co.,Ltd.(JASDAQ: 4817), the largest Multiple
system operator(MSO) in Japan based on the number of customers served, has announced today
that it has obtained the following credit rating from Rating and Investment Information Inc.
(hereafter R&I).

Please refer to the press release issued by R&I today for detailed information such as the reason
for the current rating. (Available on the R&I Website : http://www.r-i.co.jp)

1. Credit Rating Subject and Rating Obtained

Rating Agency Subject Rating Rating Outlook
Preliminary Rating for
R&1 the shelf registration A- Stable

2. Rating Issued on August 1, 2008

3. Reason for Seeking the Credit Rating

The objective is to ensure the ability to quickly raise funds when required and to improve stability by diversifying
financing methods, as well as to improve the company’s financial soundness and management transparency, by
obtaining an evaluation of the company’s creditworthiness from independent third party regarding our domestic

shelf registration for the issuance of straight bond for 50 billion yen.

About Jupiter Telecommunications Co_ Ltd.
Established in 1995, Jupiter Telecommunications Co., Ltd. is Japan's largest multiple system operator (MSO or J:COM Company)

and multiple channel operator (MCO or Jupiter TV Company). J:COM Company provides cable television, high-speed Internet
access, telephony and mobile services to customers through 20 managed franchises (as of June 30, 2008) operating at the local level
serving 2.87 million subscribing households (as of June 30, 2008) in the Sapporo, Kanto, Kansai, and Kyushu regions. The number of
serviceable houscholds or “homes passed” in J:COM franchise areas is 10.48 million. Jupiter TV Company, formerly Jupiter TV Co.,
Ltd., invests in and operates 17 premium channels which are provided to CATYV, satellite and telecom operators. Jupiter
Telecommunication’s principal shareholder is LGI/Sumisho Super Media and is a public company, trading on the JASDAQ stock
exchange under code No. 4817. For more information (available in English and Japanese), visit JJCOM’s website at
http:/iwww.jcom. co.jp/english.html

#H#H

Certain statements in this news relzase may constitte “forward-looking statements,” which involve known and
unknown risks, uncertainties and other important factors that could cause the actual results, performance or
achievements of Jupiter Telecommunications Co., Ltd. and any of its subsidiaries to differ materially from any future
results, performance or achievements expressed or implied by such forward-locking statements.
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